Most people see the future
as an intern E‘t‘\«vr"'u‘kec'l world.

C ()mpmmw is transformed.

Society is changed forever.




We agree.

But what does it take
to get there?




It takes the experience of having
transformed computing once
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takes experience. And a boundless




It takes a deep down

devotion to standards.

Standards are
the Internet’s DNA.

Only a dozen years ago, every computer company
wrote its own rules. And computing was chaos, even
for professionals.

Then Compaq pioneered a new rule—that standards

must be shared—and suddenly everything changed.

By establishing, expanding and championing industry
standards, Compaq, and our vast array of partners,
pushed innovation to new heights and sent costs in the
opposite direction.

Standards have made computing easier yet more
powerful. And solutions simpler and more accessible,
for everyone from grandmas to global enterprises.

Standards have won, and the Internet is their shining
star. In a world of countless tongues, “Internet” is
spoken everywhere, thanks to universal acceptance of
industry standards.

Today, Compagq’s lead endures. Behind the scenes,
in helping to shape Internet standards. And at the
forefront of customers’ e-commerce solutions.
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It takes large

enterprise leadership.

The Internet is the
largest enterprise ever.

Big customers are different. For example, a stock

exchange. A banking network. An airline reservation

system. Because if they stub a toe, thousands limp.
Who keeps them upright? Compaq does. We’re

the clear leader in fault tolerant, non-stop computing.
In fact, nearly 80% of the world’s Automated Teller
Machine transactions run on Compagq systems.

And since we make some of the fastest and most
available servers (AltaVista’s respond instantly to
9o million hits a day), we also provide the best
management tools to run them worldwide.

Unfortunately, it’s a world that includes hackers.
But bad news for them, Compaq has installed more
high-security e-commerce firewalls than anyone. Which
no hacker has ever broken through.

Of course, there’s more to enterprise computing
than technology. Big customers need partners who
know their business side, too, so Compaq teams are
industry specialists.

All of which puts Compaq in good position. Big
enterprise know-how meets Internet expertise. It clicks.



1.Ted Staplin > MANAGER, ALPHA SYSTEMS INTEGRATION 2.Robert
Collins > PRINCIPAL HARDWARE ENGINEER, cusTomsysTEMs 3.Cynthia
Pevehouse > corPORATE coUNSEL 4. Jack H. Carlton > FINANCIAL
CONSULTANT, cusTomsysTeEms 5. Wen Hu > SOFTWARE ENGINEER,
ENTERPRISE COMPUTING 6. Hai Huang > SENIOR MEMBER TECHNICAL
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It takes innovation
that’s useful, not just new.

The Internet has no
patience for irrelevance.

When a new idea enters the world, how many other
new ideas will it spawn? That’s an innovation’s acid
test—its ability to drive change, to send ripples
beyond itself.

Compaq was founded on that kind of idea—that
personal computers, like persons, should be mobile—
and we’ve never turned back.

Our acquisitions of Tandem and Digital are perfect
examples. Each is famous for innovation that began
by spotting a need. And now we have leads in critical
markets—communications, finance, aerospace, man-
ufacturing and others—carved by that vision.

And the Internet?

For millions of people every day, it begins with
a visit to AltaVista, the Web’s most useful, most pow-
erful guide. AltaVista was invented in Compaq
research labs, by people who aren’t just clever, but
who know how other people tick.

Even the Internet button on our Internet keyboards.
It’s only a little idea. Until you measure its impact.
And that’s why the Internet is so great.

It’s no place for nonsense. But real innovation?
Buckle your seatbelts.




1. Jesse Johnson > BUYER, MAJOR ACCOUNT DIRECT 2. Donald
Coleman > PRODUCTION ENGINEER TECHNICIAN, SITE PRODUCT ENGI-
NEERING 3.Masakazu Shibata > sYSTEMS ENGINEER, CONSUMER
propucTs 4. Patsy Clark > RELOCATION COORDINATOR, HUMAN
ResoURCES 5. Ronald Grabau > MECHANICAL ENGINEER, PC PRODUCTS
6. Nixon Salgado > FINANCIAL ANALYST, CONSUMER GRoupP 7. Peter
Rival > SOFTWARE ENGINEER, UNIX SOFTWARE 8.George Daniels >
MANAGER, INDUSTRIAL DESIGN
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It takes the right solutions,
delivered quickly.

Clocks on the
Internet tick faster.

Tradition says computers should bring solutions—
new ways to do things better, faster, cheaper.

And now on the Web, more widely.

Except that the Internet isn’t traditional. It’s a realm
where distance shrivels, time evaporates and change
accelerates like a bullet.

Not exactly a great place to be late, even a few nano-
blinks later than your rivals.

Which means Compaq’s mission isn’t just to
respond, but to anticipate and to lead. Especially as
customer lead-times get ever more precious.

So to us, “timely solution” means more than meeting
deadlines. It starts with a visceral connection to
customer need, months in advance.

And that’s fine with us.

Year after year, we’ve been an industry leader in
time-to-solution, and the Internet only deepens our
advantage. It puts us and our customers in the same
room all the time, an incubator for excellence.

And no one serves more kinds of customers more
ways than Compaq. Thanks to the Internet, millions
more new ones will understand why.
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Rutsch > MANAGER, GLOBAL CHANNEL EMEA




It takes the good sense
to be flexible.

On the Internet,

one size fits one.

A computer is a tool for the brain, and no one else’s
brain is like yours. So the system you choose, and your
method of choosing it, should reflect that.

Want to order on-line? Or over the phone? Or in a
store? (With a salesperson? Or at a kiosk?) Need the
expertise of a reseller? Or a global sales force? Or an
on-premise team? Or a systems integrator?

All those options add up to Compag.

They apply to every product we offer, and let’s not
get into our product choices. Those combinations are
just this side of infinite.

The point is, any way customers want to reach Compagq,
Compagq is reaching back. And more responsively than
anyone else.

And we keep on responding, with 27,000 service
professionals worldwide who don’t care whose logo is
on your problem. If it needs attention, we provide it.

As for the Web, we were one of the first Fortune 500
companies to sell on it, and we keep inventing. We’ve
just given our e-commerce group a whole new shape.
It looks remarkably like you.
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It takes people
who listen.

COMPAQ

Better answers.

Www.compaq.com




Eckhard Pfeiffer > PRESIDENT AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER
Benjamin M. Rosen > CHAIRMAN OF THE BOARD

To our shareholders

Look around the world of information technology
today—the world of business—and the evidence is very
clear: The Internet is changing everything. How we com-
municate. How we buy and sell. How we collaborate
with customers, partners and suppliers. How and where
we compete. How we live and work.

Business cycles that used to be measured in years or
months are now measured in days, hours or minutes.

One-size-fits-all is out. One-size-fits-one is in.

On the Web, big is not better. Speed, agility, flexibility
and responsiveness are.

The Internet is even reshaping our old notions of time.
The Internet economy is a non-stop, 24-hour a day,
7-day-a-week environment.

These are not small changes. They are fundamental
changes that are transforming information technology
from a back-office function to a strategic asset—one that
allows companies to build a competitive advantage.

At Compagq, we envision a world where virtually all
information is on line and people can communicate, con-
duct commerce and securely access the information they
need from anywhere at any time.

The way we see it, the market leaders of the future will
be those companies that embrace these changes—that
transform their enterprise computing strategies by adopt-
ing Internet-enabled business models.

This is as true for Compagq as it is for our customers.
That’s why we have embraced an Internet-enabled busi-
ness model throughout our company. It is a model that
we believe will help establish Compaq as the best com-
puting partner—and the best business partner—in the
world. And it is a model that is transforming the way
we do business.

ACCELERATING COMPAQ’S TRANSFORMATION. Compaq’s
transformation from a PC company to a global IT—and
Internet—leader accelerated during 1998.

At the heart of this transformation is our effort to build
stronger relationships with our customers.

Customers today expect to have a more direct,
accountable relationship with their IT partners. They
want strategic partners who understand their business—
not just their computing needs.

To that end, Compaq enhanced its own capabilities
and—through the acquisitions of Tandem and Digital—
added significant strengths, including:

> A large, global customer base
> A highly skilled, enterprise-focused sales force

> One of the best services organizations in the industry

> A broad range of IT solutions, and,

> Internet technologies and experience

We completed the largest part of the Digital integra-
tion by the end of the year. That helped drive significant
momentum in our business. And the deal was accretive—
as we predicted when we announced the acquisition—by
the fourth quarter of 1998.

CustoMER CHOICE. The combination of increased
customer expectations and the expansion of our own
ability to serve customers is driving a significant change
in Compagq’s go-to-market model.

During 1998, Compaq introduced and implemented
a model based on customer choice. In other words, we
do business with our customers the way they choose to do
business, whether it is through one of our resellers, a cus-
tomer account team, or directly via the Web or telephone.

This is superior to the direct-only model because it
reflects the way customers actually buy. For example, many
customers prefer to purchase PCs and other volume prod-
ucts directly from the manufacturer. For more complex
solutions, they often want the expertise and support of
a value-added reseller or a systems integrator.

Historically, Compaq has sold its products almost
exclusively through resellers and other channel partners.
But in 1998—after extensive consultation with our part-
ners to implement our customer choice model—we began
to expand our ability to sell direct.

In our consumer business, for example, we now sell
over the Web, through customer call centers and through
our retail configuration program. We introduced a new
family of products for small and medium businesses that
are sold directly over the Web and the phone, as well as
through our reseller agents. And we began rolling out
Web-based “extranets” that enable major customers to
configure and order the products they want.

We will expand these capabilities throughout the world
in 1999, primarily through our Web site, Compagq.com.
We will also work closely with our retailers, resellers and
other channel partners, who remain critical to our success.

No matter how customers buy our products, Compaq
will take full ownership of the customer relationship.
Customer choice is more than a selling model. It is a
relationship model focused on accountability and
customer satisfaction.

Through our customer relationship management pro-
gram, we are dramatically increasing our understanding




of what customers need...which businesses they are in...
what they buy...what applications they use...and what
they do with our products.

With this information, we will be able to create greater
value for customers—regardless of how we reach them.

From the Internet to powerful database tools, today’s
technology allows us to build one-to-one relationships
with our customers, complementing the capabilities
of our customer account teams. This technology also
allows us to tailor our products, services and solutions
to individual customer needs.

SuppLy CHAIN. To meet those needs—and to provide
true choice to our customers—we are building a supply
chain that enables us to deliver products exactly the way
our customers want them, and to do it faster and more
efficiently than anyone else in the industry.

In an era of mass customization, supply chain
efficiency and responsiveness are more important than
ever. During the past few months, Compagq has rolled out
configure-to-order capabilities for consumers, small and
medium businesses and large companies. We will accel-
erate these programs throughout 1999.

Our goal is to build a best-in-class supply chain that
supports customer choice, including both customers and
channel partners. A key element will be the Internet,
which will enable us to maintain real-time connections
with customers and suppliers.

As a result of these efforts, we expect to achieve an
average cycle time—that is, the time between receipt of an
order and shipment of the order—of five days or less.

Building a world-class supply chain is also a key
element in delivering leadership quality and customer
satisfaction.

Compagq has always stood for quality, and we have
aggressive quality initiatives focused on the areas that
customers tell us are most important to them: pre-
dictability, availability, quality and reliability, service and
support, and compatibility.

A network of management teams we call Quality
Leadership Teams are working throughout the company
to drive process improvements in areas critical to our
success. I personally lead the Executive QLT consisting
of my direct reports. Specially trained employees we call
Black Belts work with teams of employees to achieve
faster and better change. We compare ourselves to nation-
al quality award criteria in rigorous self-assessments to
measure our progress.

Our goal is to achieve industry leadership in customer
satisfaction. In fact, all of my direct reports are meas-
ured in part on their success in improving customer
satisfaction and quality. In addition, all employees have
incentives tied directly to improvements in customer
satisfaction.

INTERNET LEADERSHIP. Compaq’s transformation is
evident in other ways as well. One of the most important
is our corporate strategy, which is focused on a single,
overarching objective: Internet leadership.

This is an ambitious goal, but Compaq has a history of
setting and achieving ambitious goals. We did it in 1994,
when we achieved worldwide PC market leadership. We
did it again in 1998, when we became one of the top
three computer companies in the world (No. 2 to be
precise)—two years ahead of schedule.

From products to services, from solutions to partner-
ships, Compagq has never been in a stronger position to
help our customers prosper in the Internet age. That
means all of our customers—from the family that is going
online for the first time...to the small business that is
opening a storefront on the Web...to the global corpo-
ration that is building an Internet-enabled supply chain.

Our market share leadership in PC desktops and
servers means that more Web sites are hosted on our
systems than those of any other company. Forty-five
percent of all Internet deployments are on Compagq sys-
tems. And four of the five most-visited Web sites use
our computers.

We have significant Internet expertise in our services
business. Through Compagq Services, we help companies
plan and deploy a wide range of Internet solutions. We
also manage the Internet infrastructure for companies
like Microsoft.

The Microsoft Network runs on more than 1,000
Compagq ProLiant and AlphaServer systems. We manage
and support these systems as well as four international
data centers, 2,000 SQL databases and more than three
terabytes (one trillion bytes) of information.

Building on the strengths of Tandem and Digital,
Compagq is one of the leaders in providing encryption
and security solutions that protect the privacy of
personal and business data moving across the Web. This
is essential for the growth of e-commerce.

We introduced the first Internet PC with a keyboard
that provides easy, one-button access to the Internet,
e-commerce and e-services. And we offered the first home

PC with an ADSL modem that takes advantage of new
high-speed Internet connections.

What this all means is that Compaq has the products,
services and solutions—and the experience—necessary
to support the most demanding Internet applications,
from corporate intranets and e-commerce...to Internet-
enabled supply chains and customer relationship
management.

Compagq is moving into new areas of Internet growth.
When we acquired Digital, we also acquired the world’s
fastest Internet search and navigation guide—AltaVista.
Early in 1999, we made it a separate company—The
AltaVista Company—with the goal of establishing it as
the leading destination site for information and e-com-
merce on the Internet. We are the first major computer
company—and one of the first Fortune 5o companies—
to deploy such broad Internet service capabilities.

We see a significant opportunity to increase Compaq’s
share of the rapidly growing market for Internet content
and services. We plan to take the new company public,
which will allow us to unlock AltaVista’s value for
Compagq shareholders.

INVESTING IN PEOPLE. One of the most important
investments we make is in Compaq’s people. They are
the essential ingredient in our success. In fact, it was their
persistence through some very challenging days in 1998
that helped us end the year with such strong momentum.

This focus on our human resources is particularly
important as we complete the integration of the Compaq
and Digital cultures and move forward as one company.

Our employees have been and will continue to be our
most important strategic advantage. We believe a diverse,
empowered workforce best equips the company to lead
our industry and to provide outstanding products and
services to a global customer base. As a result, we are
committed to attract, develop, reward and retain the best
talent in the industry.

We are also committed to the communities in which
Compaq does business. We view corporate giving as more
Fhan philanthropy or social responsibility. We see it as an
investment in the future of both the company and the com-
munity. Compaq has developed partnerships with major
nonprofit organizations serving children and young adults.

Ig addition, we consider environmental stewardship
an important element of our job. Compaq’s ongoing
Env1r01.1rnental, Health, Safety & Security programs are
reco-gmzed as industry leading. In 1998, the U.S.
Environmental Protection Agency named Compaq its

“Green Lights Corporate Partner of the Year” for our
efforts in energy conservation.

CoNCLUSION. As I suggested at the beginning of this let-
ter, Compaq believes that the Internet is the future of
computing. And we intend to drive that future, just as
we did with the personal computer.

We will work closely with our enterprise customers
to make the Internet an easier, more secure and more
productive place to do business. Most important, we will
help customers build an Internet advantage through
industry-standard platforms and applications.

We will make it easier for consumers to journey to the
Internet, and to get there more quickly. We will also help
provide the kind of content, commerce and community
that will make the trip worthwhile.

In the process, we will create even greater value for
you, our shareholders.

We know that you have a wide choice of investments.
We look forward to the opportunity to continue to earn
your trust and confidence.

ECKHARD PFEIFFER
President and Chief Executive Officer




Financial Highlights

Compag Computer Corporation
A WORLDWIDE INFORMATION TECHNOLOGY COMPANY
FOUNDED 1982 IN HOUSTON, TEXAS

Compaq Computer Corporation, a Fortune Global roo company, is the second
largest computer company in the world and the largest global supplier of com-
Revenue puter systems. Compaq develops and markets hardware, software, solutions,
ekl e and services, including industry-leading enterprise computing solutions, fault-
tolerant business-critical solutions, enterprise and network storage solutions,
commercial desktop and portable products and consumer PCs. The company is
an industry leader in environmentally friendly programs and business practices.

Compaq products are sold and supported in more than 1oo countries through
a network of authorized Compaq marketing partners.
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Report of Management

Responsibility for the integrity and objectivity of the financial information presented in this Annual Report rests
with Compaq management. The accompanying financial statements have been prepared in conformity with generally
accepted accounting principles, applying certain estimates and judgments as required.

Compaq maintains an effective internal control structure. It consists, in part, of an organization with clearly
defined lines of responsibility and delegation of authority, comprehensive systems and control procedures. We
believe this structure provides reasonable assurance that transactions are executed in accordance with management
authorization and generally accepted accounting principles. An important element of the control environment is
an ongoing internal audit program.

To assure the effective administration of internal control, we carefully select and train our employees, develop
and disseminate written policies and procedures, provide appropriate communication channels and foster an envi-
ronment conducive to the effective functioning of controls. We believe that it is essential for Compaq to conduct its
business affairs in accordance with the highest ethical standards, as set forth in Compaq’s Codes of Conduct. These
guidelines, translated into numerous languages, are distributed to employees throughout the world, and reemphasized
through internal programs to assure that they are understood and followed.

PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP, independent accountants, is retained to audit Compaq’s financial statements. Its
accompanying report is based on an audit conducted in accordance with generally accepted auditing standards,
including a review of the internal control structure and tests of accounting procedures and records.

The Audit Committee of the Board of Directors is composed solely of outside directors and is responsible for
recommending to the Board the independent accounting firm to be retained for the coming year. The Audit Committee
meets periodically and privately with the independent accountants, with our internal auditors, as well as with
Compaq management, to review accounting, auditing, internal control structure and financial reporting matters.

ECckHARD PFEIFFER
President and
Chief Executive Officer

EArL L. MAsSON
Senior Vice President and
Chief Financial Officer

Five-Year Financial Summary

YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31
(IN MILLIONS, EXCEPT PER SHARE AMOUNTS)

Statement of Income
Revenue:
Products
Services
Total revenue

Cost of sales:
Products
Services
Total cost of sales

Selling, general and administrative
expense

Research and development costs

Purchased in-process technology ()

Restructuring and asset impairment
charges

Merger-related costs(®)

Other income and expense, net

Income (loss) before provision for
income taxes

Provision for income taxes

Net income (loss)

Earnings (loss) per common share:
Basic
Diluted

Shares used in computing earnings

(loss) per common share:

Basic
Diluted

Cash dividends per common share

Financial Position
Current assets

Total assets

Current liabilities
Non-current liabilities (4)
Stockholders’ equity

1998

$ 27,372

3,797
31,169

21,383
2,597
23,980

4,978
£l
3,196

393

(69)
9,851

1,608
1,608

0.065

15,167
23,051
10,733

967
11,351

1997

$ 24,122
462
24,584

17,500
333
17,833

2,947
817
208

44
(23)
3,993

2,758
903
$ 1,855

$E g
S

1,505
1,564

$ 0.015

$ 12,017
14,631
5,202

9,429

1996

$ 19,611
398
20,009

14,565
290
14,855

2,507
695

32
17
3527l

1,883
565
$ 1,318

$ 090
$ 0.87

1,472
1,516

$10,089
12331
4,741
300
7,290

1995

$ 16,308

&*F &~

367
16,675

12,026
265
12,291

2,186
552
241

72
3,058

1,326
433
893

0.62
0.60

1,442
1,492

7,462
9,637
3,580

300
5787

1994

$ 12,274

@ &

331
12,605

8,671
214
8,885

1,859
458

50
2,367

15958
365
988

0.70
0.68

1,405
1,463

6,037
7,862
2,918

300
4,644

1) R o i i i i i
(1) Represents non-recurring, non-tax deductible charges associated with purchased in-process technology of $3.2 billion in connection with the Digital acquisition in

1998, and $208 million and $241 million in connection with acquisitions in 1997 and 1995.

2) R A ¥ A o s ]
i ) : ‘elpresents a $393 million charge for restructuring and asset impairments in 1998 in connection with the Digital acquisition and the closing of certain Compaq
acilities, and a $52 million charge related to restructuring actions taken by Tandem during 1996.

(3) Represents a $44 million non-recurring, non-tax-deductible charge in 1997 related to the Tandem merger.

(4) Includes $422 million of minority interest in 1998 related to Digital preferred stock.




Management’s Discussion and Analysis

The following discussion should be read in conjunction with the consolidated financial statements.

Results of Operations

The following table presents, as a percentage of revenue, selected consolidated financial data for each of the three years

ended December 31.

YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31 1998
Revenue:
o,
Products 87.8%
Services 22
Total revenue 100.0

Cost of sales:

Products 78.1
Services 68.4
Total cost of sales 76.9

Gross margin:

Products ' 2059
Services 31.6
Total gross margin 23.1
Selling, general and administrative expenses 16.0
Research and development costs 4.3
Purchased in-process technology (1) 102
Restructuring and asset impairment charges® 153
Merger-related costs(®) —
Other income and expense, net (0.2)
31.6
Income (loss) before provision for income taxes (8.5)%

1997

98.1%
L)
100.0

7255
72
7255

AT
e
27

12.0
3
0.9
0.2

(0.1)

163

11.2%

1996

98.0%

2.0
100.0

74.3
729
74.2

2557
27
25.8

12:55)
35

0.3

0.1
16.4

9.4%

(1) Represents non-recurring, non-tax-deductible charges associated with purchased in-process technology of $3.2 billion in connection with the Digital acquisition

in 1998 and $208 million in 1997 in connection with the Microcom acquisition.

(2) Represents a $393 million charge for restructuring and asset impairments in 1998 in connection with the Digital acquisition and the closing of certain Compagq facilities,

and a $52 million charge related to restructuring actions taken by Tandem during 1996.
(3) Represents a $44 million non-recurring, non-tax-deductible charge in 1997 related to the Tandem merger.

Overview

Compaq’s completion of recent acquisitions has resulted in an expanded and enhanced business model, focused on
open industry-standard products, leadership enterprise technology and solutions and a full line of global service
offerings. As the second largest computing company in the world and the largest global supplier of computer sys-
tems, Compagq delivers customer value through standards-based, partner-leveraged computing that features services,
support and market-segment focused solutions, particularly in communications, manufacturing and finance. Compaq
is a strategic information technology partner to customers of all sizes, providing product offerings that range from

handheld devices to powerful failsafe computers.

The year 1998 was transitional for Compag. During the first half of the year, the Company acceleratgd the imple-
mentation of the optimized distribution model towards the goal of moving from a build to stock operating model to

a build-to-order/configure-to-order model.

Management’s Discussion and Analysis

During the second half of the year Compaq undertook
a major integration effort following the acquisition of
Digital in June 1998. These integration efforts included
product migration strategies, sales force integration, serv-
ice organization integration, consolidation of duplicative
facilities, employee separations and relocations, and the
integration of the internal information systems of the
combined companies.

The Company recorded several charges in connection
with the Digital acquisition and closing of certain
Compagq facilities (see Notes 2 and 3 of the Notes to
Consolidated Financial Statements). These charges includ-
ed approximately $3.2 billion for the write-off of
purchased in-process technology and $393 million for
restructuring and asset impairment charges related to
Compaq employee separations and elimination of cer-
tain Compagq facilities.

Revenue

Revenue for 1998 increased approximately $6.6 billion or
26.8% over the prior year as compared with an increase
of $4.6 billion or 22.9% during 1997. The increase in
1998 revenue was largely driven by the acquisition of
Digital. The increase in 1997 revenue was driven prima-
rily by internal growth.

Products revenue for 1998 increased approximately
$3.3 billion or 13.5% over the prior year as compared
with an increase of $4.5 billion or 23.0% during 1997.
Products revenue in 1998 reflected a growth in world-
wide unit sales of 25.1%, compared to 42.9% in 1997.
Growth in options revenue was 15.9% in 1998 compared
t0 43.7% in 1997. The increase in 1998 was primarily
the result of the Digital acquisition and strong growth in
the consumer business. Offsetting this growth was the
expected short-term reduction in revenues relating to the
impact of significant pricing and promotional actions
taken in conjunction with the Company’s transition to
the optimized distribution model, the implementation of
product migration strategies for Intel-based, Digital-
branded personal computers, and the realignment of the
sales and marketing organizations of the newly combined
companies throughout the world.

Products revenue for North America in 1998 grew
$310 million or 2.4% over the prior year as compared
with an increase of $2.7 billion or 25.4% during 1997.
Products revenue in North America represented 49.0%,
54.3% and 53.3% of total products revenue in 1998,
1997 and 1996, respectively. Products revenue growth in

1998 related to the acquisition of Digital and strong year-
over-year growth in the consumer business, partially offset
by a decline in commercial products revenue. The decline
in commercial products revenue related to the aggressive
price reductions and promotional activities implemented
primarily in North America in the first half of 1998 due to
the transition to the optimized distribution model, lower
than expected sales out of the channel, and to respond to
competitive pricing conditions. The third and fourth
quarter revenues were negatively impacted by the imple-
mentation of product migration strategies and the
realignment of the sales and marketing organizations as
described above. Products revenue growth in 1997 relat-
ed to strong year-over-year growth in both the commercial
and consumer markets, with the most significant com-
mercial product growth relating to enterprise products,
most notably servers and workstations.

Products revenue for Europe, Middle East and Africa
(“EMEA”) in 1998 grew $2.4 billion or 30.2% over the
prior year as compared with an increase of $1.4 billion or
21.6% during 1997. Products revenue in EMEA repre-
sented 37.0%, 32.3% and 32.6% of total products
revenue in 1998, 1997 and 1996, respectively. Products
revenue growth in EMEA in 1998 was the result of both
the acquisition of Digital and strong year-over-year
growth in consumer and commercial products revenue,
partially offset by more competitive pricing. Products
revenue in 1997 reflected an overall improvement in mar-
ket share and strong year-over-year revenue growth in
each of the product areas, the most significant of which
related to enterprise products. :

Services revenue for 1998 increased approximately $3.3
billion over the prior year as compared with an increase of
$64 million during 1997. Services revenue growth for
1998 was almost entirely due to the acquisition of Digital.
With the acquisition of Digital, Compaq now has a world
class services organization with market-focused solutions
and high availability support, particularly in the commu-
nications, manufacturing and finance industries. Services
revenue for 1997 and 1996 related primarily to profes-
sional services provided by Tandem.

Services revenue for North America in 1998 grew $1.2
billion over the prior year as compared with an increase
of $4 million during 1997. Services revenue in North
America represented 35.3%, 36.4% and 41.2% of total
services revenue in 1998, 1997 and 1996, respectively.
Services revenue for EMEA in 1998 grew $1.6 billion
over the prior year as compared with an increase of
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$43 million during 1997. Services revenue in EMEA rep-
resented 47.2%, 32.5%, and 26.9% of total services
revenue in 1998, 1997 and 1996, respectively.

Gross Margin

Gross margin as a percentage of revenue was 23.1% in
1998, down from 27.5% in 1997 and 25.8% in 1996.
Products gross margin as a percentage of products rev-
enue was 21.9%, 27.5% and 25.7% for 1998, 1997 and
1996, respectively. The decrease in gross margin in 1998
resulted largely from significant pricing and promotion-
al actions taken by Compaq primarily in the North
American market during the first and second quarters of
1998 to meet the goals of the Company’s optimized dis-
tribution model and to respond to competitive pricing
conditions. Gross margins improved during the third and
fourth quarters, partially offset by the impacts of the
implementation of product migration strategies and the
realignment of the sales and marketing operations. The
increase in gross margins in 1997 primarily resulted from
a higher proportion of sales of enterprise products and
options, production and logistics cost savings, and over-
all asset management improvements.

Products gross margin as a percentage of products rev-
enue in North America was 21.5%, 27.4% and 26.6%
for 1998, 1997 and 1996, respectively. The decrease in
1998 products gross margin resulted largely from the sig-
nificant pricing, promotional and other actions taken by
Compaq as noted above. Products gross margin as a per-
centage of products revenue in EMEA was 26.3%, 27.7%
and 26.1% for 1998, 1997 and 1996, respectively. The
decrease in EMEA 1998 products gross margin was pri-
marily related to the Digital product integration.

Services gross margin as a percentage of services rev-
enue was 31.6%, 27.9% and 27.1% for 1998, 1997 and
1996, respectively. The increase in services gross margin in
1998 is primarily attributable to the acquisition of Digital.

Operating Expenses

Research and development costs increased $536 million
or 65.6% in 1998 as compared to 1997, primarily due
to the acquisition of Digital. Research and development
costs increased $122 million or 17.6% in 1997 as com-
pared to 1996. Compaq is committed to maintaining a
significant level of research and development investment
in support of its activities as a full-service enterprise com-

puting company, offering leadership technologies and
products for the future. In addition, Compaq spent
approximately $3.2 billion in 1998 and $208 million in
1997 on purchased in-process technology in connection
with the Digital and Microcom acquisitions.

Compag’s selling, general and administrative expense
increased $2.0 billion or 68.9% in 1998 as compared to
1997, primarily due to the acquisition of Digital. Compagq’s
selling, general and administrative expense increased $440
million or 17.6% in 1997 as compared to 1996. As a per-
centage of revenue, selling, general and administrative
expense was 16.0%, 12.0% and 12.5% in 1998, 1997 and
1996, respectively, and in absolute dollars was $5.0 bil-
lion, $2.9 billion and $2.5 billion in 1998, 1997 and 1996,
respectively. The increase as a percentage of revenue and
absolute dollars in 1998 over 1997 is primarily due to the
acquisition of Digital and the support of significant new
product introductions, expansion into new markets and
increases in our investment in services. In the fourth quar-
ter of 1998, operating expenses as a percentage of revenue
began to decline due to implementation of the restructur-
ing plans and the realization of synergies for the combined
companies. The decrease in selling, general and adminis-
trative expense as a percentage of revenue in 1997 reflected
efforts to manage operating expense growth relative to
revenue and gross margin levels. The increase in the
amount of expense resulted from domestic and interna-
tional selling expense associated with higher unit volumes
as well as expense incurred in connection with the intro-
duction of new products, the entry into new markets, the
expansion of distribution channels and a greater emphasis
on customer service and technical support.

Purchased In-Process Technology

Upon consummation of the Digital acquisition in June
1998, Compaq immediately expensed approximately $3.2
billion representing purchased in-process technology that
had not yet reached technological feasibility and had no
alternative future use (see Note 2 of Notes to Consolidated
Financial Statements). The value was determined by esti-
mating the costs to develop the purchased in-process
technology into commercially viable products, estimating
the resulting net cash flows from such projects, and dis-
counting the net cash flows back to their present values.
The discount rate includes a factor that takes into account
the uncertainty surrounding the successful development of
the purchased in-process technology.
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The resulting net cash flows from such projects were
based on Compaq management’s estimates of revenue,
cost of sales, research and development costs, selling,
general and administrative costs, and income taxes from
such projects. These estimates were based on the follow-
ing assumptions:

> The estimated revenues projected average com-
pounded annual revenue growth rates of 8% to 39%
during 1998-2001, depending on the product areas. For
instance, UNIX/OpenVMS compounded annual growth
rates were 8% and storage rates were 39 %. Estimated
total revenue from the purchased in-process product areas
were expected to peak in the year 2001 and decline rap-
idly in 2002-2005 as other new products were expected
to enter the market. These projections were based on
Compaq management’s estimates of market size and
growth (supported by independent market data), expect-
ed trends in technology (such as new families of products
in the external storage product area) and the nature and
expected timing of new product introductions by Digital
and its competitors. These estimates also included growth
estimates related to Compaq utilizing certain Digital tech-
nologies in conjunction with Compaq’s products,
Compagq’s marketing and distribution of the resulting
products through Compagq’s resellers and Compagq’s
enhancing the market’s response to Digital’s products by
providing incremental financial support and stability.

> The estimated cost of sales as a percentage of rev-
enue was expected to be lower than Digital’s on a
stand-alone basis (66% in Digital’s fiscal 1997), primarily
due to Compaq’s expected ability to achieve more favor-
able pricing from key component vendors and production
efficiencies due to economies of scale through combined
operations. As a result of these savings, the estimated
cost of sales as a percentage of revenue was expected to
decrease by 1% to 6% from Digital’s historical percent-
age, depending on the product areas.

The combined company was expected to benefit from
more favorable pricing from key component vendors and
production efficiencies due to economies of scale. As a
result of these savings, the estimated cost of sales as a
percentage of revenues for the UNIX/OpenVMS and stor-
age markets, the two most significant product areas of
purchased in-process technology, were expected to
decrease up to 6% from Digital’s historical percentages.

> The estimated selling, general and administrative costs
were expected to more closely approximate Compag’s cost
structure (approximately 12% of revenues in 1997), which

was lower than Digital’s cost structure (approximately
24% of revenues in Digital’s fiscal 1997). Cost savings
were expected to result primarily from the changes related
to the restructuring actions discussed in Note 3 of Notes to
Consolidated Financial Statements, as well as savings
resulting from the distribution of Digital’s products through
Compags resellers (i.e., sales of higher volume products
with lower direct selling costs) and efficiencies due to
economies of scale through combined operations (i.e., con-
solidated marketing and advertising programs). These cost
savings were expected to be realized primarily in 1999 and
thereafter. A significant portion of these savings were
expected to be achieved through the adoption and execu-
tion of restructuring plans during 1998 and 1999.

Discounting the net cash flows back to their present
value was based on the weighted average cost of capital
(WACC). The WACC calculation produces the average
required rate of return of an investment in an operating
enterprise, based on various required rates of return from
investments in various areas of that enterprise. The
WACC assumed for Compag, as a corporate business
enterprise, was 12% to 14%. The discount rate used in
discounting the net cash flows from purchased in-process
technology ranged from 22% for UNIX/OpenVMS, NT
Systems and storage to 40% for advanced development
projects. This discount rate was higher than the WACC
due to the inherent uncertainties in the estimates
described above including the uncertainty surrounding
the successful development of the purchased in-process
technology, the useful life of such technology, the prof-
itability levels of such technology and the uncertainty of
technological advances that were unknown.

If these projects are not successfully developed, the
revenue and profitability of the Company may be
adversely affected in future periods. Additionally, the
value of other intangible assets acquired may become
impaired. Compaq began to benefit from the purchased
in-process technology in 1998 and is continuously mon-
itoring its development projects. Management believes
that the assumptions used in the valuation of purchased
in-process technology reasonably estimate the future ben-
efits attributable to the purchased in-process technology.
No assurance can be given that actual results will not
deviate from those assumptions in future periods.

Similarly, the value assigned to purchased in-process
technology for Microcom, Inc., which Compaq acquired in
May 1997, was determined by identifying research proj-
ects in areas including modems, remote access technologies



Management’s Discussion and Analysis

and others, for which technological feasibility had not been
established; estimating the costs to develop the purchased
in-process technology into commercially viable products;
estimating the resulting cash flows from such projects, and
discounting the net cash flows back to the present value.
The discount rate included a factor which took into
account the uncertainty surrounding the successful devel-
opment of the purchased in-process technology.

Restructuring and Asset Impairment Charges

In June 1998, Compaq’s management approved restruc-
turing plans, which included initiatives to integrate
operations of Compaq and Digital, consolidate duplica-
tive facilities, improve service delivery and reduce
overhead. Total restructuring costs of approximately $1.7
billion were recorded in the second quarter related to
these initiatives, $1.5 billion of which related to Digital
that was recorded as a component of the preliminary pur-
chase price allocation and $286 million of which related
to Compagq that was charged to operations.

The restructuring costs recorded in the second quar-
ter of 1998 were comprised of the following:

(IN MILLIONS) Compaq Digital Total
Employee separations ~ $ 132§ 999 § 1,131
Facility closure costs 142 272 414
Relocation — 99 99
Other exit costs 12 88 100

Total accrued
restructuring costs $ 286 $1,458 § 1,744

At June 30, 1998, the Digital restructuring plans were
based on management’s best estimate of those costs based
on available information. The restructuring costs accrued
in June 1998 included estimates of the cost of
involuntary employee separation benefits related to

approximately 19,700 employees worldwide (approxi-
mately 14,700 Digital employees and 5,000 Compaq
employees). Employee separation benefits include sever-
ance, medical and other benefits. Employee separations
affect the majority of business functions, job classes and
geographies, with most of the reductions occurring in
North America and Europe. The restructuring plans also
include costs associated with the closure of 13.2 million
square feet of office, distribution and manufacturing
space, principally in North America and Europe. Other
accrued restructuring costs relate to the relocation of
Digital employees, with the majority of this amount
attributable to relocations in North America and Europe,
and the cost of terminating certain Digital contractual
obligations. Compaq expects that most of the restruc-
turing actions will be completed by June 1999.

In the fourth quarter of 1998, Compaq adjusted the
Digital restructuring plan which resulted in a reduction of
$59 million of accrued Digital restructuring costs. This
reduction was recorded as an adjustment to the prelimi-
nary purchase price allocation during the quarter ended
December 31, 1998. There was no adjustment to the
Compaq restructuring plan. The adjustment to the Digital
restructuring plan included a $47 million net increase in
severance costs. This increase was primarily due to higher
than expected costs associated with workforce reductions in
Europe, partially offset by higher than expected attrition
rates. While the total Digital employee separation target of
14,700 is expected to be achieved, Digital involuntary sep-
arations are expected to decrease to approximately 12,400
as a result of the higher than expected rate of attrition. The
higher severance costs were more than offset by lower facil-
ity closure costs of $55 million, primarily due to lower than
expected costs to dispose of facilities. In addition, the esti-
mate of employee relocation costs was reduced by $54
million due to a lower than expected number of employ-
ees accepting relocation packages.
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The accrued restructuring costs and amounts charged against the accrual as of December 31, 1998, were as follows:

Beginning
(IN MILLIONS) Accrual
Employee separations 1311
Facility closure costs 414
Relocation 99
Other exit costs 100
Total accrued restructuring costs $ 1,744

Cash expenditures are not reflective of the actual costs
incurred due to the impact of regulatory guidelines in
certain countries relating to the timing of payment of
severance benefits to affected employees. As of December
31, 1998, employee separations due to restructuring
actions totaled 10,542. Total severance costs related to
these individuals, including the cash payments of $455
million already made, are approximately $570 million.
The total net headcount reduction since the acquisition
of Digital including attrition and restructuring, partial-
ly offset by selective hiring, was approximately 12,800.

During 1998, Compagq also recorded a $107 million
charge related to asset impairments. The asset impair-
ments resulted from the writedown to fair market value,
less costs to sell, of assets taken out of service and held for
sale or disposal. The majority of this charge related to
the impairment of $74 million of intangible assets asso-
ciated with the acquisition of a company during 1995
that developed, manufactured, and supplied fast ether-
net hubs, switches and related products. In May 1998,
management decided to close the manufacturing facility
and abandoned the technologies acquired through this
acquisition and discontinued all related products.

Compag’s selling, general and administrative costs are
expected to decrease in the future through the continued
implementation of the Company’s restructuring plans.

Other ltems

In 1998, Compaq’s other income was $69 million as com-
pared to other income of $23 million in 1997 and other
expense of $17 million in 1996. The increase in 1998
was primarily due to an increase in interest and dividend
income related to greater cash and short-term investment
balances prior to the Digital acquisition and a reduction
in other expenses, partially offset by the minority interest
Filvidend paid to Digital preferred shareholders. The
increase in other income in 1997 was primarily driven

Cash A Remaining
Expenditures Adjustment Accrual
$ (455) $ 47 $ 723

(42) (89) 317
(2) (54) 43
(76) 3 27
$ (575) $ (59 $ 1,110

by an increase in interest and dividend income related to
greater average cash and short-term investment balances,
partially offset by interest expense.

The translation gains and losses relating to the finan-
cial statements of Compaq’s international subsidiaries,
net of offsetting gains and losses associated with hedg-
ing activities relating to the net monetary assets of these
subsidiaries, are included in other income and expense
and resulted in net losses of $25 million, $27 million and
$11 million in 1998, 1997 and 1996, respectively.

Liquidity and Capital Resources

Compaq’s cash, cash equivalents and short-term invest-
ments decreased to $4.1 billion at December 31, 1998,
from $6.8 billion at December 31, 1997. The decrease
in cash, cash equivalents and short-term investments in
1998 was primarily due to the cash payment made to
acquire Digital of approximately $4.5 billion ($1.4 bil-
lion net of cash acquired); the completion of a tender
offer for the Digital notes and debentures of $788 mil-
lion; the repurchase of 11 million shares of common stock
for $384 million; cash spent for restructuring activities
of $575 million; investments made in 1998 of $574 mil-
lion, as discussed below; cash dividends paid to Compaq
shareholders of $95 million and cash used for the pur-
chase of property, plant and equipment, of $600 million.

Operating activities generated $644 million in cash in
1998, compared to $3.7 billion in 1997 and $3.6 billion
in 1996, respectively. The decrease in cash generated by
operating activities in 1998 compared to 1997 was sig-
nificantly affected by the net loss in 1998 (offset by the
purchased in-process technology acquired from Digital
of approximately $3.2 billion) and an increase in accounts
receivable. Accounts receivable increased to $7.0 billion
in 1998 from $2.9 billion in 1997, primarily due to
the acquisition of Digital. From time to time, Compaq
may sell accounts receivable when it is economically
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beneficial. Accounts receivable sold at December 31, 1998
were $217 million and $1.1 billion at December 31, 1997.
Inventory levels increased to $2.0 billion at December 31,
1998, compared to $1.6 billion at December 31, 1997,
due to the acquisition of Digital and increased unit vol-
umes. These increases were partially offset by changes in
production planning as a result of Compag’s transition
to the optimized distribution model. Inventory turns
improved to 13.4 in 1998 versus 12.6 in 1997.

Cash used for investments included a ten percent pre-
ferred equity position in a business venture with Time
Warner, Advance/Newhouse, MediaOne and Microsoft
for approximately $213 million. The venture provides
Internet services and intends to accelerate the delivery
of broadband services over cable modems to consumers
and small businesses under the Road Runner brand.
Cash used for investments also included the acquisition
of a lease portfolio from G.E. Capital for approximate-
ly $361 million.

Compagq plans to use cash to develop the purchased
in-process technology related to the Digital acquisition
into commercially viable products. This primarily con-
sists of the completion of all planning, designing,
prototyping, high-volume manufacturing verification and
testing activities that are necessary to establish that a
product can be produced to meet its design specifications,
including functions, features and technical performance
requirements. Bringing the purchased in-process tech-
nology to market also includes developing firmware and
diagnostic software, device driver development, and test-
ing the technology for compatibility and interoperability
with commercially viable products. As of the date of
acquisition, the estimated costs to be incurred to develop
the purchased in-process technology into commercially
viable products totaled approximately $3.1 billion in the
aggregate through the year 2005. The remainder to be
spent is estimated to be: $510 million in 1999, $660 mil-
lion in 2000, $630 million in 2001, $520 million in 2002,
$400 million in 2003, $210 million in 2004 and $90
million in 2005.

Future uses of cash also include cash expenditures
for currently planned restructuring activities which are
estimated to be $1.1 billion; capital expenditures for
land, buildings and equipment in 1999 which are esti-
mated to be $875 million; and the redemption of the
Series A Digital Preferred Stock expected to occur
on April 1, 1999 for approximately $400 million plus
accrued dividends.

Other future sources and uses of cash include:

> A cash tender offer in January 1999 for all of the out-
standing shares of common stock of Shopping.com, an
on-line retailer that offers Internet shoppers an array of
consumer products. In February the offer was successful-
ly concluded, with 96% of the shares tendered. Compaq
is proceeding with the steps necessary to complete the
merger, which is anticipated in March. The aggregate
purchase price for Shopping.com is anticipated to be
approximately $220 million. Completion of the transac-
tion is subject to certain conditions, including clearance
under the Hart-Scott-Rodino Antitrust Improvements Act.

> The execution of a definitive merger agreement with
Zip2 Corporation, the leading provider of Internet plat-
form solutions for media companies and local e-commerce
merchants in February 1999. The aggregate purchase price
for Zip2 Corporation is anticipated to be approximately
$300 million. Completion of the transaction is subject to
customary conditions, including clearance under the Hart-
Scott-Rodino Antitrust Improvements Act.

> The formation of the AltaVista Company in January
1999, a wholly owned subsidiary established to become
a leading Internet site for search capabilities, localized
information, e-commerce and e-services. Compaq will
contribute to AltaVista the AltaVista search site and the
associated intellectual property, Shopping.com, Zip2
Corporation, and certain additional cash and assets.
Compaq anticipates offering a portion of the AltaVista
Company to the public in 1999.

Compagq currently expects to fund expenditures for
capital requirements as well as liquidity needs from a
combination of available cash balances, internally gen-
erated funds and financing arrangements. Compaq from
time to time may borrow funds for actual or anticipated
funding needs. In October 1998, Compagq entered into a
one-year $1 billion unsecured revolving credit facility to
replace a similar facility that expired in September 1998.
Compaq also has a $3 billion syndicated credit facility
that expires in September 2002. Both of these facilities
were unused at December 31, 1998. Compagq has estab-
lished a commercial paper program, supported by the
syndicated credit facility, which was unused at December
31, 1998. Compagq believes that these sources of credit
provide sufficient financial flexibility to meet future fund-
ing requirements. Compaq continually evaluates the need
to establish other sources of working capital and will
pursue those it considers appropriate based upon its needs
and market conditions.
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Factors That May Affect Future Results

Compagq participates in a highly volatile industry that is
characterized by fierce industry-wide competition for
market share. Industry participants confront aggressive
pricing practices, continually changing customer demand
patterns, growing competition from well-capitalized high
technology and consumer electronics companies, and
rapid technological development carried out in the midst
of legal disputes over intellectual property rights and the
application of antitrust laws. In accordance with the pro-
visions of the Private Securities Litigation Reform Act of
1995, the cautionary statements set forth below discuss
important factors that could cause actual results to differ
materially from the projected results contained in the for-
ward-looking statements in this report.

MARKET ENVIRONMENT. Compaq expects the personal
computer market to expand in 1999 in line with third party
research organizations' forecasts of unit growth of 15%.
The Company expects the enterprise market to expand
with the development of Internet and intranet enterprise
applications and the corporate MIS migration from legacy
systems to client/server systems. This expansion represents
an opportunity for Compaq's services business to help
enable customers to implement and manage these new
environments. With its acquisition of Tandem Computers
Incorporated in the third quarter of 1997 and the acqui-
sition of Digital Equipment Corporation in the second
quarter of 1998, Compaq confronts a challenge in build-
ing the high-end UNIX solutions market while continuing
to advance the sphere of NT-based solutions to achieve
the lowest cost of ownership and the highest computing
value for its customers. Although Compaq has programs,
products and services focused on meeting market demand,
gaining market share profitably and maintaining gross
margins, Compagq's ability to achieve these goals is sub-
ject to the risks set forth in this discussion.

ComMPETITIVE ENVIRONMENT. Competition remains
fierce in the information technology industry with a large
number of competitors vying for market share.
Competition creates an aggressive pricing environment,
which continues to put pressure on gross margins. A num-
ber of personal computer companies sell directly to end
users and, particularly in the U.S., direct sales have
increased as a percentage of the total personal computer

market. Compaq has established a variety of programs
designed to increase its manufacturing, distribution, and
business process efficiencies to enable it to compete more
effectively in its PC business. Compagq sells directly to end
users in its enterprise and service businesses. The success
of its programs to increase its business efficiencies depends
upon Compaq’s ability to continue its successful working
relationship with its resellers, to maintain and increase its
enterprise and service businesses, to both predict and react
quickly to market responses by its competitors, and to
continue the implementation of its optimized distribution
model, the goal of which is to implement more efficient
component supply, manufacturing, and distribution strate-
gies to increase overall efficiencies.

Risks oF NEWLY ACQUIRED BUSINESSES. As a result
of the acquisition of Digital, Compaq has, and will con-
tinue to, expand its service offerings and enterprise
solutions. This expansion includes a number of risks asso-
ciated with Digital’s business. Compaq believes that the
Digital acquisition will enhance its operating results, but
as with any significant acquisition or merger, it confronts
challenges in maintaining key industry alliances and syn-
chronizing product roadmaps and business processes and
integrating logistics, marketing, product development,
services and manufacturing operations to achieve greater
efficiencies. While Compaq has increased its service rev-
enue through this acquisition, there are risks associated
with the service business, which include jeopardizing
Compagq’s long-term relationships with third party resellers
while it provides services directly to end-user customers.
Compagq has also made certain estimates in connection
with the value of purchased in-process technology. If these
projects are not successfully developed, its future revenue
and profitability may be adversely affected and the value
of other intangibles could be reduced. This risk is more
fully discussed under “Purchased In-Process Technology”
Compagq plans to continue to use strategic acquisitions
and mergers to assist in the growth of its business.

INVENTORY. In the event of a drop in worldwide demand
for computer products, lower-than-anticipated demand
for one or more of Compaq’s products, difficulties in
managing product transitions, or component pricing
movements, there could be an adverse impact on inven-
tory levels, cash, and related profitability.
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Rarip TEcHNoLOGY CycLes. Compaq believes the
computer industry will continue to drive rapid technolo-
gy cycles. In planning product transitions, it evaluates
the speed at which customers are likely to switch to newer
products. The contrast between prices of old and new
products, which is related to component costs, is a criti-
cal variable in predicting customer decisions to move to
the next generation of products. Because of the lead times
associated with its volume production, should Compaq be
unable to gauge the rate of product transitions accurate-
ly, there could be an adverse impact on inventory levels,
cash, and profitability. In addition, as a result of the
Tandem and Digital acquisitions, Compaq is engaged in
direct sales of computer systems with software developed
to meet customers’ specific needs. The long-term nature
of such contracts exposes Compagq to risks associated
with changing customer needs and expectations.

PropucT TRANSITIONS. In each product cycle, Compaq
confronts the risk of delays in production that could
impact sales of newer products while it manages the
inventory of older products and facilitates the sale of
older inventory held by resellers. To ease product tran-
sitions, Compaq carries out pricing actions and marketing
programs to increase sales by resellers. It provides cur-
rently for estimated product returns and price protection
that may occur under reseller programs and under floor
planning arrangements with third-party finance compa-
nies. Should Compaq be unable to sell the inventory of
older products at anticipated prices, should it not antic-
ipate pricing actions that are necessary, or if dealers hold
higher than expected amounts of inventory subject to
price protection at the time of planned price reductions,
there could be a resulting adverse impact on revenues,
gross margins, and profitability.

SysTEMS IMPLEMENTATION. Compaq continues to focus
on making business and information management process-
es more efficient in order to increase customer satisfaction,
improve productivity and lower costs. In the event of a
delay in implementing improvements, there could be an
adverse impact on inventory levels, cash and related prof-
itability. In connection with these efforts, Compagq is
moving many of its systems from a legacy environment
of proprietary systems to client-server architectures as well
as integrating systems from newly acquired businesses.
Integrating the systems at Digital and Tandem compli-
cates this process. Should the transition to new systems

not occur in a smooth and orderly manner, Compaq could
experience disruptions in operations, which could have
an adverse financial impact.

TECHNOLOGY STANDARDS AND KEY LICENSES.
Participants in the computer industry generally rely on
the creation and implementation of technology standards
to win the broadest market acceptance for their prod-
ucts. Compaq must successfully manage and participate
in the development of standards while continuing to dif-
ferentiate its products and services in a manner valued
by customers. While industry participants generally
accept, and may encourage, the use of their intellectual
property by third parties under license, when intellectu-
al property owned by competitors or suppliers becomes
accepted as an industry standard, Compaq must obtain a
license, purchase components utilizing such technology
from the owners of such technology or their licensees, or
otherwise acquire rights to use such technology, which
could result in increased costs. Compaq has entered into
license agreements with key industry participants. There
can be no assurance that it will be able to negotiate terms
that give it a competitive market advantage under the
license agreements that are necessary to operate its busi-
ness in the future.

PropuUcTION FORECASTS. In managing production,
Compaq must forecast customer demand for its prod-
ucts. Should the Company underestimate the supplies
needed to meet demand, it could be unable to meet cus-
tomer demand. Should it overestimate the supplies needed
to meet customer demand, cash and profitability could
be adversely affected. Many of the components used in
Compagq’s products, particularly microprocessors and
memory, experience steep price declines over their prod-
uct lives. If the Company is unable to manage purchases
and utilization of such components efficiently to main-
tain low inventory levels immediately prior to major price
declines, it could be unable to take immediate advantage
of such declines to lower product costs, which could
adversely affect revenues and gross margins. Furthermore,
should prices for components increase unexpectedly,
Compaq’s gross margin could be adversely affected.

CREDIT Risks. Compaq’s primary means of distribution
is through third-party resellers. It continually monitors
and manages the credit it extends to resellers and attempts
to limit credit risks by broadening distribution channels,
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utilizing certain risk transfer arrangements and obtain-
ing security interests. Compaq’s business could be
adversely affected in the event that the financial condi-
tion of third-party computer resellers erodes. Upon the
financial failure of a major reseller, the Company could
experience disruptions in distribution as well as a loss
associated with the unsecured portion of any outstand-
ing accounts receivable. Geographic expansion, par-
ticularly manufacturing operations in developing coun-
tries, such as Brazil and China, and the expansion of sales
into economically volatile areas such as Asia Pacific, Latin
America and other emerging markets, subject Compaq
to a number of economic and other risks, such as finan-
cial instability among resellers in these regions. Compaq
generally has experienced longer accounts receivable
cycles in emerging markets, in particular Asia Pacific and
Latin America, when compared to U.S. and European
markets. In addition, geographic expansion subjects
Compagq to political and financial instability of the coun-
tries into which Compaq expands, including currency
devaluation and interest rate fluctuations. The Company
continues to evaluate business operations in these regions
and attempts to take measures to limit risks in these areas.

YEAR 2000 COMPLIANCE. The following disclosure is a
Year 2000 readiness disclosure statement pursuant to the
Year 2000 Readiness and Disclosure Act.

Compagq’s Year 2000 program is designed to minimize
the possibility of serious Year 2000 interruptions. Possible
Year 2000 worst case scenarios include the interruption
of significant parts of Compaq’s business as a result of
critical information systems failure or the failure of sup-
pliers, distributors or customers. Any such interruption
may have a material adverse impact on future results.
Since their possibility cannot be eliminated, Compaq is
incorporating Year 2000 concerns into its contingency
plans for dealing with catastrophic events. In addition,
Compagq is monitoring the need to develop contingency
plans to remediate information systems scheduled to be
replaced by systems renewal efforts in case delays in the
installation schedule for the new systems make remedi-
ation of the older systems necessary.

In 1997, Compagq established a task force to address its
personal computer product and customer concerns, and
a separate task force to address its internal information
systems, including technology infrastructure and embed-
ded technology systems, and the compliance of its
suppliers and distributors. In 1998, Compaq integrated

the Tandem and Digital task forces with those of its own
so that the task force now addresses the product and
information systems and supplier and distributor con-
cerns for the entire Company.

With respect to product readiness, the compliance def-
initions of Compaq, Tandem and Digital remain in effect
for most of the respective follow-on products of each
company. The readiness status of Compaq, Tandem and
Digital products is available on the Compaq Year 2000
Web site at www.compaq.com/year2000. In addition to
selling tested products, Compaq also offers a range of
Year 2000 readiness services. Because there is no uniform
definition of Year 2000 “compliance” and because all
customer situations cannot be anticipated, particularly
those involving other vendors’ products, Compaq may
see a change in demand or an increase in warranty and
other claims as a result of the Year 2000 transition. Such
events, should they occur, could have a material adverse
impact on future results.

In 1998, substantially all internal information systems
and other infrastructure areas including communication
systems, building security systems and embedded tech-
nologies in areas such as manufacturing processes were
identified, assessed, and categorized for Year 2000 readi-
ness as Priority 1, 2 and 3, with 1 being critical, 2 being
intermediate and 3 being non-critical. During the fourth
quarter of 1998, the Year 2000 program experienced a sig-
nificant increase in work resulting from the Digital/Tandem
integrations and new business directions. Additional
resources have been added and the necessary steps have
been taken to maintain the following goals: Priority 1 and
Priority 2 items will be Year 2000 compliant by June 30,
1999, and Priority 3 items are to be ready by December
31, 1999 or replaced or left undetermined. As of the end of
the fourth quarter of 1998, Compaq completed remedia-
tion on approximately 40% of the Priority 1 items, and
expects to be approximately 75% complete by the end of
March 1999. Specific contingency plans are being made
with respect to any Priority 1 listings which cannot be test-
ed or determined to be compliant. Also, key suppliers and
distributors have been identified and Compagq is in the
process of communicating with them about their Year 2000
readiness plans and progress. In each of these areas, vari-
ous testing and readiness determination methodologies are
being used, based on what is appropriate for each type of
system, supplier or distributor.

Coincident with Year 2000 readiness efforts, Compagq is
rapidly integrating the Digital operations worldwide. This
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includes rationalization of internal systems, facilities and
other infrastructure. Compagq is also carrying out major
planned enterprise-wide internal system renewal efforts.
These planned major enterprise-wide system renewals have
been incorporated into the Year 2000 readiness effort.
Installations are scheduled through the end of 1999. Based
on Compagq’s ongoing evaluation of internal information
and other systems, the integration of Digital operations,
and system renewal roll-out schedules, Compaq does not
anticipate significant business interruption. However,
should business interruption occur, there could be a mate-
rial adverse impact on future results. With respect to
suppliers and distributors, because Compaq’s readiness
depends upon their cooperation in identifying, disclosing
and remediating problems, failures on the part of suppliers
and distributors remain a possibility and could have a
material adverse impact on future results.

The costs of the readiness program for products are pri-
marily costs of existing internal resources largely absorbed
within existing engineering spending levels. These costs
were incurred primarily in 1997 and earlier years and were
not broken out from other product engineering costs. No
future material product readiness costs are anticipated.
The costs of the readiness program for internal informa-
tion and other systems and suppliers and distributors are
a combination of incremental external spending and use
of existing internal resources and expertise. Over the life of
the internal readiness effort, these costs are estimated to
be $130 million, of which approximately 45% has been
incurred to date. The costs of implementing enterprise-
wide system renewal efforts are not included in this
estimate. Milestones and implementation dates and the
costs of Compagq’s Year 2000 readiness program are sub-
ject to change based on new circumstances that may arise
or new information becoming available, that may change
underlying assumptions or requirements.

Euro CONVERSION. Effective January 1, 1999, 11 of
the 15 member countries of the European Union have
adopted the euro as their common legal currency. On
that date, the participating countries established fixed
euro conversion rates between their existing sovereign
currencies and the euro. The euro now trades on curren-
cy exchanges and is available for non-cash transactions.
The participating countries now issue sovereign debt
exclusively in euros, and have redenominated outstand-
ing sovereign debt. The authority to direct monetary
policy for the participating countries, including money

supply and official interest rates for the euro, is now exer-
cised by the new European Central Bank.

In 1997, Compaq established a euro task force to
address its PC product and customer concerns, and a sep-
arate task force to address Compagq’s internal information
systems. Compaq hopes to achieve euro product readi-
ness and enable internal information systems to conduct
electronic transactions in the euro within the first quar-
ter of 1999. The schedule and details of subsequent
phases of internal systems readiness is under review, but
will comply with implementation schedules set by the
European Commission. We do not believe the costs of
the overall effort will have a material adverse impact on
future results. However, since all customer situations can-
not be anticipated, Compaq may see a change in demand
or an increase in warranty and other claims as a result
of the euro implementation. Such events, should they
occur, could have a material adverse impact on future
results. Based on Compaq's ongoing evaluation of inter-
nal information systems, integration of Digital operations
and system renewal roll-out schedules, Compagq does not
anticipate significant business interruption. However,
should a significant business interruption occur, there
could be a material adverse impact on future results. With
respect to compliance by suppliers and distributors, fail-
ures remain a possibility and could have a material
adverse impact on future results.

Milestones and implementation dates of Compaq’s
euro readiness program are subject to change based on
new circumstances that may arise or new information
becoming available, which changes underlying assump-
tions or requirements.

Tax RATE. Compaq currently has a 15% effective tax
rate, before the effect of non-deductible purchased in-
process technology and merger-related costs, and expects
this rate will increase to 32% in 1999. Compaq benefits
from a tax holiday in Singapore that expires in 2001,
with a potential extension to August 2004 if certain
cumulative investment levels and other conditions are
maintained. Compagq’s tax rate is heavily dependent upon
the proportion of earnings that is derived from its
Singaporean manufacturing subsidiary and its ability to
reinvest those earnings permanently outside the U.S. If
the earnings of this subsidiary as a percentage of
Compag’s total earnings were to decline significantly from
current levels, or should Compagq’s ability to reinvest
these earnings be reduced, Compag’s effective tax rate
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would increase. In addition, should Compag’s intercom-
pany transfer pricing with respect to its Singaporean
manufacturing subsidiary require significant adjustment
due to audits or regulatory changes, Compagq’s overall
effective tax rate could increase.

At December 31, 1998 Compaq has recorded a net
deferred tax asset of $2.9 billion. Compaq has deter-
mined it is more likely than not that this asset will be
realized. The future utilization of these deferred tax assets
may be restricted from future use by certain limitations
imposed by taxing authorities or by a lack of sufficient
income generated in the taxing jurisdictions in which the
asset arose.If these limitations are significant, or if the
circumstances surrounding the expected deductibility of
the items change, the ultimate realization of these assets
may be adversely impacted and could have an adverse
impact on future results.

CurrReNCY FructuaTIions. Compaq’s risks associated
with currency fluctuations are discussed below.

MAaRKET Risks. Compagq is exposed to market risks,
which include changes in U.S. and international interest
rates as well as changes in currency exchange rates as
measured against the U.S. dollar and each other. It
attempts to reduce these risks by utilizing financial instru-
ments, including derivative transactions, pursuant to
Company policies.

Compagq uses market valuations and value-at-risk val-
uation methods to preliminarily assess market risk of its
financial instruments and derivative portfolios. It uses J.P.
Morgan’s RiskMetrics™ to estimate the value-at-risk of
its financial instruments and derivative portfolios based
on estimates of volatility and correlation of market fac-
tors drawn from J.P. Morgan’s RiskMetrics™ data sets for
the dates calculated. RiskMetrics™ defines loss as a reduc-
tion in the value of a portfolio in the event of adverse
market conditions, using a predetermined confidence inter-
v.al, over a specified period of time. Compagq included all
flxed income investments and foreign exchange contracts
in the value-at-risk calculation. See Note 1 and Note 13 in
the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements for fur-
ther information regarding these instruments. The holding
period for these instruments varies from two days to nine
mgnths. The measured value-at-risk from holding deriv-
ative and other financial instruments, using a 95%
confidence level and assuming normal market conditions
during the periods ended December 31, 1998 and 1997

was immaterial.

The value of the U.S. dollar affects Compaq’s finan-
cial results. Changes in exchange rates may positively or
negatively affect Compaq’s revenues (as expressed in U.S.
dollars), gross margins, operating expenses, and retained
earnings. Compaq engages in hedging programs aimed
at limiting in part the impact of currency fluctuations.
Using primarily forward exchange contracts, Compaq
hedges those assets and liabilities that, when remeasured
according to generally accepted accounting principles,
impact the income statement. For certain markets, par-
ticularly Latin America, Compaq has determined that
ongoing hedging of non-U.S. dollar net monetary assets
is not cost effective and instead attempts to minimize
currency exposure risk through working capital man-
agement. There can be no assurance that such an
approach will be successful, especially in the event of a
significant and sudden decline in the value of local cur-
rencies. From time to time, Compaq purchases foreign
currency option contracts as well as short-term forward
exchange contracts to protect against currency exchange
risks associated with the anticipated revenue of Compaq’s
international marketing subsidiaries, with the exception
of Latin America and certain other subsidiaries that reside
in countries in which such activity would not be cost
effective or local regulations preclude this type of activ-
ity. These hedging activities provide only limited
protection against currency exchange risks. Factors that
could impact the effectiveness of Compaq’s hedging pro-
grams include accuracy of sales forecasts, volatility of
the currency markets, and availability of hedging instru-
ments. All currency contracts that are entered into by
Compagq are components of hedging programs and are
entered into for the sole purpose of hedging an existing or
anticipated currency exposure, not for speculation.
Although Compaq maintains these programs to reduce
the impact of changes in currency exchange rates, when
the U.S. dollar sustains a strengthening position against
currencies in which Compaq sells products and services or
a weakening exchange rate against currencies in which
Compagq incurs costs, Compaq’s revenues or costs are
adversely affected.

Because of the foregoing factors, as well as other variables
affecting Compagq’s operating results, past financial per-
formance should not be considered a reliable indicator of
future performance, and investors should not use historical
trends to anticipate results or trends in future periods.




Consolidated Balance Sheet

DECEMBER 31 (IN MILLIONS, EXCEPT PAR VALUE)

Assets
Current assets:
Cash and cash equivalents
Short-term investments
Accounts receivable, less allowance of $318 and $243
Inventories
Deferred income taxes
Other current assets
Total current assets
Property, plant and equipment, less accumulated depreciation
Deferred income taxes
Intangible and other assets

Liabilities and Stockholders’ Equity
Current liabilities:
Accounts payable
Income taxes payable
Accrued restructuring costs
Other current liabilities
Total current liabilities
Postretirement and other postemployment benefits
Commitments and contingencies (Note 13)
Minority interest
Stockholders’ equity:
Preferred stock, $.01 par value
(authorized: 10 million shares; issued: none)
Common stock and capital in excess of $.01 par value
(authorized: 3 billion shares; issued and outstanding:
1,698 and 1,687 million shares, respectively, at December 31, 1998; and
1,519 million shares issued and outstanding at December 31, 1997)
Retained earnings
Treasury stock (at cost)
Total stockholders’ equity

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements.

1998

$ 4,091

6,998
2,005
1,602

471
15,167
2,902
1,341
3,641

$ 23001

$ AT
282

1,110
5,104
10,733
545

422

7,270
4,465
(384)
11,351

$ 23,051

1997

$ 541
344

2,891
1,570

595

199
12,017
1,985

629
$ 14,631

$ 29887
195

2,170
5,202

2,096
7,333
9,429

$ 14,631

Consolidated Statement of Income

YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31 (IN MILLIONS, EXCEPT PER SHARE AMOUNTS)

Revenue:
Products
Services

Total revenue

Cost of sales:
Products
Services
Total cost of sales

Selling, general and administrative expense
Research and development costs

Purchased in-process technology
Restructuring and asset impairment charges
Merger-related costs

Other income and expense, net

Income (loss) before provision for income taxes
Provision for income taxes
Net income (loss)

Earnings (loss) per common share:
Basic
Diluted

Shares used in computing earnings (loss) per common share:
Basic
Diluted

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements.
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1998

37.372
3,797
31,169

21,383
2,597
23,980

4,978
1,353
3,196

393

(69)
9,851
(2,662)

81
(2,743)

1997

$ 24,122

@ &

462
24,584

17,500
333
17,833

2,947
817
208

44

(23)

3,993
2,758

903
1,855

4223
1.19

1,505
1,564

$

@ &

1996

19,611
398
20,009

14,565
290
14,855

2,507
695

52

17
3,271
1,883
565
1,318

0.90
0.87

1,472
1,516




Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows

YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31 (IN MILLIONS)

Cash flows from operating activities:
Net income (loss)
Adjustments to reconcile net income (loss) to net cash
provided by operating activities:
Depreciation and amortization
Provision for bad debts
Purchased in-process technology
Deferred income taxes
Restructuring and asset impairment charges
Changes in operating assets and liabilities,
net of effects of purchased businesses:
Accounts receivable
Inventories
Other current assets
Accounts payable
Income taxes payable
Accrued restructuring costs
Other current liabilities
Net cash provided by operating activities
Cash flows from investing activities:
Purchases of property, plant and equipment, net
Purchases of short-term investments
Proceeds from sale of short-term investments
Acquisition of businesses, net of cash acquired
Acquisition of lease portfolio
Other, net
Net cash used in investing activities
Cash flows from financing activities:
Repayment of long-term debt
Purchase of treasury shares
Issuance of common stock pursuant to stock option plans
Tax benefit associated with stock options
Dividends paid
Other, net
Net cash provided by (used in) financing activities
Effect of exchange rate changes on cash and cash equivalents
Net (decrease) increase in cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the year
Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the year

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements.

1998

(2,743)

893
61
3,196
(130)
393

(1,736)
857
114
589

(265)

(575)
(10)
644

(600)

$

1997

1,855

345

19
208
202

614

(335)
63
756

(319)

80
3,688

(729)
(2,405)
3,134

(268)

(31)
(299)

(293)

188
156

(37)
14

3,410
3,008
6,418

$

1996

1,318

483
160

(405)
52

(228)
1,014

562
131

445
3,566

(484)

(1,401)
328
(22)

(75)
(1,654)

131
91

222
21
2,155
853
3,008

Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows

YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31 (IN MILLIONS)

Supplemental Cash Flow Information

Interest paid
Income taxes paid

Acquisitions (Note 2)
Fair value of:
Assets acquired
Liabilities assumed
Stock issued
Options issued
Cash paid
Less cash acquired
Net cash paid for acquisitions

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements.

©@r &

1998

175
259

16,124
(7,109)
(4,284)
(249)
4,482
(3,069)
1,413

&> &

1997

164
804

362
(74)

(10)
278

(10)
268

1996

106
953



Consolidated Statement of Stockholders’ Equity

YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31 (IN MILLIONS)

Shares of common stock issued:
Beginning balance
Issuance pursuant to stock option plans
Issuance of stock pursuant to acquisition
Other
Ending balance

Common stock par value and capital in excess of par:
Beginning balance
Issuance pursuant to stock option plans
Issuance of stock pursuant to acquisition

Issuance of stock options pursuant to acquisition

Tax benefit associated with stock options
Other
Ending balance

Retained earnings:
Beginning balance
Comprehensive income (loss)
Net income (loss)
Other comprehensive income (loss)
Total comprehensive income (loss)
Change in Tandem fiscal period
Cash dividends
Ending balance

Treasury stock:
Beginning balance
Repurchase of treasury stock, at cost
Ending balance

Total stockholders’ equity

Accumulated other comprehensive income:
Beginning balance
Other comprehensive income (loss)
Foreign currency translations
Minimum pension liability adjustment
Total other comprehensive income (loss)
Ending balance

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements.

1998

1,519
141

1,698

2,096
407
4,284
249
234

7,270

7,333

(2,743)
(18)
(2,761)

(107)
4,465

1997

1,492
30

(3)
1519

il 779
188

10
156
(37)

2,096

5,511

1,855
(22)
1,833
12
(23)
7,333

1996

1,458
34

1,492

1,543
131

91
14
1,779
4,214
1,318

(21)
1,297

5,511

7,290

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

Note 1. Description of Business and Summary of
Significant Accounting Policies

DESCRIPTION OF BUSINESS. Founded in 1982, Compaq
Computer Corporation (“Compag” or the “Company”)
is a global information technology company. Compaq
develops and markets hardware, software, solutions and
services, including enterprise computing solutions, fault-
tolerant business-critical solutions, networking and
communication products, commercial desktop and
portable products and consumer PCs. Compagq products
and services are sold in more than 100 countries through
subsidiaries and a network of authorized Compaq mar-
keting partners. Compaq markets its products and
services primarily to customers from the business, home,
government, and education sectors.

Compaq completed the acquisition of Digital
Equipment Corporation (“Digital”) in June 1998. This
acquisition was accounted for under the purchase method
of accounting. Compaq completed the acquisition of
Tandem Computers Incorporated (“Tandem™) in August
1997. This acquisition was accounted for as a pooling
of interests, consequently, the financial information for
1997 and 1996 has been restated to reflect the merger
with Tandem.

PRINCIPLES OF CONSOLIDATION. The consolidated
financial statements include the accounts of Compaq and
its subsidiaries. All significant intercompany transactions
and balances have been eliminated.

Use oF ESTIMATES. The preparation of financial state-
ments in conformity with generally accepted accounting
principles requires management to make estimates and
judgments that affect the reported amounts of assets, lia-
bilities, revenues and expenses, and related disclosure of
contingent assets and liabilities. Actual results could dif-
fer from those estimates.

CASH EQUIVALENTS AND SHORT-TERM INVESTMENTS.
Cash equivalents include highly liquid temporary cash
investments having maturities of three months or less at
date of acquisition. Short-term investments include cer-
tificate of deposits, commercial paper and other
investments having maturities longer than three months
at date of acquisition. For reporting purposes, such cash
equivalents and short-term investments are stated at cost
plus accrued interest which approximates fair value.

INVENTORIES. Inventories are stated at the lower of cost or
market, cost being determined on a first-in, first-out basis.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT. Property, plant and
equipment are stated at cost less accumulated deprecia-
tion. Major renewals and improvements are capitalized;
minor replacements, maintenance and repairs are charged
to current operations. Depreciation is computed by apply-
ing the straight-line method over the estimated useful
lives of the buildings (10-30 years) and by applying the
straight-line or accelerated methods over the estimated
useful lives of machinery and equipment (2-10 years).
Leasehold improvements are amortized over the shorter
of the useful life of the improvement or the life of the
related lease.

LoNG-LIVED ASSETS. Compaq reviews for the impair-
ment of long-lived assets whenever events or changes in
circumstances indicate that the carrying amount of an
asset may not be recoverable. An impairment loss would
be recognized when estimated future cash flows expect-
ed to result from the use of the asset and its eventual
disposition is less than its carrying amount.

INTANGIBLE ASSETS. Intangible assets primarily relate
to the value of the installed customer base, proven
research and development, and trademarks of companies
acquired. The cost of the installed customer base, proven
research and development and trademarks is amortized
on a straight-line basis over the estimated lives of 15
years, 5 years and 5 years, respectively.

REVENUE RECOGNITION. Compaq recognizes products
revenue at the time products are shipped to its customers.
Provision is made at the time the related revenue is rec-
ognized for estimated product returns and price
protection which may occur under programs Compaq
has with its customers. Compaq provides for the esti-
mated cost of post-sales support and product warranties
upon shipment. When other significant obligations remain
after products are delivered, revenue is recognized only
after such obligations are fulfilled. Services revenue is
recognized ratably over the contractual period or as the
services are performed.

FINANCING TRANSACTIONS. Compaq offers customer
financing to assist customers in their acquisition of the
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Company’s products through its leasing subsidiary,
Compagq Capital. At the time a financing transaction is
consummated, which qualifies as either a sales-type or
direct financing lease, the Company records the total
receivable, unearned income and the estimated residual
value of the equipment. Unearned income is recognized as
finance income using the interest method over the term of
the lease. Lease receivables of $271 million, net of
unearned income, due within the next twelve months are
included in accounts receivable. The non-current portion
of $274 million of lease receivables and the residual value,
net of unearned income, are included in long-term other
assets. Leases not qualifying as either sales-type or direct
financing leases are accounted for as operating leases.
The underlying equipment is depreciated on a straight-
line basis over the initial term of the lease to its estimated
residual value. Rental equipment of $166 million, net of
accumulated depreciation, is included in property, plant
and equipment.

ADVERTISING cosTs. Advertising costs are charged to
operations when incurred. The cost of direct-response
advertising is not significant. Advertising expenses for
1998, 1997 and 1996 were $336 million, $223 million
and $175 million, respectively.

FOREIGN CURRENCY. Compaq’s foreign subsidiaries
(other than those acquired in the merger with Tandem)
have the U.S. dollar designated as their functional cur-
rency. Financial statements of these foreign subsidiaries
are translated to U.S. dollars for consolidation purposes
using current rates of exchange for monetary assets and
liabilities and historical rates of exchange for nonmone-
tary assets and related elements of expense. Revenue and
other expense elements are translated at rates that
approximate the rates in effect on the transaction dates.
Translation gains and losses are included in Compag’s
Consolidated Statement of Income. The foreign sub-
sidiaries acquired in the merger with Tandem designated
the local currency as their functional currency and relat-
ed cumulative translation adjustments have not been

significant.

INcoME TAXES. The provision for income taxes is com-
puted based on the pretax income (loss) included in the
Consolidated Statement of Income. The asset and liabil-
ity approach is used to recognize deferred tax assets and
liabilities for the expected future tax consequences of

temporary differences between the carrying amounts and
the tax bases of assets and liabilities.

EARNINGS PER COMMON SHARE. Basic earnings (loss)
per common share is computed using the weighted aver-
age number of common shares outstanding during the
period. Diluted earnings per common share is computed
using the combination of dilutive common share equiv-
alents and the weighted average number of common
shares outstanding during the period. Incremental shares
of 59 million and 44 million in 1997 and 1996, respec-
tively, were used in the calculation of diluted earnings
per common share. Diluted loss per common share for
1998 is based only on the weighted average number of
common shares outstanding during the period, as the
inclusion of 60 million common share equivalents would
have been antidilutive.

Stock options to purchase 13 million, 9 million and
28 million shares of common stock in 1998, 1997 and
1996, respectively, were outstanding but not included in
the computation of diluted earnings (loss) per common
share because the option exercise price was greater than
the average market price of the common shares.

STOCK-BASED COMPENSATION. Compaq measures
compensation expense for its stock-based employee com-
pensation plans using the intrinsic value method and has
provided in Note 8 the pro forma disclosures of the effect
on net income (loss) and earnings (loss) per common
share as if the fair value-based method had been applied
in measuring compensation expense.

COMPREHENSIVE INCOME. Other comprehensive income
refers to revenues, expenses, gains and losses that under
generally accepted accounting principles are included in
comprehensive income but are excluded from net income
as these amounts are recorded directly as an adjustment to
stockholders’ equity. Compaq’s other comprehensive income
is primarily comprised of foreign currency translation
adjustments and adjustments made to recognize addition-
al minimum liabilities associated with the Company’s
defined benefit pension plans. The tax benefit or expense,
as well as any reclassifications related to the components
of other comprehensive income were not significant.

SEGMENT DATA. During 1998, Compaq adopted
Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 131
(“FAS 131”), Disclosures about Segments of an Enterprise
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arlzd Rglated Information. FAS 131 supersedes FAS 14

Fzmznc.zal Reporting for Segments of a Business Enterprise’
ieplacmg the “industry segment” approach with the,
; managemelnt” approach. The management approach des-
ignates the internal reporting that is used by management
for making operating decisions and assessing perform-
ance as the source of the Company’s reportable segments

FAS 131 also requires disclosures about products and serv-‘
ices, geographic areas and major customers. The adoption
gf FAS 131 did not affect results of operations or the
financial position of Compaq but did affect the disclosure
of segment information (Note T2))

RECENT.PRONOUNCEMENTS. In June 1998, the Financial
ﬁccount{ng SStanc(ijards Board issued Statement of Financial
ccounting Standards No. 133 (“FAS 133” }
for Derivative Instruments ;71341( Hedgin?g}A);tij;iZ ”;’Zé’
133 is effective for transactions entered into after ]ar‘luary
T, 2000. FAS 133 requires that all derivative instruments
be recorded on the balance sheet at fair value. Changes
in the fair value of derivatives are recorded each period
In current earnings or other comprehensive income
depending on whether a derivative is designated as par;
gf 3 hedge transaction and the type of hedge transaction
The {neffective portion of all hedges will be recognized ir;
carnings. Compagq is in the process of determining the
impact that the adoption of FAS 133 will have on its

results of operations and financial position.

H.ECLASSIFICATIONS. Certain prior year amounts have

4 A
been reclassified to conform to the 1998 presentation

Note 2. Acquisitions

Cin lupe 11, 1998, Compaq consummated its acquisition
of Digital. Digital was an industry leader in implement-
ing e‘md supporting networked business solutions in
n}ulu-vendor environments based on high performance
platforms and had an established global service and sup-
port team. The aggregate purchase price of $9.1 billion
consisted of approximately $4.5 billion in cash. the
1ssuance of approximately 141 million shares of Con"lpaq
common stock valued at approximately $4.3 billion and
the issuance of approximately 25 million options to pur-
chase C.ompaq common stock valued at approximately
$249 rt}lllion. The cash component of the purchase price
zvas paid through the use of Compaq’s general corporate
unds. The results of operations of Digital and the

estimated fair value of the assets acquired and liabilities
assumed are included in Compaq’s financial statements
from the date of acquisition.

The purchase price was preliminarily allocated to the
assets acquired and liabilities assumed based on
Compaq’s estimates of fair value at the acquisition date
In the fourth quarter of 1998, Compagq adjusted the faig
values of certain assets acquired and liabilities assumed
based on the receipt of additional information which
was outstanding as of the date of the acquisition. These
adjustments did not have a material impact on the initial
Purchase price allocation. The fair value assigned to
intangible assets acquired was based on a valuation pre-
pared by an independent third-party appraisal compan
of the purchased in-process technology, proven researc}}I
and development, the installed customer base and trade-
marks of Digital. The amounts allocated to tangible and
intangible assets acquired less liabilities assumed exceed-
ed the purchase price by approximately $4.1 billion. This
excess value over the purchase price was allocated to

reduce the values assigned to long-term assets and pur-
chgsed in-process technology in determining their
ultimate fair values. As a result of the change in fair val-
ues of the long-term assets, the deferred tax liabilit
associated with these assets was also adjusted. -
The following table shows the fair value of the long-
term assets acquired, the allocation of the excess value
over the purchase price and the resulting assigned values

for t}.le. long-term assets acquired through the acquisition
of Digital:

Value
Excess Value Assigned
Balance Sheet Categor i PU?cvr?ése K;SN;;
e gory Valuation Price Acquired
Property, plant
and equipment $ 1,470 $ (592) $ 878
Purchased in-process
techpology 522 (2,526) 3,196
Intangible assets: :
Proven research
and development 990 (437) 553
Installed customer
base 2,150 (949) 1,201
Trademarks 291 (129) 162
Other assets 953 (262) 691
Deferred tax liability (1,121) 829 (292)




~
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Approximately $3.2 billion of the purchase p;me rep;
resents purchased in-process technology that had not ye
reached technological feasibility and had no alterr}atlxlle
future use. Accordingly, this amount was immediately
expensed in the Consolidated Statement of Incor}le ugon
consummation of the acquisition. The value assigne L to
purchased in-process technology, based on a Yaluanon
prepared by an independent tl}irfi—party appralsa.l com-
pany, was determined by identlfylng rf:s.earch prmecgs in
areas for which technological feasibility had not been
established, including UNIX/OpenVMS ($I..6.b1111on)(i
NT Systems ($800 million), storage ($2.7 bllhon) an
others ($600 million). The value was determln.ed by esti-
mating the costs to develop thf: purchased in-process
technology into commercially viable products? estlmatci
ing the resulting net cash flows from sugh projects, elm
discounting the net cash flows back to their present value.
The discount rate included a factor that takes 1ntlo
account the uncertainty surrounding the successful devel-
opment of the purchased in-process technology. If these
projects are not successfully developed, future rfefvent(lie
and profitability of Compaq may be .aldversely affecte d
Additionally, the value of other intangible assets acquire

me impaired. :
ma%,hl::efcc?llowing table represents unaudited cor.1s9hdatefl1
pro forma information as if Compaq and Dlgltal ha
been combined as of the beginning of the pgrlods pre-
sented. The pro forma data is presF:nt}ed for illustrative
purposes only and is not necessarily 1nd1'catlve of the corln-
bined results of operations of future periods or the resu tcs1
that actually would have occurred ha.d Compaq'?.nd
Digital been a combined company during the speci 1;31
periods. The pro forma comblned.results 1nclude the
effects of the purchase price allocation on del.)rec.latlor;
of property, plant and equipment and amortlzatlori of
intangible assets; adjustments to reflect the reversal o
interest income resulting from the use of cash rglgted :10
the acquisition of Digital, and preferred stock d1V1de1? s
paid. The pro forma combined res_ults exclude acquisi-
tion-related charges for purchased in-process technology
related to Digital.

YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31 1998 1997
ER SHARE AMOUNTS) :
USSR, RACEPER Pro forma Unaudited

ReIYre:(;llf;ts $29,955 $31,350
Services 6,447 35,232
Total revenue $ 36,402 $ 37,

Net income S 275 5 15798
Earnings per

hare:
st S alg b 109

Diluted 818 5 105

Shares used in
computing earnings

on share:
S e L6705 1646

Diluted 1,736 1,706

During 1998, Compaq Capital p}lrchased frorglf}.E.
Capital Corporation a lease por.tfoho for $3 61fm1. 1'0ni
The underlying equipment consists prlmarlly of Digita
manufactured equipment. Also during 1998, Compgq
Capital purchased certain assets a}nd assumgd c’ertaln
liabilities of Dana Commercial Credit Corporatlon's com-
puter equipment leasing busines's. The pu.rchase? prlc.e1 waz
$s50 million. The assets acquired consist primarily od
direct financing leases related to Compaq manufacture

ipment. .

eq‘gl; August 29, 1997, Compaq me.rged with Tandemk
Computers Incorporated (“Tandem”) in a stockjfor—stoc

transaction accounted for as a ‘poohrllg of 1nteretsjs.
Tandem provided its customers with reliable, sFalea e,
fault-tolerant enterprise computer systems and client/serv-
er solutions. In connection with the merger, Compaq
issued 126 million shares of common stock, based upon
an exchange ratio of 1.05 shares of Compaq common
stock for each share of Tandem common stock. nger;
related costs of $44 million are comprised primarily o
transaction costs for fees of investment bankers, gtto}lr-
neys, accountants and printing, and are reflected in 5 :1
Consolidated Statement of Income for the year ende
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December 31, 1997. The financial data included in these
financial statements have been restated to reflect the
merger with Tandem. There were no material transac-
tions between Compaq and Tandem during the periods
prior to the merger. The consolidated financial data for
the year ended December 31, 1996 includes the results
of Tandem for the year ended September 30, 1996. For
1997, Tandem’s fiscal year end was changed from
September 30 to December 31. As permitted by Securities
and Exchange Commission regulations, Tandem’s three-
month period ended December 31, 1996 has been omitted
from the Consolidated Statement of Income and record-
ed as an adjustment to retained earnings in 1997,
Tandem’s revenues, expenses and net income were $436
million, $424 million and $12 million, respectively, for
that period. Tandem also generated a $40 million increase
in cash and cash equivalents during the quarter ended
December 31, 1996.

In May 1997, Compaq completed a tender offer for
Microcom, Inc., a manufacturer of remote access tech-
nologies and solutions. The aggregate purchase price of
$288 million consisted of $278 million in cash and the
assumption of certain employee stock options. The trans-
action was accounted for under the purchase method of
accounting. Accordingly, the results of operations of the
acquired business and the fair market values of the
acquired assets and liabilities were included in Compagq’s
financial statements from the date of acquisition. The
aggregate purchase price has been allocated to the assets
and liabilities acquired. The aggregate purchase price
included $208 million, representing the value of pur-
chased in-process technology that had not yet reached
technological feasibility and had no alternative future
use. Accordingly, this amount was expensed in Compag’s
Consolidated Statement of Income during 1997.

Note 3. Restructuring and Asset Impairment Charges

In June 1998, Compaq’s management approved restruc-
turing plans, which included initiatives to integrate
Operations of Compaq and Digital, consolidate duplica-
tive facilities, improve service delivery and reduce
overhead. Total restructuring costs of approximately $1.~
billion were recorded in the second quarter related to
these initiatives, $1. 5 billion of which related to Digital
that was recorded as a component of the preliminary pur-
chase price allocation and $286 million of which related
to Compagq that was charged to operations.

The restructuring costs recorded in the second quar-
ter of 1998 were comprised of the following:

(IN MILLIONS) Compagq Digital Total

Employee separations $.132 8 908 $1,131

Facility closure costs 142 272 414
Relocation — 929 99
Other exit costs 12 88 100

Total accrued
restructuring costs $ 286 $1,458 1,744

At June 30, 1998, the Digital restructuring plans were

based on management’s best estimate of those costs based
on available information. The restructuring costs accrued
in June 1998 included estimates of the cost of invol-
untary employee separation benefits related to
approximately 19,700 employees worldwide (approxi-
mately 14,700 Digital employees and 5,000 Compagq
employees). Employee separation benefits include sever-
ance, medical and other benefits. Employee separations
affect the majority of business functions, job classes and
geographies, with most of the reductions occurring in
North America and Europe. The restructuring plans also
included costs associated with the closure offrz Himil-
lion square feet of office, distribution and manufacturing
space, principally in North America and Europe. Other
accrued restructuring costs relate to the relocation of
Digital employees, with the majority of this amount
attributable to relocations in North America and Europe,
and the cost of terminating certain Digital contractual
obligations. Compaq expects that most of the restruc-
turing actions will be completed by June 1999.

In the fourth quarter of 1998, Compaq adjusted the
Digital restructuring plan which resulted in a reduction of
$59 million of accrued Digital restructuring costs. This
reduction was recorded as an adjustment to the prelimi-
nary purchase price allocation during the quarter ended
December 31, 1998, There was fin adjustment to the
Compagq restructuring plan. The adjustment to the Digital
restructuring plan includes a $47 million net increase
in severance costs. This increase was primarily due to
higher than expected costs associated with workforce
reductions in Europe, partially offset by higher than
expected attrition rates. While the total Digital employ-
ee separation target of 14,700 is expected to be achieved,
Digital involuntary separations are expected to decrease
to approximately 12,400 as a result of the higher than
expected rate of attrition. The higher severance costs were
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more than offset by lower facility closure costs of $55 million, primarily due to lower than expected costs to dis-
pose of facilities. In addition, the estimate of employee relocation costs was reduced by $54 million due to a lower

than expected number of employees accepting relocation packages.

The accrued restructuring costs and amounts charged against the accrual as of December 31, 1998, were as follows:

(IN MILLIONS)

Employee separations

Facility closure costs

Relocation

Other exit costs

Total accrued restructuring costs

Cash expenditures are not reflective of the actual costs
incurred as of December 31, 1998 due to the impact of
regulatory guidelines in certain countries relating to the
timing of payment of severance benefits to affected
employees. As of December 31, 1998, employee separa-
tions due to restructuring actions totaled 10,542. Total
severance costs related to these individuals, including the
cash payments of $455 million already made, are approx-
imately $570 million. The total net headcount reduction
since the acquisition of Digital including attrition and
restructuring, partially offset by selective hiring, was
approximately 12,800.

During 1998, Compagq also recorded a $107 million
charge related to asset impairments. The asset impair-
ments resulted from the writedown to fair market value,
less costs to sell, for assets taken out of service and held
for sale or disposal. The majority of this charge related to
the impairment of $74 million of intangible assets asso-
ciated with the acquisition of a company during 1995
that developed, manufactured, and supplied fast ether-
net hubs, switches and related products. In May 1998,
management decided to close the manufacturing facility
and abandoned the technologies acquired through this
acquisition and discontinued all related products.

Note 4. Balance Sheet Components

Inventories consisted of the following:

DECEMBER 31 (IN MILLIONS) 1998 1997
Raw material $§ 404 $§ 439
Work-in progress 403 328
Finished goods 1,198 803

$2,005 $ 1,570

Beginning Cash Remaining
Accrual Expenditures Adjustment Accrual
$ 1,131 $ (455) $ o2

414 (42) (55) 317
99 (2) (54) 43
100 (76) 3 >
$ 1,744 $ (575) W 5%, $ 1,110

Property, plant and equipment consisted of the
following:

DECEMBER 31 (IN MILLIONS) 1998 1997
Land SR 49588 R8s
Buildings and leasehold

improvements 1,653 1,076
Machinery and equipment 2,927 2,892
Construction-in-process

and other 394 373

S223 4026

Less accumulated
depreciation 253211 2,041
$92.9020 5% 1,985

Depreciation expense totaled $606 million, $447
million and $387 million in 1998, 1997 and 1996,

respectively.

Intangibles and other assets consisted of the following:

DECEMBER 31 (IN MILLIONS) 1998 1997
Installed customer base SeltoOle e e
Proven research and
development 612 178
Trademarks 164 S
Other assets 2,119 751
4,096 934
Less accumulated amortization 455 305
$3,641 $ 629

Amortization expense totaled $287 million, $98
million and $96 million in 1998, 1997 and 1996,
respectively.
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Other current liabilities consisted of the following:

DECEMBER 31 (IN MILLION
S)
1998 1997

Salaries, wages and

related items WA e s

Deferred revenue 845
Accrued warranty 752 élé 7
Other accrued liabilities 2,758 1 40§

$ 5104 2170

Note 5. Credit Agreements and Financing Arrangements

In O‘ct'ober 1998, Compaq entered into a one-yea
$I.b1}110n unsecured revolving credit facility to re }l] ]
a similar facility that expired in September 1998. In Ediicf
;10{11,. Compagq he}s a ﬁve—year, $3 billion revolving credit
acility .that expires in September 2002. There were n
borrowings under these facilities during 1998 or 1997 :
: Il;)luge 1998, Compgq cornpleted a cash tender offf;r
or I igital debt securities with a fair value of $8
million, including accrued interest. Compaq paid 29
aggregate of $799 million (including accrued interestr)l
for the notes and debentures tendered. The untendered

balance of the
notes and debentures is i i
of the include
current liabilities. o

Note 6. Other Income and Expense

Other income and expense consisted of the following:

YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31

Note 7. Provision for Income Taxes

The components of income (loss)
income taxes were as follows:

YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31

(IN MILLIONS) 1998
Domestic $ (4,782)
Foreign 2’120

$ (2,662)

The provision for income taxes char

was as follows:

YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31

(IN MILLIONS) 1998
Current tax expense
(benefit)
U.S. federal $ (92)
State and local (9)
Foreign 312
Total current 211
Deferred tax expense
(benefit)
U.S. federal (429)
State and local (11)
Foreign 310
Total deferred (130)
Total provision SRl

1997

$ 1,789
969

$ 2,758

1997

$ 430
30
241
701

194

2

6

202

$ 903

1996
$ 929

954
$ 1,883

before provision for

ged to operations

1996

$ 672
34
238
944

(332)

(19
(28

(379
$ 565

(IN MILLIONS) 1998 o5y b The reasons for the diff
: or the differ :
Interest an Sl expense and amounts calculaigsezsli);;“tlﬁznljgcome e
income $ (287) $ ry rate of 35% were as follows: e
Interest (income) iaselc b es) .
expense associated (\'(’I‘E‘A’V’?'E'I\:gE‘g)DECEMBER g 19
with hedgin o 1907 1996
Other interistgexpense 162 (4) (3)  Tax expense (benefit) at
Currency losses, net 16 lgf i US Siatutory rate $(932) $ 965 $ 659
l\:/iiinority interest % Ililorelfindt & flfeCt, = ) (88) (105)
v on-deductible
Dthet 1ot 1?; = — purchased in-process
T 48 26 technology 1.119 73
(6918 %% 17 Reliasiot valuation 3 &
allowance
77
Other, net (1 1) gg; 1@)
$ 805 N0 86

)
)
)
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In connection with the 1998 and 1997 acquisitions,
Compaq recorded non-recurring, non-tax-deductible
charges for purchased in-process technology of approx-
imately $3.2 billion and $208 million, respectively. In
connection with the 1997 Tandem merger, Compaq
incurred $44 million of non-recurring, non-tax-deductible
merger expenses. The exclusion of these non-taxable
charges would result in effective tax rates of 15% and
30% in 1998 and 1997, respectively.

Compagq benefits from a tax holiday in Singapore

which expires in 2001, with a potential extension to
August 2004 if certain cumulative investment levels and
other conditions are maintained. Compagq has determined
that the undistributed earnings of its Singaporean man-
ufacturing subsidiary will be reinvested indefinitely. In
addition, Compaq has determined that the preacquisi-
tion undistributed earnings of the acquired Digital foreign
subsidiaries will be reinvested indefinitely. Undistributed
post-acquisition earnings of the Digital subsidiaries are
not reinvested indefinitely. As a result of these determi-
nations, no incremental tax is reflected for the earnings of
Compaq’s Singaporean manufacturing subsidiary or for
the pre-acquisition earnings of the Digital subsidiaries.
These earnings would become subject to incremental for-
eign withholding, federal and state income tax if they
were actually or deemed to be remitted to the U.S.
Compagq estimates an additional tax provision of approx-
imately $2.1 billion would be required if the full amount
of approximately $6 billion in accumulated earnings were
actually or deemed distributed to the U.S.

Compagq recorded a gross deferred tax asset of approx-
imately $2.8 billion upon the acquisition of Digital. This
gross deferred tax asset was reduced by a valuation
allowance of $562 million, resulting in a net increase in
the deferred tax asset of approximately $2.2 billion. The
valuation allowance is principally composed of pre-acqui-
sition tax loss carryforwards and credit carryforwards
incurred by Digital which management has determined
are more likely than not to expire unused. If it is subse-
quently determined that a portion of the Digital deferred
tax asset to which the valuation allowance relates should
be recognized, the tax benefit of such recognition will be
allocated to noncurrent intangible assets acquired in the
acquisition.

During 1998 the Company recorded $65 million of
other tax loss and credit carryforwards for which a full
valuation allowance was provided due to uncertainty sur-
rounding their realizability.

The valuation allowance was reduced by $77 million
to reflect Tandem credit carryforwards which, as a result
of the fourth quarter 1998 liquidation of the U.S. Tandem
parent company, are now believed more likely than not to
be realized. This reduction in the valuation allowance
resulted in a tax benefit as a component of the deferred
income tax provision.

Deferred tax assets (liabilities) are comprised of the

following:
DECEMBER 31 (IN MILLIONS) 1998 1997

Property, plant and

equipment $ 144 § —
Compensation accruals 227 —
Restructuring accrual 431 —
Post sales support and

warranty accruals 255 154
Receivable allowances 349 353
Inventory adjustments 182 99
Capitalized research and

development costs 679 95
Loss carryforwards 1,300 50
Credit carryforwards 411 119
Other 441 186

Gross deferred tax assets 4,419 1,056

Difference arising from
different tax and financial

reporting year ends — (254)
Intangible assets (715) (64)
Other (104) (73)

Gross deferred tax liabilities (819) (391)
Deferred tax asset

valuation allowance (684) (134)

$2916 8§ 55

Tax loss carryforwards will generally expire between
1999 and 2019. Credit carryforwards will generally
expire between 1999 and 2013. U.S. tax laws limit the
annual utilization of tax loss and credit carryforwards
of acquired entities. These limitations should not mate-
rially impact the utilization of the tax carryforwards.

Note 8. Stock Option Plans

Compaq maintains various stock option plans for its
employees. Options to employees are generally granted
at the fair market value of the common stock at the date
of grant and generally vest over four to five years. Options
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gifanted to employees under the Compag’s stock option
g;:sorfn;::nb:: exercised not later than ten years from the
e
is plan, em
employee directors are eligible toprece’ive oit?o}:se:oagllicrlllzlsle_
Compaq common stock. Up to 150 million shares may b
}ssued under this plan and will be drawn from either autﬁ i
1zed‘but previously unissued shares or from treasury sharor-
Optlong granted under this plan, except those grantede's'
connection with acquisitions (Note 2), are granted at t}lln
fair marl'<et value of the common stock at the date of rante
The vesting period and option life for grants to em li .
are at t'he discretion of the Board of Directors Thft e
for initial grants and annual grants to non-em l d?fms
tors are described below. e
Compa.q also maintains plans under which it offers
stock options to non-employee directors. Pursuant to
the terms of the plans under which directors are eligible
to receive thions, each non-employee director is 2gnti-
.tle.d. to receive options to purchase common stock u
initial appointment to the Board (initial grants) poz
upon subsequent reelection to the Board (annual gr -
Ir.utlal grants are exercisable during the periodgbint'S).
ning one year after initial appointment to the Board ilr?é

ending ten years after the date of grant. Annual grants
v;st over two years and are exercisable thereafter until
the tenth anniversary of the date of grant. Both initial
grants apd annual grants have an exercise price equal
to the fair market value of Compaq’s common stoclc:ua
the date of grant. Additionally, directors may elect (zn
receive stock options in lieu of all or a portion of tho
annual retainer to be earned. Such options are grant 5
at 50% of the price of Compaq’s common stocl% at tli
datg of grant and are exercisable during the perioj
beginning one year after the grant date and ending t
years after the grant date. The expense resultin ?r .
options granted at 50% of the price of Compa ’%c .
mon stock at the grant date is charged to o gr —
over the vesting period. i
fAt December 31, 1998, there were 374 million shares
of common stock reserved by the Board of Directors fo
1ssuance under all of Compagq’s stock option plans. F d
a.ll plans, options of 88 million, 71 million and : ('T
lion shares were exercisable at December 31, 1 9987 3Iml _
gnd 1996 with a weighted average exerc’ise pr’ice9?)7f
m1.111j76, $6.577 gnd $5.53, respectively. There were 217
Ulion, 64 million and 1or million shares available for

grant under the plans at Decembe
r3I
1996, respectively. 31, 1998, 1997 and

Ihe fOHO Wng table summarizes aCUVlty Lllldel the StOCk O[)tl()ll plaIlS fOr eaCh ()1 t] 1€ th[ee yea[s ended Decell lbe.t 3] Py 1998.

Options outstanding, December 31 , 1995
Options granted
Options lapsed or canceled
Options exercised
Options outstanding, December 31, 1996
Options granted ,
Options lapsed or canceled
Options exercised
Optioqs outstanding, December 31, 1997
Optfons granted in the acquisition of Digital
Options granted
Options lapsed or canceled
Options exercised
Options outstanding, December 31, 1998

Shares
In Mﬁ(i%ns Price Per Share WSll:ig;cr]et?gef‘éﬁ';iarge
164
o $ 5.94
o $4.71 - $22.39 14.11
8.61
(33) 0.38-13.46
163 ' 553
4(13) 2553738 27:17
11.57
1(§?) 0.79 - 25.96 6.26
13.63
25 5.94-39.23 2223
13 14.44 - 42.00 33135
(16) 21.84
1(2;) 1.30-39.23 11:39
16.37
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The following table summarizes significant ranges of outstanding and exercisable options at December 31, 1998:

Options Outstanding
Weighted

Average

Ranges of Shares Remaining

Exercise Prices In Millions Life in Years
under $5.00 31 3.3
5.01 to 10.00 32 6.2
10.01 to 15.00 16 6.6
15.01 to 20.00 26 77
20.01 to 25.00 7 7S
25.01 to 30.00 26 8.8
over $30.00 19 8.5

The fair value of the stock options granted in the
Digital acquisition was included in the purchase price of
Digital. Excluding options issued in the Digital acquisi-
tion, the weighted average fair value per share of stock
based compensation issued during 1998, 1997 and 1996
was $12.95, $9.74 and $6.55, respectively. The fair value
for these options was estimated using the Black-Scholes
model with the following weighted average assumptions:

YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31 1998 1997 1996
Expected option life

(in years) S 4
Risk-free interest rate 4.6% 6.0% 6.1%
Volatility 33.5% 33.3% 44.0%

Dividend yield 0.2% 0.2% —

The table that follows summarizes the pro forma effect
on net income (loss) if the fair values of stock based com-
pensation had been recognized in the year presented as
compensation expense on a straight-line basis over the
vesting period of the grant. The following pro forma
effect on net income (loss) for the years presented is not
representative of the pro forma effect on net income (loss)
in future years because it does not take into considera-
tion pro forma compensation expense related to grants
made prior to 1995.

Options Exercisable

Weighted Weighted
Average Average
Exercise Shares Exercise
Price In Millions Price
$ 3.16 31 $ 3.16
8.81 21 8.66
12.26 9 12.26
16.26 11 16.57
22.82 7 22.85
27297 S 27.98
85135 4 37.23
YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31
(IN MILLIONS, EXCEPT
PER SHARE AMOUNTS) 1998 1997 1996

Income (loss) before
provision for
income taxes:

As reported
Pro forma

Net income (loss):
As reported

$(2,662):$2,758 $1,883
(2.832) 2667 1,835

(25743)F 85513118

Pro forma (2,354) el o 6 5] 287
Diluted earnings (loss)
per share:
As reported (1571 1.19 0.87
Pro forma (C1577) 1.15 0.85

Note 9. Stockholders’ Equity

D1viDENDS. On December 10, 1998, Compaq announced
that the Board of Directors approved a cash dividend of
$o.02 per share of common stock, or approximately $34
million, to shareholders of record as of December 31, 1998
to be paid in 1999.

TREASURY sTOCK. On April 23, 1998, the Board of
Directors authorized a systematic common stock repur-
chase program. Compaq implemented this program in
May 1998. Compagq has repurchased approximately 11
million shares through December 31, 1998, for a cost
of approximately $384 million under this program.
The program was implemented to reduce the dilutive
impact of common shares issued under Compag’s equity
incentive plans.

by
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Note 10. Pension and Other Benefit Programs

DEFINED BENEFIT PENSION PLANS AND OTHER POSTRE-
TIREMENT EMPLOYEE BENEFIT PLANS (“OPEB pLANS™)
Upon consummation of the Digital acquisition, Compa :
assumed certain of Digital’s defined benefit pe;lsion alpn((il
QPEB p!ans. Digital employees who were eligible to par-
ticipate in the Digital plans at the time of the acquisifion
continue to be eligible to participate in these plans
Cornpaq also assumed the OPEB plans that provide med:
ical and dental benefits to Digital’s retirees and their eligibl
depender.lts in the U.S. and certain other locations i
Benefits under the defined benefit pension plr;ms are
generally based on pay and service. In the U.S., the mai
plan (which covers only certain ex-Digital e;n" i
a c'ash balance plan, under which the benefit
paid as a lump sum amount.
irlcThe d(lo;r;lpany’.s QPEB plans are funded as costs are
curred. 1he majority of these plans are contributor
Wlth Fontrlbutlons in many cases adjusted for gen yi
inflation or inflation in costs under the plan i
; The Company recorded an additional minimum liabil-
ity as of December 31, 1998 totaling $55 million ($38
m}lllon net of tax) for plans where the accumulated b .
efit obligation exceeded the fair market value of as -

ployees) is
is usually

Sets.

Th‘e pr.OJected benefit obligation, accumulated benefit
obligation and fair value of plan assets for which h1
gccumulated benefit obligations exceed plan assets a r;:
1mated.$1.1 billion, $994 million and $840 mli)ﬁio
re.spectlvely. The minimum liability recorded for pl 5
with an overfunded and underfunded status is as folfoi?:

DECEMBER 31, 1998

(IN MILLIONS) Underfunded Overfunded

Plans Plans Total
Plan status:
Accrued pension
liability
Prfepaid pension asset — ; l_g L
Minimum liability 4
required 76
Minimum pension vy o il
liability adjustment
reflected in compre-
hensive income
26
Tax benefit : 8) (zg) i
Minimum liability
reflected in compre-
hensive income (loss),
net of tax
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YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 1998 (IN MILLIONS)

Change in benefit obligation

Benefit obligation at beginning of year
Digital acquisition

Service cost

Interest cost :

Plan participants’ contributions
Actuarial (gain) loss

Benefits paid

Currency loss :
Projected benefit obligation at end of year

Change in plan assets L
Fair value of plan assets at beginning of year

Plan assets acquired through acquisition
of Digital

Actual return on plan assets

Employer contribution .

Plan participants’ contributions

Benefits paid

Currency gain "
Fair value of plan assets at end of year

Funded status

Unrecognized net actuarial (gain) loss
Prepaid (accrued) benefit cost
(measurement date October 31, 1998)
Contributions after measurement date
Prepaid (accrued) benefit cost

Amounts included in the Consolidated Balance
Sheet are comprised of:
Prepaid benefit cost
Accrued benefit liability i
Accumulated other comprehensive income

Net amount recognized

Information regarding Compaq’s defined benefit and OPEB plans is as follows:
n

Defined Benefit Pension Plans

us

2,181
37
87

17
(119)

2,203

$ 168

$ 168

$

Foreign

1,557
35
57

6
122
(37)
91
1,831

420
(180)

55

295

OPEB Plans
us Foreign
i $ sy
329 155
4 1
13 —
2 ==
14) 1)
(14) e
32_0 15
12 gt
2 S
(14) —
(320) (15)
(18) (1)
(338) (16)
3 e
$ (339) $ (16)
$ — $ —
(335) (16)
$ (33—5) $ (16)
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Defined Benefit Pension Plans

YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 1998

us
Weighted-average assumptions as of October 31
Discount rate 7.00
Expected return on plan assets 9.00
Rate of compensation increase 4.50
Health care cost trend rate,
current year N/A
Health care cost trend rate, ultimate year N/A
Trend rate decreases to the ultimate rate
in the year N/A
Components of net periodic benefit cost
(in millions)
Service cost SRS
Interest cost 87
Expected return on plan assets (126)
Curtailment (gain) —
Net periodic pension cost $ (2)

Assumed health care cost trend rates could have an
effect on the amounts reported for the health care plans.
A one-percentage point change in the assumed health care
cost trend rates would have the following effects:

(IN MILLIONS) 1% Point Increase 1% Point Decrease

Effect on total service and

interest cost components $ 4 $ 3
Effect on postretirement
benefit obligation $ 37 $ (32)

DEFINED CONTRIBUTION PLANS. Compagq has defined
contribution plans under which Compaq makes matching
contributions based on employee contributions. These
plans are intended to qualify as deferred compensation
plans under Section 401 (k) of the Internal Revenue Code
of 1986. Contributions are invested at the direction of
the employee in one or more funds, including a fund that
consists of common stock of Compaq. Amounts charged
to expense were $98 million, $48 million and $36 mil-
lion in 1998, 1997 and 1996, respectively.

INCENTIVE COMPENSATION PLAN. Compagq has an incen-
tive compensation plan for the majority of its employees.
Starting in 1998, payments under the plan are based on
a uniform percentage of employees’ base pay as deter-
mined by a matrix using return on invested capital and

OPEB Plans
Foreign us Foreign
% 5.75% 7.00% 5.25%
% 7.00% N/A N/A
% 3.25% N/A N/A
N/A 5.25% 5.5% to 8.5%
N/A 4.50% 3.5% to 5.5%
N/A 2001 2001 to 2003
o $ 4 $ 1
57 13 —
(79) s oz
(1) - i
$ S $ 1

customer satisfaction results. Prior to 1998, payments
were based on 6% of net income from operations, as
defined under the previous plan. Payments are made
semiannually. Amounts charged to expense were $68 mil-
lion, $109 million and $76 million in 1998, 1997 and
1996, respectively.

Note 11. Digital Summarized Financial Information
(Digital stand-alone)

In 1994, Digital sold to the public 16 million depositary
shares under a shelf registration, each representing a one-
fourth interest in a share of the Series A Preferred Stock, par
value $1.00 per share. Dividends on the Series A Preferred
Stock accrue at the annual rate of 8-7/18%, or $36 million per
year. The Series A Preferred Stock is not convertible into,
or exchangeable for, shares of any other class or classes of
Compagq stock. The Series A Preferred Stock is not
redeemable prior to April 1, 1 999. On or after April 1, 1999,
Compag, at its option, may redeem shares of the Series A
Preferred Stock, for cash at the redemption price per share
of $100 ($25 per depositary share), plus accrued and unpaid
dividends. The redemption is expected to occur on April 1,
1999. Compaq has guaranteed the dividend payments,
redemption price and liquidation preference of the Digital
Series A Preferred Stock. At December 31, 1998, there were
declared and unpaid dividends of $9 million. The minority
interest of $42.2 million on Compaq’s Consolidated Balance
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Sheet represents the fair value of the Series A Preferred Stock
as of the date of the Digital acquisition.

The summarized financial information for Digital and
its consolidated subsidiaries on a stand-alone basis is pre-
sented below. The financial information for the period
subsequent to the acquisition is based on the new basis of
accounting reflecting the amounts included in the pur-
chase price allocation resulting from Compaq’s
acquisition of Digital (see Notes 2 and 3), and is pre-
sented in accordance with generally accepted accounting
principles. The new basis of accounting adjustments
include (i) fair value adjustments to the historical basis
of assets and liabilities acquired, (ii) the fair value
assigned to intangible assets, including purchased in-
process technology and (iii) accrued restructuring charges.
Additionally, the Digital stand-alone financial informa-
tion includes an allocation of certain costs incurred by
Compagq including an allocation of $66 million of (i) costs
for administrative functions and services performed on
behalf of Digital by centralized staff groups within

Compagq, and (ii) Compag’s general corporate expenses.
The costs of these functions and services have been allo-
cated to Digital using methods that Compaq management

(IN MILLIONS) New Basis
For the period from
June 12, 1998
through
December 26, 1998
Revenue:
Products $ 2,898
Services 3,294
Total revenue $ 6,192
Gross margin:
Products 12027
Services 981
Total gross margin $ 2,008
Net income (loss) $ (2,966)1

(1) Net loss includes $3.2 billion for the write-off of purchased in-|

believes are reasonable. Such allocations are not neces-
sarily indicative of the costs that would have been
incurred if Digital had been a separate entity.

Although Digital financial information is presented on
a stand-alone basis, the companies are being managed
on a consolidated basis. The stand-alone Digital infor-
mation does not necessarily reflect the results that Digital
would have realized had the acquisition not occurred and
is not necessarily indicative of the future results of Digital.
Separate financial information and other disclosures con-
cerning Digital are deemed by management to not be
meaningful to holders of the Series A Preferred Stock.

(IN MILLIONS) New Basis Old Basis
December 26, 1998  December 27,1997
Current assets $ 4,781 $ 6,428
Non-current assets 6,704 2,365
Current liabilities 4,432 3,487
Non-current liabilities 545 1,910
Stockholders’ equity 6,508 3,396
Old Basis
For the period from
December 28, 1997 Year ended Year ended
through December 27, December 28,
June 11, 1998 1997 1996
$ 2,650 S 2008 S 72567,
25731 5,833 6,046
$ 5,381 $ 13,061 $ 13,608
$2 779 $ 2,636 $ 2,603
834 1,821 1,876
$ 1,613 $ 4,457 $ 4,479
SR 3) SE 275 e (B78)

process technology resulting from Compag’s acquisition of Digital.
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Note 12. Segment Data

Compaq manages its business segments primarily on a
geographic basis. The Company’s reportable segments
are comprised of North America and Europe, Middle
East and Africa (“EMEA”). Other operating s,egments
1nclu(.ie Japan, Greater China, Asia Pacific and Latin
Ame.rlca. Each operating segment provides products and
services as further described in Note 1.
The accounting policies of the various segments are
the same as those described in the “Summary of
Significant Accounting Policies” in Note 1. The Compan
evaluates the performance of its segments based on seg)-,
ment profit. Segment profit for each segment includes
sa}les and marketing expenses and other overhead charges
directly attributable to the segment and excludes certain
expenses which are managed outside the reportable seg-
ments. Costs excluded from segment profit primarily
consist of corporate expenses, including income taxes, as
well as other non-recurring charges for purchased’in-
process technology, restructuring and asset impairment
charggs and merger-related costs. Corporate expenses are
comprlsed primarily of research and development costs
certain costs related to the Digital integration, corporate,
marketing costs and other general and administrative
expenses which are separately managed. Compaq does
not include intercompany transfers between segments for
management reporting purposes. Segment assets exclude
corporate assets. Corporate assets include cash and cash
.equlvalents, short-term investments, manufacturing facil-
ities and intangible assets. Capital expenditures for
long-lived assets are not reported to management by seg-
ment and are excluded as presenting such information is
not practical.

Summary information by segment is as follows:

YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31

(IN MILLIONS)

North America:
Revenue:
Products
Services
Gross margin:
Products
Services
Segment profit

Interest expense

Depreciation and
amortization

Segment assets

EMEA:
Revenue:
Products
Services
Gross margin:
Products
Services
Segment profit

Interest expense

Depreciation and
amortization

Segment assets

Other segments:
Revenue:
Products
Services
Gross margin:
Products
Services
Segment profit

Interest expense

Depreciation and
amortization

Segment assets

1998

$13,411
1,341

2,884
345
1,666
124

100
3,126

$ 10,135
1,794

2,667
530
1,845
5]

37
4,028

$:3,720
768

833
231
339

15

88
3,020

1997

$ 13,101
168

3,584
36
2,587

108

61
1,924

$ 7,783
150

IS 7
32
1,484
6

24
1,814

1996

$10,448
164

2,783
45
240

65

61
23507

$ 6,398
107

1,669
32
1,078

44
1,950

$ 3238 'S 2065

144
820

41
349

10

29
1,217

107
587
31
137
8

27
15173
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A reconciliation of the Company’s segment gross
margin, segment profit and segment assets to the corre-
sponding consolidated amounts is as follows:

YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31
(IN MILLIONS) 1998

Segment gross margin ~ $ 7,690 $ 6,690 $ 5,147

Non-segment
gross margin (501)™ 61 v
Total gross margin 7080 86751 3554

1997 1996

Segment profit $ 3,850 $ 4,420 $ 3,230
Corporate expenses, net (2,923) " (1,410)7 (15295)
Purchased in-process

technology (3,196) (208) —
Restructuring and asset

impairment charges (393) — (52)
Merger-related costs — (44) —
Income (loss) before

provision for

income taxes

$ (2,662) $ 2,758 § 1,883

Segment assets $ 10,174 $ 4,955 $ 5,630
Corporate assets 12,877 9,676 6,701
Total assets $ 23,051 $14,631 $12,331

(1) Non-segment gross margin in 1998 primarily related to certain costs incurred
by Digital manufacturing operations which were not allocated to the geographic

segments for management reporting purposes.

Revenue and long-lived assets related to operations
in the United States and other foreign countries are as

follows:

YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31

(IN MILLIONS) 1998 1997 1996
Revenue:
United States $ 13,981 $12,593 $10,014
Other foreign
countries 17,188 11,991 9995,

Total revenue $ 31,169 $24,584 $20,009

Long-lived assets:

United States $ 5,490 § 1,693 $ 1,376
Other foreign
countries 1,053 921 866
Total long-lived
assets $ 6,543 § 2,614 § 2,242

Additional information regarding revenue by products
and services groups is as follows:

YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31

(IN MILLIONS) 1998 1997 1996
Revenue:
Enterprise $10,700 $ 8,660 $ 6,228
Commercial PC 11,621 11,558 10,533
Consumer PC 4,945 3,904 2,850
Services 3,903M 462 398
Total $ 31,169 $ 24,584 $ 20,009

(1) 1998 services revenue is presented on a management reporting basis and
includes $106 million of products revenue.

Note 13. Commitments, Contingencies, Financial
Instruments and Factors that May Affect Future
Operations

DERIVATIVE FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS AND FAIR VALUE
OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS. Compaq primarily utll.lzes
forward contracts and purchased foreign currency options
to reduce its exposure to potentially adverse changes in
foreign currency exchange rates. Compaq does not hold
or issue financial instruments for trading purposes nor
does it hold or issue interest rate or leveraged derivative
financial instruments.

Compagq’s program to reduce currency exposure asso-
ciated with the net monetary assets of Compaq’s
international subsidiaries includes agreements to exchange
various foreign currencies for U.S. dollars. At Dgcember
31, 1998 and 1997, such agreements to sell for.elgn cur-
rencies included forward contracts aggregating $2.7
billion and $1.5 billion, respectively. Generally, gains and
losses associated with currency rate changes on these for-
ward contracts are recorded currently to income and are
reflected in accounts receivable or other current liabili-
ties in Compag’s balance sheet, while the interest element
is recognized over the life of each contract. The amount
recorded in the balance sheet approximates the fair value
of such contracts at December 31, 1998 and 1997. The
maturity dates of the forward contracts which were out-
standing at December 31, 1998 ranged from two days to
nine months. . ;

From time to time, Compaq hedges a portion pf its
anticipated but not firmly committed sales of its inter-
national marketing subsidiaries using purchased foreign
currency options. Realized and unrealized gains and the
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net premiums on these options are deferred and recog-
nized as a component of revenue in the same period that
the related sales occur. Option contracts aggregating $394
million and $311 million were outstanding at December
31, 1998 and 1997, respectively, related to the hedge of
such sales for a nine-month period. The unrealized gains
deferred on these contracts were not material. In addition,
Compagq frequently utilizes forward contracts to protect
Compaq from the effects of currency fluctuations on antic-
ipated but not firmly committed sales which are expected
to occur within a three-month period. These forward con-
tracts generally do not extend beyond the end of any
quarter or year. Any gains or losses and the interest ele-
ment on these forward contracts are recognized as a
component of sales during each quarter.

Compaq may, from time to time, hedge commitments
for inventory purchases and capital expenditures and
other items constituting firm commitments. Any gain or
loss, if realized, or cost related to these contracts are
recorded as part of inventory or capital items upon acqui-
sition. At December 31, 1998 and 1997, there were no
contracts outstanding to hedge commitments for inven-
tory purchases and capital expenditures.

In the event of a failure to honor one of these forward
contracts by one of the banks with which Compaq has
contracted, management believes any loss would be lim-
ited to the exchange rate differential from the time the
contract was made until the time it was compensated.
To the extent Compaq has option contracts outstand-
ing, the amount of any loss resulting from a breach of
contract would be limited to the amount of premiums
paid for the options and the unrealized gain, if any, relat-
ed to such contracts.

Compagq enters into various other types of financial
instruments in the normal course of business. Fair val-
ues for certain financial instruments are based on quoted
market prices. For other financial instruments, fair values
are based on the appropriate pricing models using cur-
rent market information. The amounts ultimately realized
upon settlement of these financial instruments will depend
on actual market conditions during the remaining life of
the instruments. Fair values of cash and cash equivalents,
short-term investments, accounts receivable, accounts
payable and other current liabilities reflected in the
December 31, 1998 and 1997 consolidated balance sheet
approximate carrying value at these dates.

CONCENTRATION OF CREDIT RISK. Compag’s cash, cash
equivalents, short-term investments and accounts receiv-
able are subject to potential credit risk. Compag’s cash
management and investment policies restrict investments
to low risk, highly-liquid securities and Compaq performs
periodic evaluations of the relative credit standing of the
financial institutions with which it deals.
Compagq distributes products primarily through third-

party resellers and as a result, maintains individually
significant accounts receivable balances from various
major resellers. If the financial condition and operations
of these resellers deteriorate, Compaq’s operating results
could be adversely affected. One customer accounted for
8% of sales for 1998 and 9% of accounts receivable at
December 31, 1998. During this period, no other cus-
tomer of Compaq accounted for 3% or more of sales. In
1998, Compagq’s five largest resellers represented approx-
imately 19% of Compaq’s 1998 sales. The receivable

balances from Compag’s five largest resellers represented

approximately 16% of accounts receivable at December

31, 1998. Compaq generally has experienced longer

accounts receivable cycles in its emerging markets, in par-
ticular Asia Pacific and Latin America, when compared to
its U.S. and European markets. In the event that accounts
receivable cycles in these developing markets lengthen
further or one or more of Compaq’s larger resellers in
these regions fails, Compagq’s operating results could be
adversely affected.

CONTINGENCIES. Certain of Compaq’s resellers finance a
portion of their inventories through third-party finance
companies. Under the terms of the financing arrange-
ments, Compaq may be required, in limited circumstances,
to repurchase certain products from the finance compa-
nies. Additionally, Compaq has on occasion guaranteed
a portion of certain resellers’ outstanding balances with
third-party finance companies and financial institutions.
Guarantees under these and other arrangements were not
significant at December 31, 1998 or 1997.

Compagq offers lease financing of selected products to
its customers. Certain sales-type leases are originated by
Compagq and either sold on a nonrecourse basis or used
as collateral for borrowings from certain third-party
financial institutions. Generally, Compagq receives all pro-
ceeds at the inception of the lease. The third-party
financial institution assumes the credit risk and the
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administrative responsibility for the collection of the lease
receivables. In the event of a default by a lessee, the finan-
cial institution’s only recourse is generally limited to the
collaterized computer equipment. Compaq may be
required to use its “best efforts” to remarket the com-
puter equipment.

FACTORS THAT MAY AFFECT FUTURE OPERATIONS.
Compagq participates in a highly volatile industry that is
characterized by fierce industry-wide competition for
market share. Industry participants confront aggressive
pricing practices, continually changing customer demand
patterns, growing competition from well-capitalized high
technology and consumer electronics companies, and
rapid technological developments carried out in the midst
of legal disputes over intellectual property rights.
Compaq’s operating results could be adversely affected
should Compaq be unable to successfully integrate
acquired entities, anticipate customer demand accurate-
ly, maintain short design cycles while meeting evolving
industry performance standards, manage its product tran-
sitions, inventory levels and manufacturing processes
efficiently, distribute its products quickly in response to
customer demand, differentiate its products from those
of its competitors or compete successfully in the markets
for its new products.

Significant numbers of components are purchased from
single sources due to technology, availability, price, qual-
ity or other considerations. Key components and
processes currently obtained from single sources include
certain of Compagq’s displays, microprocessors, applica-
tion specific integrated circuits and other custom chips,
and certain processes relating to construction of the plas-
tic housing for Compagq’s computers. In addition, new
products introduced by Compagq often initially utilize
custom components obtained from only one source until
Compagq has evaluated whether there is a need for addi-
tional suppliers. In the event that a supply of a key
single-sourced material process or component were
delayed or curtailed, Compaq’s ability to ship the related
product in desired quantities and in a timely manner
could be adversely affected. Compaq attempts to miti-
gate these risks by working closely with key suppliers on
product plans, strategic inventories and coordinated prod-
uct introductions.

LiticaTioN. Compagq is subject to legal proceedings and
claims which arise in the ordinary course of business.

Management does not believe that the outcome of any
of those matters will have a material adverse effect on
Compagq’s consolidated financial position, operating
results or cash flows.

Five class action lawsuits have been consolidated in
the United States District Court for the Southern District
of Texas, Houston Division. The actions are purported
class actions of all persons who purchased Compaq com-
mon stock from July 10, 1997 through March 6, 1998,
and the named defendants include the Company and cer-
tain of its current and former officers and directors. The
complaints allege that the defendants violated Sections
10(b) and 20(a) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934
and Rule 1ob-§ promulgated thereunder by, among other
things, withholding information and making misleading
statements about channel inventory and factoring of
receivables in order to inflate the market price of
Compaq’s common stock, and further alleges that cer-
tain of the individual defendants sold Compaq common
stock at these inflated prices. Lead counsel for the plan-
tiff has been appointed. The plaintiffs seek monetary
damages, interest, costs and expenses. Compaq intends
to defend the suits vigorously.

Several purported class action lawsuits were filed
against Digital during 1994 alleging violations of the
Federal Securities laws arising from alleged misrepresen-
tations and omissions in connection with Digital’s
issuance and sale of Series A 8-7/8% Cumulative
Preferred Stock and Digital’s financial results for the quar-
ter ended April 2, 1994. During 1995, the lawsuits were
consolidated into three cases, which were pending before
the United States District Court for the District of
Massachusetts. On August 8, 1995, the Massachusetts
federal court granted the defendants’ motion to dismiss all
three cases in their entirety. On May 7, 1996, the United
States Court of Appeals for the First Circuit affirmed in
part and reversed in part the dismissal of two of the cases,
and remanded for further proceedings. The parties are
proceeding with discovery.

LEASE COMMITMENTS. Compaq leases certain manufac-
turing and office facilities and equipment under
noncancelable operating leases with terms from one to 30
years. Rent expense for 1998, 1997 and 1996 was $205
million, $13 5 million and $128 million, respectively.
Compagq’s minimum rental commitments under non-
cancelable operating leases at December 31, 1998 were
approximately $249 million in 1999, $177 million in
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2000, $123 million in 2001, $100 million in 2002, $67
million in 2003 and $133 million thereafter.

Note 14. Subsequent Events

In February 1999, Compaq announced the execution of a
definitive merger agreement with Zip2 Corporation, the
leading provider of Internet platform solutions for media
companies and local e-commerce merchants. The aggre-
gate purchase price is anticipated to be approximately
$300 million. Completion of the transaction is subject to
customary conditions, including clearance under the Hart-
Scott-Rodino Antitrust Improvements Act.

Selected Quarterly Unaudited Financial Data (not covered by report of independent accountants)

In January 1999, Compaq announced a cash tender
offer for all of the outstanding shares of common stock of
Shopping.com, an on-line retailer that offers Internet
shoppers an array of consumer products. In February the
offer was successfully concluded, with 96% of the shares
tendered. Compagq is proceeding with the steps necessary
to complete the merger, which is anticipated in March.
The aggregate purchase price for Shopping.com is antic-
ipated to be approximately $220 million. Completion of
the transaction is subject to certain conditions, includ-
ing clearance under the Hart-Scott-Rodino Antitrust
Improvements Act.

The table below sets forth selected unaudited financial information for each quarter of the last two years

(IN MILLIONS, EXCEPT PER SHARE AMOUNTS)

1998
Revenue
Gross margin
Net income (loss) (1)
Earnings (loss) per common share®
Basic
Diluted

1997
Revenue
Gross margin
Net income )
Earnings per common share (3)
Basic
Diluted

(1) Includes a $3.2 billion non-recurring, non-tax-deductible charge in the second quarter of 1998 and a $38 million non-recurring

1st quarter 2nd quarter 3rd quarter 4th quarter

$ 5,687 $ 5,832 $ 8,791 $10,859
1,023 1,110 2,185 2871
16 (3,632) 115 758

$ o0.01 8 (2.33)) $ 0.07 $ 0.45
$ 0.01 $ (2.33) SE0107 $ 043
$ 5272 $ 5,515 $ 6,474 $ 7,323
1,417 1,537 1 7 2,020
414 257 517 667

$ 028 SE0517 $ 034 $ 0.44
$ 027 $ 0.17 $ 0.33 $ 042

non-taxable credit in the fourth quarter

of 1 R ; £ . Tkt
998 for purc.hased in-process technology in connection with the Digital acquisition, and a $393 million charge for restructuring and asset impairments in the second
quarter of 1998 in connection with the Digital acquisition and the closing of certain Compaq facilities.

(2) Includes a $208 million non-recurring,

non-tax-deductible charge for purchased in-process technology in connection with the Microcom acquisition in the second

quarter of 1997, and $44 million of expenses related to the Tandem merger in the third quarter of 1997.

(3) Earnings per common share are computed independently for each of the quarters presented and therefore may not sum to the total for the year.

Disagreements on Accounting and Financial Disclosure

None.




Report of Independent Accountants

To the Stockholders and Board of Directors of
Compaqg Computer Corporation

In our opinion, the accompanying consolidated balance sheets and the related consolidated statements of income,
of cash flows and of stockholders’ equity present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of Compaq
Computer Corporation and its subsidiaries at December 31, 1998 and 1997, and the results of their operations and
their cash flows for each of the three years in the period ended December 31, 1998, in conformity with generally
accepted accounting principles. These financial statements are the responsibility of the Company’s management; our
responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements based on our audits. We conducted our audits of
these statements in accordance with generally accepted auditing standards which require that we plan and perform
the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free of material misstatement. An
audit includes examining, on a test basis, evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the financial state-
ments, assessing the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by management, and evaluating the
overall financial statement presentation. We believe that our audits provide a reasonable basis for the opinion

expressed above.

%MMCLW LLP

Houston, Texas

January 26, 1999,
except as to Note 14, which is as of February 16, 1999

Audit Committee Report

The Audit Committee of the Board of Directors is composed of four non-employee directors. The members of the Audit
Committee are: Robert Ted Enloe, III, Lawrence T. Babbio, Jt., Thomas J. Perkins and Kenneth Roman. The Committee
held eight meetings during fiscal year 1998. The Committee holds regularly scheduled meetings preceding the first meet-
ing of the Board of Directors each quarter.

The responsibilities of the Committee are set forth in its Charter, which is reviewed and amended periodically, as
appropriate. The Committee reviews and monitors the Company’s financial reporting process on behalf of the Board
of Directors. In fulfilling its responsibility, the Committee recommends to the full Board of Directors the selection of
the Company’s independent accountants. The Audit Committee discusses with the internal auditors and the inde-
pendent accountants the overall scope and specific plans for their respective audits. The Committee also discusses the
Company’s consolidated financial statements, the effectiveness and adequacy of the Company’s internal controls and
pending litigation. The Committee meets regularly with the Company’s internal auditors and independent account-
ants, without management present, to discuss the results of their examinations, their evaluations of the Company’s
internal controls, and the overall quality of the Company’s financial reporting. The meetings also are designed to
facilitate any private communication with the Committee desired by the internal auditors or independent accountants.

Audit Committee

Jipbe? 2 P T

RoBERT TED ENLOE, III
Chair



Market for Common Stock

Compagq’s common stock is listed on the New York Stock Exchange and trades under the symbol CPQ. As of ]am.lary
29, 1999, Compaq had approximately 89,000 shareholders of record. The reported high and low closing stock prices,
as reported on the NYSE Composite Transaction Tape, were as follows:

1998 1997

High Low High Low
1st Quarter $36.44 $23.25 $17.35 $ 14.40
ZHd%uarter 32.44 24.06 21.63 14.40
3rd Quarter 37150 27.94 39.13 20.38
4th Quarter 44 .31 24.06 38.63 26.66

DIVIDENDS AND DIRECT STOCK PURCHASE PLAN. Compagq paid its first quarterly dividend of $ o.o1§ per share to
shareholders of record on December 31, 1997 and increased this dividend to $0.02 per share with the dividend pay-
ment to shareholders of record on December 31, 1998. Compagq anticipates that the cash dividend will continue to
be paid on a quarterly basis. Compaq has established a direct stock purchase plan through which stockholders may
reinvest their dividends and invest additional amounts directly in Compaq common stock. Additional information
about the direct stock purchase plan is available at www.compagq.com/corporate/ir/si/irsi.html.

Executive Officers and Directors

Executive Officers

ECKHARD PFEIFFER
President and
Chief Executive Officer

ANDREAS BARTH
Senior Vice President and

General Manager,
Europe, Middle East and Africa

MicHAEL D. CAPELLAS
Senior Vice President,
Information Management and
Chief Information Officer

Hans W. GuTscH

Senior Vice President,

Human Resources,
Organization and Environment

MicuAEL D. HEIL

Senior Vice President and
General Manager,

Worldwide Sales and Marketing

Directors

MicHAEL J. LARSON
Vice President and Group General
Manager, Consumer Products

EArRL L. MAsoN
Senior Vice President and
Chief Financial Officer
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Shareholder Information

Compaq Computer Corporation
20555 State Highway 249
Houston, Texas 77070-2698
281-370-0670

FINANCIAL REPORTS

Financial reports, including the Form 1o-K, Form 10-Q,
and quarterly earnings releases, can be accessed and
ordered on our Web site at www.compaq.com.

You may also obtain financial documents by writing:
Compagq Investor Relations, MSt10312

P.O. Box 692000

Houston, Texas 77269-2000

or call 800-433-2391.

EARNINGS INFORMATION
Call 281-518-EARN or 281-518-3276 for a recorded
message.

ANNUAL MEETING

The Annual Meeting of Shareholders will be held April
22, 1999, at 10:00 a.m. in the Conference Center,
Building CCA 5, Compaq Computer Corporation, 20555
State Highway 249, Houston, Texas 77070-2698.

CoMMON STOCK AND DIVIDENDS

Compagq stock trades on the New York Stock Exchange
under the symbol CPQ. Cash dividends have been paid
since 1998. The current rate is $.02 per share per quarter.

INDEPENDENT ACCOUNTANTS
PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP
Houston, Texas

ComMmraQ ONLINE

For more information about Compagq, including our
worldwide operations, products and services, financial
performance and computing solutions for customers, visit
our Web site at www.compaq.com. Compaq’s 1998
Annual Report is also available on the Internet at
www.compaq.com/corporate/1998ar.

TRANSFER AGENT AND REGISTRAR

For information regarding Compagq’s Shareholder Investor
Plan that allows participants to purchase stock and rein-
vest dividends directly, securities transfer, lost certificates,
change of address, duplicate mailings or other matters
concerning your shareholder account, please contact the
transfer agent:

BankBoston, N.A.

c/o EquiServe

P.O. Box 8040

Boston, MA 02266-8040

888-218-4373

If outside the continental U.S. and Canada: 781-575-3170

TDD for the deaf, hard of hearing or speech impaired:
800-952-9245. Internet: www.equiserve.com

COMPAQ, the Compaq logo, TANDEM, AltaVista, ProLiant, the Digital logo and
AlphaServer Registered in U.S. Patent and Trademark Office. Better Answers is a
service mark of Compaq Computer Corp. MICROSOFT is a registered trademark
of Microsoft Corp. Intel Inside is a registered trademark of Intel Corp. Other prod-
uct names mentioned herein may be trademarks or registered trademarks of their

respective companies.

Copyright MCMXCIX Compag Computer Corporation. All rights reserved.
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third of the world market for Intel-based servers belongs to Compagq ProlLiant servers — from the largest global corporations
to small growing businesses — more than double the nearest competitor. | Compaq customers use more than 4 million
Compagq ProlLiant servers and TaskSmart™ Appliance Servers. | We provide fault-tolerant systems for more than 100 stock
and commodity exchanges, including 14 of the world’s 15 largest exchanges. | Eighty percent of all telecommunications

billing and customer care transactions in Europe and Asia depend on us. | Compaq AlphaServers and NonStop Himalaya™ |

servers power 95 percent of the world’s securities transactions and 80 percent of all ATM transactions. | Compaq is currently |
building the world’s largest and most powerful supercomputer for the U.S. Department of Energy, based on Alpha technology

We are delivering supercomputers to customers around the world. | Compag Enterprise Storage ships more Storage Area|
Networks (SANs) than anyone in the industry and continues to be the leader in capacity shipped with over 60 petabytes ir
2000. (A petabyte is equal to one million gigabytes.) | Compaq Global Services has 38,000 service professionals delivering

full lifecycle services in 202 countries. | Compaq Global Services has been delivering bet-your-business infrastructures for

|

years to thousands of enterprise companies. | Compagq excels at forging alliances with companies that are leaders in thei
ndustries and that complement Compagq’s strategy. | Compaq is number one in commercial PC global market share, and the ‘
\umber one company worldwide in home computers. | Compaq is now number one in high-performance technica
omputing. | Compaq powers 80 of the world’s largest Internet Service Provider sites with its ProLiant and Alpha servers.
\early a third of the world market for Intel-based servers belongs to Compaq ProlLiant servers — from the largest globa
corporations to small growing businesses — more than double the nearest competitor. | Compaq customers use mor
than 4 million Compaq ProLiant servers and TaskSmart Appliance Servers. | We provide fault-tolerant systems for moi
than 100 stock and commodity exchanges, including 14 of the world’s 15 largest exchanges. | Eighty percent of all

telecommunications billing and customer care transactions in Europe and Asia depend on us. | Compagq AlphaServers ar

NonStop Himalaya servers power 95 percent of the world’s securities transactions and 80 percent of all ATM transactions.

Compagq is currently building the world’s largest and most powerful supercomputer for the U.S. Department of Energy, based|
on Alpha technology. | We are delivering supercomputers to customers around the world. | Compaq Enterprise Storage|

|
ships more Storage Area Networks (SANs) than anyone in the industry and continues to be the leader in capacity shippec

with over 60 petabytes in 2000. (A petabyte is equal to one million gigabytes.) | Compaq Global Services has 38,000

T T ' . . ~am

“Most people know Compagq as the world's largest PC company. And we are. But
major businesses around the world also know us as one of the leaders in enterprise
computing. Customers depend on Compagq for innovative products, integrated into
solutions and delivered globally. They look to us to help them deploy Internet
solutions, build wireless networks, securely process billions of dollars in global
financial transactions, deliver multimedia content and entertainment and drive new
advances in genomics and other life sciences. Our high-performance NonStop
Himalaya and Alpha servers, our enterprise storage solutions and our market-

leading industry-standard ProLiant servers - together with the 38,000 professionals

Compaq is a global enterprise player

in Compagq Global Services — have helped make Compaq one of the top competitors
at every level of the Information Technology industry. Our global customers include
most of the major names in finance, telecommunications, manufacturing, life
sciences and e-commerce. With major alliance partners such as Microsoft, Oracle
and Intel — and 60,000 other partners — we are delivering the kind of end-to-end
solutions that our customers need to compete and win in tough global
marketplaces. Compaq is one of the few companies in the world that can put all the
pieces together, and make it work anywhere on the globe. To us, it’s all about

one thing: customer success.”
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It’s all about customer SUCCESS—’ That is the very essence of what we’re about at Compaq -

finding ways for our customers, from individuals to enterprises, to achieve success through our

technology and solutions. | We're doing this at a place called the “edge of the network.” This is

where millions of access devices, from personal computers and handheld devices, to bar code readers

and cellular telephones, tap the Internet for information from the vast infrastructure of servers,

storage and applications. | Perhaps more than any other Internet-ready company, we’re providing

the means for customer success in three ways:

Creating the infrastructure. British Telecom’s BT Ignite
Application Services is rolling out data centers across
Europe built around Compaq’s ProLiant servers.

infrastructure Fir ing the business-critical
and price-performance servers that make the Internet
work - the so-called infrastructure. We are the global
leader in storage area networks (SANs) and number two
across the industry in enterprise st e solutions. We
deliver the most powerful and reliable high-end servers,
with our NonStop Himalaya and Alpha servers —including

the world’s most powerful supercomputers. With our

global services and ability to provide servers and storage

systems that easily scale up as needed, we are helping
i t e world integrate the
nd their own customers and
ur ProLiant server family, we are the
tandard servers.

suppliers. And,

global leader in indu

Gaining access. Buyproduce.com has
gained a major share of the $200 billion
produce industry using Compaq access
devices, such as the iPAQ Pocket PC.

solutions Second, we're the leading company
in providing solutions with our best-in-class
alliance partners such as Microsoft, Oracle,
Intel and many, many others. Our Zero Latency
Enterprise, for example, combines our exper
tise in high-end servers, enterprise storage and
software integration with database and other
technology from partners such as Oracle to
help larger customers achieve instant access to
massive amounts of information in a real-time
enterprise. These partnerships not only extend
our market reach, they help us get to market
faster with technologies and solutions our
customers need.

access Third, we are defining the
generation of Internet ac

world’s finest personal computers and

our innovative jPA(

access devices
the Compaq iPAQ Pocket F

Desktop PC and the iPAQ Home Internet
Appliance. We're also integrating wirele
and broadband capabilities and new
content and services to make Internet
access easier, more pervasive and vastly

more productive.

All of these strengths come together for customers such as Buyproduce.com, which is transforming

the $200 billion fresh produce industry in the United States from one based on faxes and phone calls

to a 24x7 Internet-based commerce; for CLP Power in Hong Kong, which has embraced Internet

technology with Compag storage, systems and services; and for global telecom and datacom giant

Ericsson, which is outsourcing their computer support operations to Compag. | If knowledge

is power, then the promise of the Internet is the promise of empowerment. At Compag, we are

transforming our customers’ experience by acting as the unifying force across the Internet. It all

happens at the edge of the network.
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to our shareholders, customers, partners and employees

For Compag, 2000 was a year of significant progress — one in which we built a solid

foundation for profitable growth. The energy and enthusiasm of our employees were

higher than ever. Customer acceptance of our technology and solutions continued to

grow. And we accelerated our financial and market momentum.

It all added up to a solid operating performance:*
+ Revenue was up 10 percent.
« Gross margin was up almost one
percentage point.
+ Operating expenses were down more
than three percentage points.
« Operating profit was up more than
threefold.
« Earnings per share more than tripled
from 1999.

As we ended the year, the most important driver
of our success was our enterprise business —
particularly our high-end storage and server
businesses. This reflected the increasing number
of enterprise customers — from small businesses
to the largest global corporations —who are
turning to Compagq for the technology and
solutions they need to win in the marketplace.

You will see proof points of this success

throughout this annual report, but | want to

highlight a few of them here:

« Compagq supports 14 of the 15 largest
stock exchanges worldwide.

« We are the number one provider of Web servers.

+ We shipped more than one million servers
in 2000, giving us 27 percent market
share worldwide.

+ We shipped more storage capacity than the
next two companies combined.

« We were ranked number one in the highest
measure of system availability.

« And we took over the number one spot in
high-performance technical computing.

You will see examples throughout this report of
how we are working with telecommunications
companies to accelerate the wireless revolution;
how we are supporting groundbreaking advances
in genomics and other areas of scientific research;
and how we are making the Internet a valuable
business tool for companies of all sizes.

You will also see examples of how we’re breaking
new ground in Internet access, from our desktop
and notebook PCs to the next generation of
Internet devices.

Customers are turning to us because we are
differentiating Compagq in three important ways.
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Innovative products We have solidified Compaqg'’s
reputation as a leader in innovation. And it's the
most important kind of innovation: innovation
that enables customer success.

Integrated solutions Customers today want to
do business with companies that can deliver the
products, services and partnerships that make

up a solution. And Compaq is one of the few
companies that can put it all together on a global
scale — building on the strength of Compaq
Global Services and our broad global alliances.

Global delivery Our worldwide sales team —
including our resellers and other distribution
partners — has never been stronger or more
focused. Because our products and services are
sold in more than 200 countries, we're able to
serve the needs of our customers wherever they
do business.

As a result, we're expanding our leadership in
such key markets as telecommunications,
financial services, life sciences, e-government,
service providers, and media and entertainment.

Most important of all, we're delivering
profitable growth.

Year 2000 - Building the foundation

2000 was a year in which Compaq really

began to deliver consistent performance and
continuously improved execution. Our business
model is working.

]

Three things in particular stand out about
our performance.

First, we increased revenue and gross margin
while also reducing operating expenses. As a
result, we increased revenue by almost $4 billion
over 1999 and grew operating profit* by nearly
$2 billion. In other words, we were able to drive
about half of our revenue growth straight to the
bottom line.

One major factor was the turnaround in our
commercial PC business. Returning this business
to profitability was one of our top priorities in
2000, and we did it ahead of schedule. The result:
a $750 million year-over-year improvement in
operating profit and a business model focused
on leadership in innovation and long-term,
profitable growth.

Second, we demonstrated the depth and breadth
of our technology and solutions portfolio. Even
though the United States PC market weakened in
the fourth quarter, we were able to deliver solid
year-over-year improvement because of the
increasing strength of our high-end server and
storage businesses and the solid profitability of
our services business. In fact, our enterprise
businesses represented more than half of our
revenue and nearly 90 percent of business
segment operating profit in 2000.

'Operating results exclude net investment income (loss), restructuring and

related activities and gain on sale of businesses.

And third, we demonstrated the power of

our global balance. During the fourth quarter,

58 percent of our revenues came from outside the
United States. This strong international presence
offset the year-end weakness in the United States.
Looking ahead, we see significant opportunities to
grow our business around the world.

Overall, 'm pleased with the progress we made in

2000. Compagq has built a balanced, highly compet-

itive business model —a business model that
reflects our leadership as a global enterprise com-
pany. This gives us a solid foundation for growth.
But we have more to do. We want to accelerate
growth, continue to increase gross profit margins
and make our cost structure and supply chain
more efficient. We want to make Compaq Global
Services a competitive weapon, building on our
strengths in solutions integration and business
critical support. We want to take advantage of
our significant strengths in high-end systems,
software and storage. And we want to accelerate
our global expansion while continuing to improve
our execution.

If we do these things —and | am confident
that we will — we will create greater value for
our shareholders as well as for our customers,
partners and employees.

Innovation
Of all that we have accomplished, I'm most proud
of our record of innovation. When | became CEO,

I challenged the Compaq team to cut product
development cycles in half and to drive innovation
across our products and services. They delivered.

Our new iPAQ Pocket PC sets the standard for
handheld devices with its innovative design,
bright display and flexible expansion packs. We
also added other new products to the iPAQ family
in 2000, including an easy-to-use home Internet
appliance, a small personal audio player with the
highest quality sound I've ever heard from such a
device, a wireless home network gateway and a
handheld device that provides always-on, wireless
access to corporate e-mail. These products are all
part of our effort to define the next generation of
Internet access.

On the infrastructure side, we introduced the
AlphaServer GS series, which represented a break-
through in system architecture and performance.
We added to our family of TaskSmart appliance
servers to handle specialized tasks rapidly and
efficiently. We delivered a thin, two-processor
server that can be deployed quickly by service
providers and corporate data centers. And we
introduced a variety of innovative storage
solutions, from storage management software

to storage utilities that let customers get the
storage they need, when they need it.

We also continued to innovate in Web-based
services. Our Services @ Click Speed gives
customers and partners instant access to
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everything from installation and set up to
management and troubleshooting.

This e-services program is just one example of
how Compagq is fulfilling our vision of “everything
to the Internet.” A year ago this vision was a
rallying cry. Today it is embedded in our culture.

During 2000, we introduced an e-tracking system
that lets customers track their orders on the Web
from first entry to delivery. We're also deploying
Global Business Exchanges in partnership

with Commerce One. In this e-procurement
marketplace, customers can buy Compaq products
online and add other suppliers to the exchange
without having to build customized extranets
with each of their vendors.

In addition, we joined with some of our competi-
tors and supply chain partners to establish
Converge, an independent, online marketplace
for the high-tech industry. Through Converge,
members use the Internet to manage their supply
chains more efficiently, improve product and

service delivery and increase customer satisfaction.

Compaq is now a leader in using the Web to
drive more of our business and to enhance our
relationships with customers. In fact, in its annual
survey, InformationWeek magazine ranked
Compagq as one of the three most innovative
users of information technology.

Pervasive information

Innovation is vital to our success because
information technology is being transformed at
an ever-increasing pace — and we want to help
drive that transformation.

The world we see emerging is a world of pervasive
information in which billions of Internet access
devices will make growing demands on the
Internet infrastructure. Computing, communications
and data are converging in a way that allows
people to access information and make trans-
actions and decisions in real time.

One of the big drivers will be wireless commu-
nications. Market analysts expect the number of
wireless Internet access devices to grow to one
billion or more in the next three years —and that’s
probably conservative.

Users will expect more than just weather reports,
sports scores and stock market updates. They will
demand richer, interactive content, streaming
audio and video, peer-to-peer networking and
personalized, location-based services.

Most people believe that commerce will drive the
growth of the Internet. But | have a contrarian
view. | believe that content will lead commerce.
That’s why you see us building strong alliances
with industry-leading content companies such as
America Online, the Walt Disney Company, Yahoo!
and Microsoft.

Edge of the Web

On the access side, users will be able to choose
from a wide variety of devices with different forms
and functions, advanced user interfaces — like voice
recognition —and embedded services. The lines
between business and personal computing will
disappear because users will want access to all of
their information, wherever they are.

On the infrastructure side, there is a growing
need for huge data stores to manage all of the
content and transactions in real time. But more
and more of the content delivery will move to the
edge of the Web.

We define the edge of the Web as the place
where access and infrastructure meet. It is not

so much a physical space as a virtual space that is
closer to the user. This means content and services
can be delivered more quickly and reliably and
with greater personalization.

We believe that the edge of the Web is where the
action is going to be and that Compagq is uniquely
positioned to be the leader.

We deliver the access devices — from desktop
PCs to our growing iPAQ family of Internet
devices and appliances. We’re the undisputed
leader in industry standard servers, which form
the foundation of computing at the edge of the
Web. We provide the database and transaction
engines — as well as the storage systems — that

are the backbone of the Internet infrastructure.
We have the best-in-class partnerships and global
services that help tie it all together. As a result,
we deliver the comprehensive solutions our
customers need.

Continuous transformation

We live in a world of continuous transformation.
Companies must continue to evolve their strategies
to adapt to rapidly changing market and new
opportunities. It’s true for Compag, and it’s true
for our customers.

At Compaq, we have a real opportunity to
extend our leadership into the new world of
pervasive information by defining computing
and communications at the edge of the Web
while building on our traditional strengths in
infrastructure and access.

The result will be a company that is increasing
value for shareholders, creating new opportunities
for employees, expanding business with our
partners and delivering on our commitment to
customer success.

#48.

Michael D. Capellas
Chairman and Chief Executive Officer
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“Compaq has become a leader in powering
the enterprise because our customers have

chosen us to help them solve the complex

problems of doing business on a large scale.

Our story is their story.”

Michael D. Capellas




E-BUSINESS : S W ST ES SERVE 93 COUNTRIES IN 21 C ERENT LANGUAGES. | COMPAQE

TAKE CHARGE Compaq’s ProLiant servers have won nearly a third of the world market for Intel-based
servers — more than double the nearest competitor. Our customers have purchased more than 4 million
Compagq ProLiant servers and TaskSmart Appliance Servers —our new range of single-purpose servers,
optimized and tuned for one specific application. Our Industry Standard Server Group is also leading
the industry with our powerful 8-Way ProLiant servers, providing cost-effective power for the enterprise.
Nearly two-thirds of all Application Service Providers in North America run on ProLiant servers. And
Microsoft runs much of its business on ProLiant servers. Enterprise power of this magnitude depends
on more than just product excellence and innovative technology. Sophisticated and highly sought-after
management tools allow customers to get up and running faster, and ensure best performance and
increased availability. A complete range of services and software integration support make it all work
within the customer’s mix of products, along with turnkey solutions that add the depth, richness and
power that customers need to propel their own ideas to success.
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high-performance power

TAKE IT TO THE MAX That continuous and
comforting hum you hear at the core of the
Internet is the non-stop sound of Compaq’s
business-critical servers. Compaq powers 80 of
the world’s largest Internet Service Providers.
One hundred million wireless customers connect
through our systems, and 80 percent of all
telecommunications billing and customer care
transactions in Europe and Asia depend on us.
Our NonStop Himalaya and Alpha servers power
95 percent of the world’s securities transactions
and 80 percent of all ATM transactions. We're

breaking new ground with our Zero Latency
Enterprise solution, which enables up-to-the-
second information and response times at every
customer touch point in a large organization.
Compagq also delivers the high-performance
computing power behind pioneering developments
in bioinformatics and supercomputing. What sets
us apart? Absolute reliability, maximum power,
unlimited scalability and the tools and technology
that make it all easy to manage. More than that,
we excel at “interoperability.” We are one of the
few companies in the world that can take all the
pieces of a large, complex solution and make
them work together.

-

.
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The Securities Industry Automation
Corporation (SIAC) powers the New York
Stock Exchange...and Compaq NonStop
Himalaya servers help power SIAC.

MARKET READY

E INCREASED MO§R




IN 2000, INCLUDING WEB AND WEB-ENABLED SALES. | COMPAQ IS WORKING CLOSELY WITH COMMERCE (A, SAP, ORACLE AND OTHERS TO DRIVE COMPAQ’S LEADERSHIP AS AN IT SUPPLIER TO THE MAJOR E-MARKETPLACES.
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power in information

TWENTY-FIRST CENTURY POWER

When Hong Kong-based utility company

CLP Power needed a twenty-first century

e-commerce solution, they chose Compaq and
our Global Alliance Partner Microsoft to help their 4,000
employees support nearly two million customers. And to
back up their operating data they chose a Compagq
StorageWorks solution. Why? “Database recovery is a
complex task,” says CLP Power’s management services
manager and CIO Richard Brisbane-Cohen,“and simpli-
fication, when it is available, is a great opportunity. We
chose to deploy Compaq’s StorageWorks and SANworks

Data Replication Manager so that our data center
management operates in the most cost-effective and
efficient way.” CLP Power sees Internet-based techno-
logies as a key to the future.That's why they're also using
Compagq’s 8-Way ProlLiant servers, disk mirroring and
clustering, Microsoft Exchange e-mail and collaboration,
a Virtual Private Network that allows them to send secure

messages over the Internet, an R/3 enterprise manage-
ment solution from Global Alliance Partner SAP, and
Compagq Professional Services, which helped put it
all together

TAKE CONTROL Our Enterprise Storage Group delivers Compaq StorageWorks™ solutions and SANworks™ software
for modular, flexible and reliable enterprise solutions. Thought leadership and key partnerships —including storage
partner IBM — are helping Compaq drive open industry standards and interoperability to deliver the Open SAN, giving
customers the choices and flexibility they need for success. We are also pioneering the concept of the Storage Utility,
providing storage capacity on-demand, much the way a public utility supplies electricity to businesses and homes.
StorageNetworks, Inc., the world’s leading storage service provider and a Compag strategic partner, is using Compaq
storage technology in its Global Data Storage Network to give customers virtually unlimited data storage capacity
and capabilities. Our software, our Enterprise Network Storage Architecture, our ability to support multiple systems
and our ability to scale up at Internet speed — all make Compaq a market definer in the big business of storage.

P
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| REVENUE THROUGH THE BUSINESS-TO-BUSINESS ONLINE BUYING PROGRAMS IS GROWING AT MORE THAN 25 PERCEN%TH |

TAKE IT ON Our 38,000 Services and Support professionals provide the skills and expertise our customers
need to re-invent and maintain their businesses in 202 countries. Our consulting services have been
building bet-your-business infrastructures for more than 20 years for thousands of enterprises. Today, our
Solution Architects are helping to define e-business success — from the vision and architecture design all .
the way through to the solutions, infrastructure, management and support. As a result, our professional
services teams are recognized as among the most skilled in the industry. Similarly, our customer support
teams are winning business and praise by helping customers handle the demands of 24x7 e-commerce
on a global scale. Our online “Services @ Click Speed” is helping major companies implement end-to-end
e-commerce solutions. Also, Compaq partnered with Cable & Wireless to create the world’s first global,
end-to-end Application Service Provider (ASP), Cable & Wireless a-Services. In addition to being the first
worldwide prime integrator for Microsoft Windows 2000 and Microsoft’s Global Services Partner of the
Year, our Global Services teams and network of 30,000 partners provide continuous availability, security
and performance services for any type of hardware, software, operating system and network.

HOLD THE PHONE

o Nit 100
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COMPAQ IS A CO-FOUNDER OF CONVERGE, AN INDEPENDENT COMPANY THAT WILL OPERATE AN
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INTERNET MARKETPLACE T

N . i
O SERVE THE NEEDS OF THE HIGH-TECH SUPPLY-CHAIN COMMUNITY. | COMPAQ AND E-BUSIlyT|ONS ARE BEING DEPLOYED IN ALL SIX WORLDWIDE REGIONS TO WELL OVER 400 MAJOR AND GLOBAL ACCOUNTS.

partner power

TAKE IT FROM THE BEST It has become a cliché to say “No company can do it all.” Compag,
however, has been leading the IT industry for years in forging alliances tailored to the needs and
interests of customers. When our customers “buy Compag,” they’re also benefiting from the
capabilities of America Online, Cable & Wireless, Cisco, Commerce One, The Walt Disney Company,
Ericsson, Intel, KPMG, Microsoft, Oracle, SAP, Yahoo! and Siebel. These best-in-class Global Alliances
help us provide solutions and extend our brand all around the world. They are a primary pillar of our
strategy. And we work as hard at developing and refining our long-term relationships with these great
companies as we do at developing and delivering our products and services. But there is more to it
than that. We also maintain strategic partnerships with thousands of best-of-breed companies, from
independent software vendors to middleware and systems integration companies — all focused on
providing the exact solutions our customers want.

GLOBAL TRADING

COMMERCE A C)onirﬁerce One, the e~mar'kei?laces Mgr’g than twq}th'@rds of
ONE.e c-nwdzketplac? company, ;omnwercc O‘ne e»mavaketplaces use Compaq

is the leading force industry-leading ProLiant servers. As part of

behind the Global Trading Web — an ecosystem this Global Alliance, Compaq Global Services is
of interconnected business communities a tier one, preferred systems integration partner
allowing companies from anywhere in the for Commerce One worldwide. As partners, |

world to do business with any other company,
anytime. Here, buyers and sellers are able to
conduct business in everything from car
parts to computer chips. Today, Compagq is the
preferred platform provider for Commerce One

Compaqg and Commerce One work together to
simplify access and reduce the overall price of
entry into the new economy world of B2B
e-commerce solutions — a marketplace that
is expected to generate $2.7 trillion by 2004.
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| COMPAQ HAS WEB SITES THAT SERVE 93 COUNTRIES IN 21 DIFFERENT WSV NS BNV NN |\ -c o\ /R 3.5 MILLION PAGE VIEWS A DAY. | COMPAQ ACTIVEANSWERS ON COMPAQ.COM, IS THE FIR v‘ONLINE IT

access

TAKE THE LEAD Ifthe edge of the network is where infrastructure meets access,
then here is where you find the sharpest edge. A leader in commercial PC global
market share, our Commercial Personal Computing Group is revolutionizing the way
business is conducted. We provide wireless access to corporations and employees,

P o S

allowing them to send and receive e-mail and to connect to data on the Internet and
on their corporate intranets. Our access devices include the award-winning iPAQ
iy i Pocket PC with its unique expansion pack design, and the iPAQ BlackBerry™ Wireless
'8 E-mail Solution, an Always On, Always Con nected® real-time wireless e-mail device,
Wi offered in partnership with RIM® We also introduced the first iPAQnet solutions,
« which provide wireless computing with nationwide access to intranets and corporate
_‘? e-mail. In addition, we began shipping the iPAQ desktop, a Windows based, legacy-free
e desktop that originally established Compaq as a market leader in the access device
)00( ‘ space. In the traditional PC market, our Commercial Personal Computing Group
=3 continues to lead the industry in pioneering i-services, PC client manageability and
I lifecycle solutions for commercial users. The revitalized Deskpro™ products represent a
- major step toward helping customers eliminate the complexity of computing through

Intelligent Manageability features and online services. Also, we are the world’s top
supplier of workstations in the mechanical computer aided design (MCAD), and
architecture, engineering and construction (AEC) industries; our Armada portables
experienced record-breaking shipments in 2000; and we claimed the Best in Show
award at Comdex 2000 for the MP2800 — the world’s smallest projector.
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SOLUTIONS CENTER WHERE CUSTOMERS CAN EVALUATE, SIZE AND CONFIGURE PRODUCTS ONLININE SALES HAVE INCREASED MORE THAN 400 PERCENT IN 2000, INCLUDING WEB AND WEB-ENABLED SALES.

eLifestyle

Alhae SR
When SBC

telecommunications ¢

) promote its new
ice, they chose Comp

ped Presario and access to Proc

lay” promotion allowed customers t

TAKE IT HOME Today’s consumers are moving into a
world where the Internet brings digital music, movies and
other entertainment and communication anywhere they
want to be —inside or outside the home. We call that
“eLifestyle” and Compaq recognizes that owning a computer
is becoming only a part of making eLifestyle a reality. That’s
why Compagq’s Consumer Group introduced a family of
devices this year that enhance the value of a computer and
make the Internet accessible from anywhere:

« the iPAQ Home Internet Appliance, for specialized one-
touch Web and e-mail access. It was named The Best of
What’s New by Popular Science magazine and one of the
top 100 products of the year by Computer Shopper,

« the much acclaimed iPAQ Personal Audio Player, for easy-
to-personalize digital music in a case the size of a pager,

+ and the iPAQ Connection Point, for high-speed Internet
access with wireless freedom, flexible home networking,
and built-in firewall security.

Compaq’s Presario™ Internet notebooks and desktops are

the number-one selling home computers worldwide

because Compaq tailors consumer products to each region
of the world - from the language and software on a desktop
to the shopping experience inside a store or at one of our

Internet sites. Proof of our success in meeting regional

tastes is found in the double-digit and, in some countries,

triple-digit sales rates in Europe, Japan, Asia Pacific, Latin

America and Greater China.

PLUG AND PLAY
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TAKE ON THE FUTURE Compaq Corporate Research explores and extends the power of the edge

of the Net, developing new technologies for Compagq’s business units — including technology that
delivers information to the home, the office, data centers and on mobile and wireless devices. For
example, to help Compaq customers interact naturally with their hand-held products, Compaq research
has developed “Mercury”, a multimedia technology employing speech and vision applications to help
mobile users communicate. To help people deal with the explosion of online information, Research has
developed a way to use text, audio and video content to create a continuously updated repository of

billions of documents. Powerful applications then track changes in this information, even as they occur
at Internet speed.

ALPHA RULES

emanding telecom, financial performi
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global presence

TAKE IT FROM US While Compagq and its more than 30,000 service partners do
business in 202 countries, we manage the challenge of being a large company by
directing our energy toward two very important groups: our customers and our
people. It’s all part of our Balanced Scorecard - the way we measure and hold

our managers accountable for business performance, customer satisfaction and
employee morale. It means we’re working hard for our customers and we’re having
some fun while we’re at it. After just a year, the results are starting to show. Based
on 1999 results, we jumped from the 28th to the 20th largest U.S. company in the
Fortune 500, and from the 87th to the 70th largest international company in the
Global 500. And InfoWeek Magazine, which reports on how companies are using
Information Technology to run their businesses, ranked us 3rd on their list of Most
Innovative IT Users. More important, in another survey, they recognized Compagq as
the third ranked company in using IT innovations to support our customers, citing
our wide range of online services. Perhaps just as telling, Compaq was ranked the
8th Best Place to Work in the U.S. by BestJobsUSA.com. We like to think it’s also a
pretty good place to work in the other 201 countries where we do business.

Clockwise, from left: Stephanie Parrish, Program Manager, U.S.A., Jeff Chern, Enterprise Technical Trainer, Taiwan, Renel Lai, Technical Support, Hong Kong,
Petr Kosec, Technical Trainer, Czech Republic, Mia Bjorkil, Customer Advocate, Sweden, Nelly d’ Almeida, Consultants Sales Assistant, France, Marcelo Junio
Technical Trainer, Brazil, Carlos Yakas, Technical Support, Argentina
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community relations

Reading, writing and networking. Compaq is helping to close the digital divide at school by sponsoring
techs4schools Online Mentoring Program. It provides online assistance to U.S. schools that do not have a
computer specialist on-site.

TAKE CARE At Compag, we recognize the importance of helping everyone take advantage of the
Internet revolution. We believe technology and the Internet, when used effectively, can stimulate
learning, enrich lives and provide greater opportunities for the future. So we’re doing something
about it. In conjunction with TECH CORPS® the 10,000-volunteer member organization dedicated

to helping schools and teachers with education technology, Compaq is sponsoring techs4schools™
Online Mentoring Program. It provides online technical support to schools that cannot be reached by
volunteers. Technology experts are connected online with schools to help the resident technology
coordinators, teachers and students integrate new technology in the classroom and apply the

power and scope of the World Wide Web to education. techs4schools overcomes geographic and
demographic barriers to bring the best technical expertise around the country directly to the nation’s
schools. | And we continue to help out as a corporation and as motivated and caring individuals all
around the world. From helping children in Malaysia with personal computers, supporting a diabetes
center in Canada, providing technical support and services for Native Americans, fighting AIDS in
Africa, supporting efforts to find missing children around the world, to supporting the Boys and Girls
Club of Greater Nashua, New Hampshire, with a technology center, Compaq employees continue to
help improve the quality of life and the quality of lives everywhere they live and work.
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report of management

Responsibility for the integrity and objectivity of the financial information presented in this Annual Report rests with
Compag management. Compaq management believes that the accompanying consolidated financial statements fairly
present Compaq’s financial position, results of operations and cash flows in conformity with accounting principles
generally accepted in the United States. In preparing the consolidated financial statements, Compaq management
included amounts that are based on estimates and judgments which Compaq management believes are reasonable
under the circumstances.

Compag maintains an effective internal control structure. It consists, in part, of an organization with clearly defined
lines of responsibility and delegation of authority, comprehensive systems and control procedures and periodic structured
assessments. To assure the effective administration of internal control, Compagq carefully selects and trains its employees,
develops and disseminates written policies and procedures, provides appropriate communication channels and fosters
an environment conducive to the effective functioning of controls. Compaq management believes this structure provides
reasonable assurance that transactions are executed in accordance with management authorization and accounting
principles generally accepted in the United States. An important element of the control environment is an ongoing internal
audit program.

Compag management believes that it is essential for Compag to conduct its business affairs in accordance with the
highest ethical standards, as set forth in Compaq's Codes of Conduct. These guidelines, translated into numerous
languages, are distributed to employees throughout the world and reemphasized through internal programs to assure
that they are understood and followed.

Compagq retains independent auditors to audit Compaq’s consolidated financial statements. Their accompanying
report is based on an audit conducted in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States,
including a review of the internal control structure and tests of accounting procedures and records.

The Audit Committee of the Board of Directors is composed solely of outside directors and is responsible for |

recommending to the Board the independent auditing firm to be retained for the coming year. The Audit Committee meets
periodically and privately with the independent auditors, with Compaq’s internal auditors, as well as with Compaq
management, to review accounting, auditing, internal control structure and financial reporting matters.

YA S S

MicHAEL D. CAPELLAS JessE J. GREENE, JR.

Chairman and Senior Vice President,

Chief Executive Officer Finance and Administration,
and Chief Financial Officer

compaq computer corporation

. five-year financial summary

YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31

in millions, except per share 1mognti o 5 L 2000 1999 1998/ 17’7 a9 94, E39 6 {
STATEMENT OF INCOME
Revenue:
Products $35667 | $31,902  $27,372  $24,122  $19,611
Services | 6716 [ 0Bed AT o 888 398 |

Total revenue 42383 | 38525 31,169 24,584 = 20,009 |

Cost of sales:

Products 27,624 25,263 21,383 17,500 14,565
Services 4793 | 4535 2597 333 290
Total cost of sales 32,417 29,798 23,980 17,833 14,855
Selling, general and administrative expense 6,044 6,341 4978 2947 2,507
Research and development 1,469 1,660 1353 817 695
Restructuring and related activities ® (86) 868 393 — 52
Purchased in-process technology ©) ‘ — — 3,196 208 S8

Other (income) expense, net@ 1,664 | (1,076)  (69) 21 176
9091 | 7,793 9,851 3,993 3271

Income (loss) before income taxes 875 = 934 ”(2,76767'2) e 1,883 |
Provision for income taxes 280 365 81 903 565

Income (loss) before cumulative effect of - : Fean A e N
accounting change 595 569 (2,743) 1,855 1,318
Cumulative effect of accounting change, net of tax ) (26) | e i 8 Aok
Net income (loss) $ 569 ¢ 569  $(2,743) $ 1855  $ 1,318

 —— ———

Earnings (loss) per common share:

Basic:
Before cumulative effect of accounting change $ 035 S 5:0i35 S )i S (el ios $ 0.90
Cumulative effect of accounting change, net of tax (0.02) - — — —
5033 5 035 5 (L71) $ 123 5 090
Diluted: : B R SRR NG
Before cumulative effect of accounting change $ 0.34 S 034 5 iy RO i i $ 0.87

Cumulative effect of accounting change, net of tax (0.01) — e — e

$. 033 5 034 §(71) § 119 § 087

Shares used in computing earnings (loss)
per common share:

Bz.isic ; 1,702 1,693 1,608 1,505 1472 |
Diluted ‘ 1,742 4/ 3 1,608 1,564 1,516
Cash dividends per common share $ 0.10 $ 0.085 $ 0.065 $ 0.015 $ —

\
\
\
FINANCIAL POSITION ‘
\
\

Current assets $15,111 $13,849 $15,167 $12,017 $10,089
Total assets 24,856 27,277 23,051 14,631 12,331
Current liabilities 11,549 = 11,838 10,733 5,202 4,741
Long-term obligations | 575 = 422 = 300

12,080 14834 11351 9,429 7,290 }

Stockholders’ equity

(91998 results reflect the acquisition of Digital in June 1998.

@ i ; y
;:plesem‘s an ‘586 million release of restructuring reserves in 2000; an $868 million charge for restructuring and related charges in 1999; a $393 million charge
h! restructuring and asset impairments in 1998 in connection with the Digital acquisition and the closing of certain Compagq facilities; and a $52 million
charge related to restructuring actions taken by Tandem during 1996.

3)Re, ; N : B
3 P"fsf?fs fmn-recumng, non-tax-deductible charges associated with purchased in-process technology of $3.2 billion in connection with the Digital
cquisition in 1998, and $208 million in connection with acquisitions in 1997

@ Incl e SEE : ;
. udes a $1.8 billion charge for impairment of investments in 2000 and a $1.2 billion gain on the sale of an 81.5 percent interest in AltaVista in 1999.
ecti : p
(6)/ﬁ ; Ive January 1, 2000, Compagq adopted Staff Accounting Bulletin No.101, Revenue Recognition in Financial Statements, as amended.
nc illi Py Wiz
udes $422 million of minority interest acquired in 1998 related to Digital preferred stock which was redeemed in April 1999.

compagq computer corporation | 33
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management’s discussion and analysis

Founded in 1982, Compaq Computer Corporation
(“Compaq”) is a leading global provider of enterprise
technology and solutions. Compagq designs, develops,
manufactures and markets hardware, software, solutions
and services, including industry-leading enterprise
computing solutions, fault-tolerant business-critical
solutions, communication products, and desktop and
portable personal computers that are sold in more than
200 countries.

The following discussion should be read in conjunc-
tion with the consolidated financial statements. Certain
statements contained herein may constitute forward-
looking statements within the meaning of the Private
Securities Litigation Reform Act of 1995. These statements
involve a number of risks, uncertainties and other factors
that could cause actual results to differ materially, as
discussed more fully herein.

REsULTS OF OPERATIONS

Compaq completed the acquisitions of Digital Equipment
Corporation (“Digital”), Shopping.Com (“SDC") and Zip2
Corp. (“Zip2”) and purchased certain assets and liabilities
of InaCom Corp. (“Inacom”) in June 1998, February 1999,
April 1999 and February 2000, respectively. These trans-
actions were accounted for as purchases. In August 1999,
Compagq sold a majority interest in SDC, Zip2 and the
AltaVista Company, a business acquired in the Digital
acquisition (collectively “AltaVista”), to CMGl, Inc. (“CMGI”).
Accordingly, Compagq’s consolidated financial statements
include the results of operations from the respective
dates of acquisition through divestiture or December 31,
2000, as applicable.

During 2000, Compaq realigned the operations
of its Enterprise Solutions and Services segment,
which resulted in the formation of two reportable
segments: Enterprise Computing and Compaq Global
Services. These two segments accounted for 50 percent
of consolidated revenue and 86 percent of segment oper-
ating income in 2000. Compaq’s other two reportable
segments, Commercial Personal Computing and Consumer,
were unaffected by the realignment. Enterprise Computing
designs, develops, manufactures and markets advanced
computing and telecommunication products, including
business-critical servers, industry-standard servers and
storage products. Compagq Global Services delivers world-
wide infrastructure and solution design implementation,
management, and support services through Professional
and Customer Services. Commercial Personal Computing
delivers standards-based computing emphasizing Internet
access through workstations, desktops, portables, moni-
tors, Internet access devices and life-cycle management

34 | compaq computer corporation

products. The Consumer segment targets home users
with Internet-ready desktops and portables, printers and
related products, as well as Internet access and e-services,
Financial data for prior periods has been restated to
conform to the current presentation.

Summary financial data by business segment follows:

YEAR ENDED Decemeer 31

in millions e ! 2000 b 7179779”9 7712 2787
ENTERPRISE COMPUTING |

Revenue | 414,316 ‘ $12,974  $10,498

Operating income | 2,140 | 1201 948
CompaqQ GLOBAL SERVICES ‘ |

Revenue | 6,993 7,162 3,990

Operating income | 944 | 1,148 776
COMMERCIAL PERSONAL COMPUTING | i

Revenue 13,136 12,185 11,846

Operating income (loss) | 289 (448) (46)
CONSUMER | |

Revenue ‘ 7,586 5,994 4,932

Operating income ‘ 170 ‘ 262 183
OTHER 1 l

Revenue ‘ 352 210 (97)

Operating income (loss) 27 (281) (115)
CONSOLIDATED SEGMENT TOTALS [

542,383 | $38525 $31,169
' $3570  $ 1,882 $ 1,746

Revenue
Operating income

A reconciliation of Compag’s consolidated segmen
operating income to consolidated income (loss) befor
income taxes follows:

YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31

1998

} 2000

inmillions R i 1999
Consolidated segment ‘ ‘
| $3,570 | $1,882

operating income $ 1,746

Corporate and unallocated
shared expenses (1L,117) | (1,156) (888)
Restructuring and related ‘

activities ‘ 86 (868) (393)

Purchased in-process technology | — — (3,196)
Other income (expense), net | (1,664) | 1076 69
Income (loss) before |

income taxes | S 875 | S 934 $(2,662)

OVERVIEW

Compagq reported 2000 consolidated revenue of $42.4 billio
an increase of $3.9 billion, or 10 percent, compared wit
the prior year. Strong growth in Consumer, Enterpris
Computing and Commercial Personal Computing drov!
higher revenue. Consolidated revenue in 1999 increase
$7.4 billion, or 24 percent, compared with 1998 primaril
due to higher revenues from Compaq Global Service
Enterprise Computing and Consumer. Revenue in 199
reflects the acquisition of Digital from June 1998 throug
the remainder of the year while 1999 and 2000 revenu
reflects Digital amounts for the entire year.

| management’s discussion and analysis |

Consolidated gross margin of $10.0 billion (23.5 per-
cent of revenue) in 2000 improved 0.9 percentage points
compared with the prior year reflecting Compaq’s strategy
to drive profitable growth. Stronger margins in Commercial
Personal Computing and Enterprise Computing led to the
overall improvement in gross margin. Consolidated gross
margin declined 0.4 percentage points in 1999 compared
to 1998, primarily due to lower margins in Commercial
Personal Computing.

Consolidated operating expense was $7.5 billion in
2000, a decline of $488 million, or 6.1 percent, compared
with 1999. As a percentage of revenue, operating expense
declined significantly to 17.7 percent from 20.8 percent in
the prior year due to solid execution of spending discipline.
Operating expense increased $1.7 billion, or 26 percent, in
1999 compared with 1998 primarily as a result of the
Digital acquisition.

The effective tax rate was 32 percent for the year
ended December 31, 2000 compared with 39.1 percent
for 1999. The higher effective tax rate in 1999 was primar-
ily due to the gain on sale of businesses and restructuring
and related charges.

Consolidated net income of $569 million was
unchanged from the prior year. Earnings per diluted com-
mon share were $0.33 for the year ended December 31,
2000 compared with $0.34 in 1999. Consolidated net
income included a $1.1 billion, net of tax, impairment
charge for certain equity investments in 2000, while 1999
consolidated net income included a $670 million, net of
tax, gain on sale of a business and a $600 million, net
of tax, charge for restructuring and related activities. The
consolidated net loss of $2.7 billion in 1998 included a
one-time charge for purchased in-process technology of
$3.2 billion related to the acquisition of Digital.

Effective January 1, 2000, Compaq adopted Staff
Accounting Bulletin No. 101, Revenue Recognition in
Financial Statements, as amended (“SAB 101”), issued by
the Securities and Exchange Commission in December
1999. Compag’s adoption of SAB 101 resulted in a change
in the method of accounting for certain product ship-
ments. The cumulative effect of this change was $38 million
($26 million, net of tax). This accounting change did not
have a material effect on revenue or quarterly earnings
during 2000. Compagq has restated its results for the first
three quarters of the year ended December 31, 2000,

as reflected in the Selected Quarterly Financial Data
on page 66.

ENTERPRISE COMPUTING

Enterprise Computing revenue increased $1.3 billion, or
10 percent, in 2000 compared with the prior year and
represented 34 percent of consolidated revenue. In 1999,
revenue from this segment increased $2.5 billion, or
24 percent, compared with 1998. Enterprise Computing
revenue consisted of the following:

YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31

| 2000 | 1999 1998 |

155847 | $ 4604 ¢ 4529 |

in millions

Industry Standard Servers %)

Storage Products 5240 | 5,066 3,444
Business Critical Servers @) 3226 | 3228 - 2334 |
Other ; 3 [N R e

| $14,316 | $12974 $10498 |

WCompaq AlphaServer™ and ProLiant™ systems product revenue does
not include attached and enterprise storage, which is captured in
Storage Products.

Industry Standard Servers revenue grew 27 percent
during 2000 compared with the prior year. Revenue bene-
fited from higher average unit prices, which were aided by
mid-year component shortages and a richer server mix.
Demand was strong across all regions as both corporate
and Internet service provider customers continued to build
out their data centers. Revenue growth was strongest in
the Compagq ProLiant™ dense rack-optimized server line as
an increasing number of customers valued the simplicity
and space-saving economies provided by dense servers.
Also, higher-end server revenue was strong with solid sales
in industry-leading 4-way and 8-way servers. In 1999,
Industry Standard Servers revenue benefited from a higher
market share in North America compared with 1998.

Storage Products revenue increased 3 percent during
the year. Strong growth in enterprise storage, which
consisted of external storage, software and high-end
tape, was offset by lower attached storage. Enterprise
storage growth was driven by solid sales in software and
strong acceptance of Compaq’s Enterprise Network
Storage Architecture solutions. Revenue benefited from
an increase in overall storage capacity shipped of 67 per-
cent to 70,000 terabytes during the year, partially offset
by aggressive price declines per unit of capacity. Storage
Products revenue growth in 1999 resulted primarily from
the Digital acquisition.

compaq computer corporation BSA}
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management’s discussion and analysis

Business Critical Servers revenue was essentially
unchanged in 2000 compared with the prior year due to
product transition to the Compaq Alpha™ GS Series and
related component shortages which have since been
resolved. The increase in Business Critical Servers revenue
in 1999 was primarily due to the acquisition of Digital.

Enterprise Computing operating income increased
$939 million, or 78 percent, in 2000 compared with the prior
year due to strong revenue growth and higher gross mar-
gins, as well as lower operating expenses. Margins improved
due to a mix shift toward the high-end and increased
enterprise storage. Strong demand for industry standard
servers drove higher average unit prices. Operating expense
declined in whole dollars and as a percentage of revenue
in the Enterprise Computing segment due to a continued
focus on cost control and expense reduction. Operating
income improved in 1999 compared with 1998 due to
stronger performance in Storage Products, a decline in
operating expense as a percentage of revenue and a full
year of Digital business.

ComPAQ GLOBAL SERVICES

Compaq Global Services revenue decreased $169 million,
or 2 percent, in 2000 compared with the prior year and
represented 16 percent of consolidated revenue. Compaq
Global Services revenue consisted of the following:

YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31

inmillions 20004 ) 1995 ) 1998
Customer Services @ $4,336 $4,356 $2,462 |
Professional Services @ 2,657 2,806 1,528 i

G e | 56093 [ 87360 53990 |

(2Compaq Global Services revenue includes revenue from the sale of
products made in connection with providing solutions and services
to customers.

Adjusted for the effects of currency, Compaq Global
Services revenue increased 3 percent. The decline in Compaq
Global Services revenue during the year was primarily a
result of lower Professional Services revenue. Adjusted for
the effects of currency, Professional Services revenue was
essentially unchanged. Compag has narrowed its focus for
Professional Services to target areas of opportunity that
are consistent with its Internet-related service strategy
and continues to realign its workforce to support growth
plans. Customer Services revenue grew 5 percent adjusted
for the effects of currency, in line with the market. Such
growth was aided by strong attachment of services with
product sales and continued penetration of business-
critical services. Compaq Global Services revenue increased
$3.2 billion, or 79 percent, in 1999 compared with 1998,

36 | compaq computer corporation

%]

benefiting from a full year of the Digital business acquired
in June 1998. Customer Services benefited from significant
growth in Asia-Pacific, Latin America and Greater China,
reflecting recovery from Asian and Latin American economic
crises. Revenue also improved as a result of growth in soft-
ware support and business-critical services. Outsourcing
business and e-business strengths favorably impacted
Professional Services revenue.

Compaq Global Services operating income declined
$204 million, or 18 percent, in 2000 compared with the
prior year. Given the substantial portion of international
business within Compagq Global Services, currency declines
significantly impacted operating income during 2000
While profitability in the Customer Services busines
remains strong, Professional Services operating result
were lower primarily due to workforce rebalancing an
reskilling. Operating expense increased primarily due t
investment in direct sales capability. Operating incom
was higher in 1999 compared with 1998 primarily due t
a full year of Digital business.

COMMERCIAL PERSONAL COMPUTING

Commercial Personal Computing revenue increase
$951 million, or 8 percent, in 2000 compared with th
prior year and represented 31 percent of consolidate
revenue. Revenue grew across all regions, benefiting fro
higher unit sales of portables and Compaq iPAQ™ prod
ucts, offset in part by lower unit sales of desktops. |
1999, Commercial Personal Computing revenue increas
$339 million, or 3 percent, compared with 1998. Overa
unit sales growth in 1999 was partially offset by declinin
average unit prices, which were lower due to competiti
pricing and a shift in product mix. Demand for portabl
products shifted from higher-end mobility and power fi
lower cost during 1999.

Compagq completed the purchase of key assets fro
Inacom during the first quarter of 2000 and subsequent
established Custom Edge Incorporated as a wholly own
subsidiary (also known as Compaq Direct). This purchas
adds custom configuration capabilities and direct fulfil
ment logistics that enable Compaq to better meet custom
needs in North America.

| management’s discussion and analysis

Commercial Personal Computing operating income
increased $737 million, from a loss of $448 million in
1999 to income of $289 million in 2000. Operating results
strengthened dramatically due to continued improvement
in the business model, including integration of Compagq
Direct’s fulfillment capacity, and successful reduction of
operating costs. Profitability also benefited from a favor-
able shift in product mix to higher margin portables and
supply chain efficiencies. Operating expense declined due
to persistent focus on streamlining processes and increas-
ing efficiencies. Commercial Personal Computing operating
loss increased $402 million in 1999 as compared with
1998 due primarily to lower gross margins which resulted
from average unit prices falling faster than costs. Costs
for processors, memory and hard drives for desktops and
portables declined during the year. Gross margin also
suffered from aggressive competitive bidding. Operating
expenses declined slightly in 1999 as a percentage of
revenue due to an increased focus on sales and marketing
spending as well as support costs.

CONSUMER

Consumer revenue increased $1.6 billion, or 27 percent, in
2000 compared with the prior year and accounted for
18 percent of consolidated revenue. Consumer revenue
benefited from strong international sales growth, partic-
ularly in Asia-Pacific and Latin America. Higher unit sales
of desktops and portables also contributed to revenue
growth. The Consumer segment continues to hold the
number one worldwide consumer PC market share posi-
tion (according to International Data Corporation). The
“beyond the box” business, which includes internet access,
Internet traffic, printers, software, financing and warranty
upgrades, increased 86 percent compared with the prior
year. Consumer revenue increased $1.1 billion, or 22 per-
cent, in 1999 compared with 1998. Revenue benefited
from high unit growth driven by strong consumer
demand, partially offset by a decline in average unit
prices. Component costs continued to decline, which
allowed Compagq to reach lower price points, thus spurring
consumer demand. An increase in international sales also
drove total revenue higher, particularly in Latin America
and Asia-Pacific. Higher revenue from Internet access and
traffic benefited the Consumer segment in 1999.

Consumer operating income declined $92 million,
or 35 percent, in 2000 compared with the prior year. The
decline in operating income was primarily due to a down-
turn in the U.S. consumer PC market that occurred late in
the fourth quarter of 2000. Higher component costs also
contributed to lower operating income. Operating
expenses were relatively unchanged as a percentage of
revenue. Consumer operating income increased $79 mil-
lion, or 43 percent, in 1999 compared with 1998. The
increase in operating income was attributable to higher
revenue, which resulted in higher gross margin in absolute
dollars, and slightly lower operating expenses as a percent-
age of revenue.

CORPORATE AND UNALLOCATED SHARED EXPENSES

The results of the business segments exclude separately
managed corporate and unallocated shared expenses,
which consisted primarily of general and administrative
costs as well as other items not controlled by the business
segments. Corporate and unallocated shared expenses
declined from $1.2 billion in 1999 to $1.1 billion in
2000. Corporate and unallocated shared expenses
increased $268 million in 1999 due to higher information
management, acquisition integration and other general
shared costs.

RESTRUCTURING AND RELATED ACTIVITIES

During 2000, Compaq substantially completed all of the
actions contemplated under the 1998 and 1999 restruc-
turing plans. In December 2000, Compagq reversed excess
reserves of $86 million for employee separations, facility
closure costs and other costs related to the 1999 plan.
Accrued costs under both plans at December 31, 2000
included amounts for actions that have already been taken,
but for which expenditures have not yet been made.

In September 1999, Compaq’s management approved
a restructuring plan to realign Compaq’s organization,
reduce infrastructure and overhead, and eliminate excess
and duplicative facilities. Restructuring and related
charges of $868 million ($600 million, net of tax) were
expensed. These charges were composed of $787 million
of accrued restructuring costs, $58 million of related
asset impairment charges and a $23 million pension
curtailment loss to recognize a change in Compaq’s
projected pension benefit obligation in connection with
employee separations. Costs for employee separations
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related to approximately 7,000 employees worldwide
affecting the majority of business functions, job classes
and regions, predominantly occurring in North America
and Europe. Employee separation benefits include sever-
ance, medical and other benefits.

In June 1998, Compaq recorded a restructuring
charge of approximately $1.7 billion to integrate the oper-
ations of Compaq and Digital, consolidate duplicative

facilities, improve service delivery and reduce overhead.
Approximately $1.5 billion was related to the acquisition
of Digital and recorded as a component of purchase
accounting and $286 million related to Compaq and was
charged to operations. During 1998, Compaq also recorded
a $107 million charge related to asset impairments.

An analysis of the accrued costs and amounts charged
against the provision follows:

Expenditures December 31,

Beginning December 31,
inmillions SE I P TR R A P Accrual 77§xpenv§jtur§§7 e a8, 50 and Adjustments 2000 |
1999 Plan i &
Employee separations | 491 S (68) $ 423 $(321) $102
Facility closure costs i 96 — 96 (50) 46
Contract cancellation and other exit costs b 200 ~ (167) 33 (28) 5 |
Sust Ty s Uy ey $(399) $153
1998 Plan
Employee separations 51,131 $ (962) $ 169 $(106) $ 63
Facility closure costs 414 (184) 230 (124) 106
Relocation ; 99 (65) 34 (18) 16
Other exit costs i r 300+ 0 ) Bne W 5
1,744 5(1,294)  $ 450  $(260) $190
sas3 s(s29) 1002 s(ese) 9343 |

Employee separations related to the 1998 and 1999
restructuring plans were 1,100 and 4,900, respectively,
during 2000. Total employee separations related to the
1998 and 1999 restructuring plans were 23,400 as of
December 31, 2000.

OTHER INCOME AND EXPENSE

Other income and expense changed from income of
$1.1 billion in 1999 to a $1.7 billion expense in 2000,
primarily due to a gain on sale of businesses recorded in
1999 and an investment impairment charge recorded
in 2000. In August 1999, Compagq sold an 81.5 percent
equity interest in AltaVista for approximately 38 million
CMGI common shares, CMGI preferred shares convertible
into 3.6 million CMGI common shares and a $220 million
three-year note receivable. Total consideration received
from CMGI was valued at $1.8 billion. After adjusting
for the net assets sold and for the expenses associated
with the divestiture, Compagq realized a gain of approxi-
mately $1.2 billion ($670 million, net of tax). Compaq
recorded a $1.8 billion ($1.1 billion, net of tax) impair-
ment charge during 2000 for certain equity investments,
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principally Compaq's CMGl investment, that were judged
to have experienced an other than temporary decline
in value. Excluding the investment impairment charge
noted above, net investment income was $188 million
($122 million, net of tax) in 2000 compared with $67 mil-
lion ($44 million, net of tax) in 1999.

PURCHASED IN-PROCESS TECHNOLOGY

As previously reported, upon consummation of the Digital
acquisition in June 1998, Compaq expensed approximately
$3.2 billion of purchased in-process technology that
had not yet reached technological feasibility and had

no alternative future use. The value was determined by

estimating the costs to develop the purchased in-process
technology into commercially viable products, estimat-
ing the resulting net cash flows from such projects and
discounting the net cash flows back to their present values.
If these projects are not successfully developed, Compaq’s
revenue and profitability may be adversely affected in
future periods. Additionally, the value of other intangible
assets acquired may become impaired. Compaq is contin-
ually monitoring its development projects and as expected
in the normal course of product development, certain
projects have experienced delays and other projects aré
being evaluated due to changes in strategic direction and
market conditions.
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LiQuIDITY AND CAPITAL RESOURCES

Compagq’s cash and cash equivalents decreased to
$2.6 billion at December 31, 2000, from $2.7 billion at
December 31, 1999. The decrease resulted primarily
from $1.2 billion used in investing activities, offset in
part by $565 million and $298 million provided by oper-
ating activities and financing activities, respectively.

Net cash of $565 million provided by operating
activities consisted primarily of net income adjusted for
non-cash items of $3.1 billion, offset by $3.0 billion used in
working capital and other activities. Net cash used in work-
ing capital and other activities resulted primarily from an
increase in receivables and other assets as well as cash
payments for restructuring activities, partially offset by an
increase in other current liabilities. Days sales outstanding
were 53 days and 52 days for 2000 and 1999, respectively.
From time to time, Compaq may sell accounts receivable
when it is economically beneficial. Accounts receivable sold
were $328 million and $238 million at December 31, 2000
and 1999, respectively. Inventory turns were 14.4 and 14.8
in 2000 and 1999, respectively.

Net cash of $1.2 billion used in investing activities
resulted primarily from the following items. Compaq
paid cash of $370 million for the acquisition of Inacom.
Compagq also used cash of $1.1 billion for capital expen-
ditures, net of disposals. Cash of $364 million was used in
other investing activities. These items were partially offset
by a $636 million decrease in short-term investments.

Cash provided by financing activities of $298 million
consisted primarily of increases in long-term debt and
short-term borrowings of $575 million and $258 million,
respectively, partially offset by common stock transac-
tions of $365 million and dividends paid to stockholders
of $170 million.

Estimated future uses of cash in 2001 include capital
expenditures for land, buildings and equipment of
approximately $1.0 billion, purchases of equipment to be
leased to third parties of approximately $475 million and
approximately $630 million for the repurchase of Compagq
common shares.

Compagq also plans to use available liquidity to develop
the purchased in-process technology related to the
Digital acquisition into commercially viable products.
At December 31, 2000, the estimated costs to be incurred
to develop the purchased in-process technology into com-
mercially viable products totaled approximately $1.4 billion
in the aggregate through the year 2004 ($430 million
in 2001, $420 million in 2002, $380 million in 2003 and
$200 million in 2004).

Compagq currently expects to fund expenditures for
capital requirements as well as liquidity needs from a
combination of available cash balances, internally gener-
ated funds and financing arrangements. Compagq has
a $2.2 billion revolving credit facility that expires in
September 2001 and a $3.0 billion revolving credit facility
that expires in October 2002. The facilities bear interest
at LIBOR plus 0.625 percent and LIBOR plus 0.325 percent,
respectively. Both of these facilities were unused at
December 31, 2000 and 1999. Compaq also operates two
short-term commercial paper programs: a $1.5 billion
program in the name of Compaq Computer Corporation
and a $1.0 billion program in the name of Compaq
Financial Services Corporation (“CFS”). Both programs are
supported by the $3.0 billion credit facility. Outstanding
commercial paper reduces available borrowings under
this credit facility. At December 31, 2000, Compaq had
$418 million and $218 million in commercial paper out-
standing under the Compaq and CFS programs, respectively,

with a weighted average interest rate of 7.5 percent. The
carrying amounts of the borrowings under the commercial
paper programs approximate their fair value. Additionally,
Compaq maintains various uncommitted lines of
credit, which totaled approximately $275 million at
December 31, 2000. There were no outstanding borrow-
ings against these lines at December 31, 2000 and 1999.
Compaq believes that these sources of credit provide
sufficient financial flexibility to meet future funding
requirements. Compagq continually evaluates the need to
establish other sources of working capital and will pursue
those it considers appropriate based upon its needs and
market conditions.

[
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Compagq filed a $2.0 billion shelf registration state-
ment for debt securities with the Securities and Exchange
Commission during the second quarter of 2000. In August
2000, Compaq placed under the registration statement
$300 million of unsecured 7.65 percent notes that mature
on August 1, 2005, and $275 million of unsecured 7.45 per-
cent notes that mature on August 1, 2002 (collectively, the
“Notes”), unless previously redeemed. Interest will be paid
on the Notes on February 1 and August 1 of each year,
beginning on February 1, 2001. The fair value of the Notes
approximates carrying value. The financing is for general
corporate purposes (including investments in CFS and other
subsidiaries), capital expenditures, and repayment of out-
standing indebtedness (including commercial paper issued
for working capital purposes). Compag has the capacity to
issue an additional $1.4 billion of debt securities under the
shelf registration statement.

Factors THAT MAY AFFeECT FUTURE RESULTS

Compagq participates in a highly volatile industry that is
characterized by intense industry-wide competition.
Industry participants confront aggressive pricing prac-
tices by competitors, continually changing customer
demand patterns and rapid technological developments.
The following cautionary statements discuss important
factors that could cause actual results to differ materially
from the projected results contained in the forward-
looking statements in this Annual Report.

COMPONENT SHORTAGES COULD CURTAIL PRODUCTION. From
time to time, supply for key components in Compaq’s
products lags behind worldwide demand. In the event
that supply of a key material component is delayed or
curtailed, Compaq’s ability to ship the related product
in desired quantities and in a timely manner could be
adversely affected. Compaq attempts to mitigate the risks
of component shortages by working closely with key
suppliers on product plans, coordinated product intro-
ductions, purchases on the spot market and selected
strategic purchases.

compaq computer corporation
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DELAYS IN IMPLEMENTATION OF CHANGES IN DELIVERY MODELS
COULD NEGATIVELY AFFECT FINANCIAL REsULTS. Compagq
sells directly to end users in all market sectors, but th
largest proportion of direct sales is in large enterpris
accounts. Products in Commercial Personal Computin
are sold primarily through third-party resellers whil
products in Consumer are sold principally through retaij
outlets. As compared to Compaqg, many Compaq competi
tors sell a higher percentage of their personal computei
products directly to end user customers. Direct sales ma
afford such competitors an advantage that will allo
them to price products lower than Compaq’s product
are priced or to compete on terms of service tha
Compagq cannot match. Compaq has established a varie
of programs designed to achieve similar operationa
capabilities by simplifying its product-set and pricin
model, re-engineering the channel delivery model an
more rapidly expanding e-commerce capabilities fol
large, medium and small businesses.

COMPETITIVE ENVIRONMENT PLACES PRESSURE ON REVENUE
GROSS MARGINS AND MARKET SHARE. Competition remain
intense in the information technology industry with
large number of competitors vying for customers and ma
ket share, domestically and internationally. Competitioi
creates an aggressive pricing environment, which continu
to put pressure on revenue, gross margins and mark
share, which is particularly acute during market slowdown:

UNANTICIPATED DELAYS IN PRODUCT SCHEDULES COUL
AFFECT PRODUCT DEMAND. The process of developing ne
high-technology products and services is complex an
often uncertain. Successful product transitions and deplo
ment of new products requires accurate predictions of t
product development schedule as well as volumes, pro
uct mix, customer demand and configuration. Compa
may also anticipate demand and perceived market acce
ance that differs from the product’s realizable custom
demand and revenue stream. Further, in the face
intense competition in the industry, any delay in a ne!
product rollout could decrease any advantage Compa
may have to be the first to market. A failure on the parto
Compagq to carry out a product rollout in the time fra
anticipated and in the quantities appropriately matchi
current customer demand could directly affect the futu
demand for the product and the profitability of Compag
operations.

management’s discussion and analysis

NEW FORM FACTORS INTRODUCE UNCERTAINTY INTO THE
MARKET. The increasing reliance on the Internet is creating
new dynamics in the computer industry. As businesses
and consumers turn to the Internet, speed and connec-
tivity may become more critical than stand-alone power
for client devices. Compaq is introducing a new genera-
tion of Internet devices built around simple form factors,
customized functions and wireless mobility. Compaq’s
products will vie for customer acceptance and market
share against those of computer companies as well as con-
sumer electronics and telecommunications companies.
Hardware products, which are Compaq’s traditional area
of strength, may become less important than service
offerings in attracting and retaining customers. In addi-
tion, as new form factors are adopted, sales of traditional
personal computers may decline.

CHANGES IN THE SERVICES BUSINESS COULD ADVERSELY
AFFECT EARNINGS. Compaq’s Global Services business has
traditionally provided services that included the design
and implementation of high-end proprietary systems. If
the trend for design and implementation of systems
continues to move from proprietary environments to
industry standard products, Compagq will need to continue
and accelerate retraining its services personnel to compete
in the new environment. There can be no assurance that
Compaq will be able to successfully continue training,
attracting and retaining the necessary personnel to achieve
this transition as Compagq adapts its service practices to
changing conditions.

COMPETITION FOR TALENTED EMPLOYEES COULD HAMPER
BUSINESS OPERATIONS. Compagq, like all technology
companies, must compete for talented employees in a
market where the demand for such individuals exceeds
the number of qualified candidates. As a result, Compag’s
human resources organization focuses significant efforts
on attracting and retaining individuals in key technology
positions internationally. These efforts have generated
positive results in terms of both reducing attrition rates
and filling openings created by prior employee losses.
Declining stock market prices, however, make retention
more difficult as prior equity grants contain less value and
key employees pursue equity opportunities elsewhere.
Should Compaq experience a substantial loss of talent or
?n inability to attract talent for key openings, particularly
In critical markets, the resulting talent gaps could impact
Compaq’s ability to meet its business objectives.

CREDIT RISKS COULD INCREASE IF FINANCIAL CONDITION OF
RESELLERS OR EQUIPMENT LESSEES ERODES. Much of
Compagq’s revenue results from selling products through
distributors and resellers. Compaq continually monitors
and manages the credit it extends to distributors and
resellers and attempts to limit credit risks by utilizing risk
transfer arrangements and obtaining security interests.
The industry’s trend from indirect sales models to direct
sales models may reduce the market opportunities for
the number of distributors or resellers in the market.
Compagq’s business could be adversely affected in the
event that the financial condition of its distributors and
resellers erodes. Upon the financial failure of a distribu-
tor or reseller, Compagq could experience disruptions in
distribution as well as a loss associated with the unse-
cured portion of any outstanding accounts receivable.
Additionally, through its wholly owned subsidiary, CFS,
Compagq provides information technology leasing and
financing solutions to customers. As a consequence,
Compaq is exposed to the risk that lessees will be unable
to make required lease payments and to the risk that
leased equipment will be worth less upon its return
to Compaq than was estimated at lease inception. While
Compaq believes that its allowances for credit losses are
adequate and that its estimates of the residual value of
leased equipment are reasonable, there can be no
assurance that such allowances will cover actual losses or
that estimated residual values will be realized.

DELAYS IN NEW SYSTEMS IMPLEMENTATION COULD HAMPER
OPERATIONAL EFFICIENCY. Compaq continues to focus on
increasing the effectiveness and efficiency of its business
and information management processes to increase
customer satisfaction, improve productivity and lower
costs. In 2001, Compaq is focusing on improvements
required to support more direct sales and changes in
manufacturing supply chain operations. Efforts to
improve systems infrastructure and increase system
security could be hampered by the need to balance
increased operational efficiency against budgetary
constraints. Delays in implementing further improve-
ments could adversely affect inventory levels, cash and
related profitability.
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QUARTERLY SALES CYCLE MAKES PLANNING AND OPERA-
TIONAL EFFICIENCIES DIFFICULT. Compaq, like other
computer companies, generally sells more products in
the third month of each quarter than in the first and
second months. This sales pattern places pressure on
manufacturing and logistics systems based on internal
forecasts and may adversely affect Compag'’s ability to
predict its financial results accurately. In addition, to
rationalize manufacturing utilization, Compaq may build
products early in the quarter in anticipation of demand
late in the quarter. Developments late in a quarter, such
as lower-than-anticipated product demand, a systems
failure, or component pricing movements, can adversely
impact inventory levels, cash and related profitability in
a manner that is disproportionate to the number of days
in the quarter affected.

MINORITY INVESTMENTS COULD ADVERSELY AFFECT LIQUIDITY
AND EARNINGS. Compaq holds minority interests in
companies having operations or technology in areas
within Compagq’s strategic focus. Some of these invest-
ments are in research and development, start-up or
development stage companies or companies where oper-
ations are not yet sufficient to establish them as going
concerns. As a result, Compaq may be called upon under
contractual or other terms to provide funding for opera-
tions of such companies and may share in the losses of
such entities. Certain investments are in publicly traded
companies whose share prices are highly volatile. Adverse
changes in market conditions or poor operating results of
underlying investments could result in Compagq incurring
losses or an inability to recover the carrying value of its
investments.

DOING BUSINESS IN CERTAIN LOCATIONS CREATES ADDITIONAL
rRisks. Manufacturing operations in developing countries,
such as Brazil and China, and the expansion of sales
into economically volatile areas such as Asia-Pacific,
Latin America and other emerging markets, subject
Compagq to a number of economic and other risks, such
as financial instability among resellers in these regions
and the volatility of economic conditions in countries that
are dependent on exports from the U.S. and European
markets. Compaq generally has experienced longer
accounts receivable cycles in emerging markets, in
particular Asia-Pacific and Latin America, when compared
with U.S. and European markets. Compaq is also subject
to any political and financial instability in the countries in
which it operates, including inflation, recession, currency
devaluation and interest rate fluctuations. Compaq
continues to monitor its business operations in these
regions and takes various measures to manage risks in
these areas.

Lﬁ
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EXPENSE CONSTRAINTS COULD IMPEDE OPERATIONS. Compagq
is focused on bringing its operational expense to appro-
priate levels for each of its businesses while simultaneously
implementing extensive new programs. The significant risks
associated with these actions include the failure to expend
sufficient revenue generating advertising and marketing
funds, unanticipated consequences of reductions in person-
nel devoted to ongoing programs, and the failure to meet
operating expense targets by not matching commitments
in new programs to reductions in ongoing programs.

Income TAXES. Compaq anticipates an effective tax rate of
30 percent for 2001. Compaq’s manufacturing entity in
Singapore is subject to a tax holiday that is not expected to
extend beyond 2001. Compagq’s tax rate has historically
been heavily dependent upon the proportion of earnings
derived from its Singaporean manufacturing subsidiary
and its ability to reinvest those earnings permanently
outside the United States. If Compaq’s intercompany trans-
fer pricing with respect to its Singaporean manufacturing
subsidiary for prior years requires significant adjustment
due to audits or regulatory changes, Compagq’s overall tax
rate could increase.

At December 31, 2000, Compaq had a deferred tax
asset of $379 million related to net operating loss carry-
forwards which, if not utilized, will generally expire between
2001 and 2020 and credit carryforwards of approximately
$1.1 billion, which, if not utilized, will generally expire
between 2001 and 2014. Compagq had a valuation allowance
of $434 million as of December 31, 2000 against the net
operating loss and credit carryforwards. Compaq has
considered future taxable income and ongoing prudent
and feasible tax planning strategies in assessing the need
for the valuation allowance. In the event Compaq were to
determine that it would not be able to realize all or part o
its net deferred tax asset in the future, an adjustment to
the deferred tax asset would be charged to income in the
period such determination was made.

CURRENCY FLUCTUATIONS. Compagq’s risks associated with
currency fluctuations are as follows.

sion and analysis |
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MARKET RISKS

Compaq is exposed to market risks, which include
changes in U.S. and international interest rates as well as
changes in currency exchange rates as measured against
the U.S. dollar and each other. Compaq attempts to reduce
these risks by utilizing derivatives and other financial
instruments.

Compaq uses market valuations and value-at-risk
valuation methods to assess the market risk of its finan-
cial instruments and derivative portfolios. It uses soft-
ware by RiskMetrics to estimate the value-at-risk of its
financial instruments and derivative portfolios based on
estimates of volatility and correlation of market factors
drawn from RiskMetrics data sets for the dates calcu-
|ated. RiskMetrics defines loss as a reduction in the value
of a portfolio in the event of adverse market conditions,
using a predetermined confidence interval, over a speci-
fied period of time. Compag included all fixed income
investments, interest rate swaps, and foreign exchange
contracts in the value-at-risk calculation. See Note 1 and
Note 13 in the Notes to the Consolidated Financial
Statements for further information regarding these
instruments. The holding period for these instruments
varies from one day to nine months, with the exception
of instruments held by CFS which have holding periods
up to four years. The measured value-at-risk from holding
derivative and other financial instruments, using a 95 per-
cent confidence level and assuming normal market
conditions during the years ended December 31, 2000
and 1999, was immaterial.

The value of the U.S. dollar affects Compag’s
financial results. Changes in exchange rates may posi-
tively or negatively affect Compaq's revenues, gross
margins, operating expenses and retained earnings as
expressed in U.S. dollars. Compaq engages in hedging
programs aimed at limiting in part the impact of
currency fluctuations. Compagq primarily uses forward
exchange contracts to hedge those assets and liabilities
that impact the income statement when remeasured
according to accounting principles generally accepted
in the United States. For some markets, Compaq has
determined that ongoing hedging of non-U.S. dollar net
monetary assets is not cost effective and instead
attempts to minimize currency exposure risk through
working capital management. There can be no assurance
that such an approach will be successful, especially if a
significant and sudden decline occurs in the value of local
currencies. Compaq purchases foreign currency option
contracts from time to time as well as short-term forward

exchange contracts to protect against currency exchange
risks associated with the anticipated revenues of Compag’s
international marketing subsidiaries, with the exception
of certain subsidiaries that reside in countries in which
such activity would not be cost effective or local regu-
lations preclude this type of activity. These hedging
activities provide only limited protection against currency
exchange risks. Factors that could impact the effective-
ness of Compaq’s hedging programs include accuracy of
sales forecasts, volatility of the currency markets and
availability of hedging instruments. All currency contracts
that are entered into by Compaq are components of
hedging programs and are entered into for the sole
purpose of hedging an existing or anticipated currency
exposure, not for speculation. Although Compaq maintains
these programs to reduce the impact of changes in
currency exchange rates, Compaq’s revenues or costs are
adversely affected when the U.S. dollar sustains a strength-
ening position against currencies in which Compag sells
products and services or a weakening exchange rate
against currencies in which Compaq incurs costs.

Changes in interest rates affect interest income
earned on Compagq’s cash equivalents and short-term
investments, and interest expense on short-term borrow-
ings. Compaq does not enter into derivative transactions
related to its cash, cash equivalents or short-term invest-
ments. Compagq does periodically enter into interest rate
swap transactions for the purpose of hedging existing or
anticipated liabilities. All interest rate swaps entered into
by Compagq are for the sole purpose of hedging existing
or anticipated interest rate sensitive positions, not for
speculation.

Compaq is exposed to equity price risks on the
marketable portion of investments in publicly traded equity
securities. These investments are generally in companies
having operations or technology in areas within Compaq’s
strategic focus. Compaq does not attempt to reduce or
eliminate its market exposure on these securities. As of
December 31, 2000, the fair value of Compag'’s available-
for-sale investments was $461 million. A 20 percent adverse
change in equity prices would result in an approximate
$92 million decrease in the fair value of Compaq’s
available-for-sale securities as of December 31, 2000.

Because of the foregoing factors (Factors That May
Affect Future Results and Market Risks), as well as other
variables affecting Compaq’s operating results, past
financial performance should not be considered a reliable
indicator of future performance and investors should not
use historical trends to anticipate results or trends in
future periods.
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consolidated balance sheet

in millions, except par value

ASSETS

Current assets:
Cash and cash equivalents
Short-term investments
Trade accounts receivable, net
Leases and other accounts receivable
Inventories
Other assets

Total current assets

Property, plant and equipment, net
Other assets, net
Total assets

LIABILITIES AND STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY
Current liabilities:
Short-term borrowings
Accounts payable
Deferred income
Other liabilities
Total current liabilities

Long-term debt
Postretirement and other postemployment benefits
Commitments and contingencies
Stockholders’ equity:
Preferred stock, $.01 par value
Shares authorized: 10 million shares; shares issued: none
Common stock and capital in excess of $.01 par value
Shares authorized: 3 billion
Shares issued: 2000 —1,742 million; 1999 — 1,715 million
Retained earnings
Accumulated other comprehensive income
Treasury stock (shares: 2000 - 53 million; 1999 — 21 million)
Total stockholders’ equity
Total liabilities and stockholders’ equity

| 2000

$ 2569 | $ 2,666

—_ 636

6,715 5,622
1,677 1,063
2,161 | 2,008
1989 1854
15,111 13,849
3,431 3,249
6314 10179

| $24.856  $27,277

$ 711 | § 453
4,233 4,380
1,089 972

5516 6,033

11549 11838

575 L
652 605

|
8,039 7,627
5,347 4,948
27 2,919
1333 (660)
12,080 14,834

 $24856 | $27,277

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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S idat 7& statement of income

consolidate

YeAR ENDED DECEMBER 31

n millions, except per share arr'munts e o : i ‘ 20 070 L 719779 9 B 719 ? 27377 2]
evenue:
Products $35,667 $31,902 $27,372
Services 6,716 6623 3,797 |
42,383 | 38,525 31,169
Total revenue L LA sl e e ol
ost of sales:
Bdcts 27624 25263 21,383
Services | 4793 | 4535 2597
Total cost of sales 32,417 29,798 23,980
elling, general and administrative expense 6,044 | 6,341 4,978
|
esearch and development 1,469 | 1,660 1,353
estructuring and related activities (86) | 868 393
urchased in-process technology == hi 3,196
her (income) expense, net 1664  (1,076)  (69)
9,091 TETLE, 9,851
|
ncome (loss) before income taxes : 875 | 934 (2,662)
rovision for income taxes 280 | 365 8l
ncome (loss) before cumulative effect of accounting change ‘ 595 | 569 (2,743)
|
umulative effect of accounting change, net of tax | (26) T
\
et income (loss) | §$ 569 $ 569 $(2,743)
arnings (loss) per common share: ‘
asic:
Before cumulative effect of accounting change $ 035 [8::0.35 sl
Cumulative effect of accounting change, net of tax (0.02) e —
| $ 033  $ 035 $ (1.71)
Diluted: ‘ i
Before cumulative effect of accounting change $ 034 | § 034 $ (171
Cumulative effect of accounting change, net of tax . (0.01) ,‘ S N Sl
$ 033 | $ 034 S (1L71)
. |
Shares used in computing earnings (loss) per common share:
Basic 1,702 1,693 1,608
Diluted 1,742 1,735 1,608

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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Con s l
i consolidated statement of cash flows Ssolidated stia;cemieﬁtiof cash flows —supplemental cash flow information
a il - | ket X ~ R
: YEAR ENDED DeECEMBER 31 YeArR ENDED DEcEmBER 31
to s A A——— — f—t— — -
in millions Wi | 2000 | 1999 1995 NN B ] 000 o] a9 1998
Con Cash flows from operating activities: Interest paid $ 288§ 152 S 175
Net income (loss) $ 569 | $ 569 $(2,74 RN RRNENepaid ¢ 488§ 415§ 259 |
andl 1 Adjustments to reconcile net income (loss) to net cash ‘ ‘ ‘
provided by operating activities: ; ACQUISITION OF BUSINESSES f
il ! Depreciation and amortization | 1407 1,402 893 ¥ Eair value of: ‘ ‘
i | Investment impairment . L7566 e — Assets acquired $ 499 $ 811  $16,124
‘ Gain on sale of businesses ‘ — | (1182) — Liabilities assumed (129) | (201) (7,109)
serv Restructuring and related activities 1 (86) i 868 393 Stock issued : = —_ (4,284)
Purchased in-process technology ‘ — | — 3,196 Options issued = | (60)  (249)
buill | Deferred income taxes and other (26) | 21 (53)F cash paid | 370 550 4,482
| Changes in assets and liabilities, net of effects of acquired ‘ ‘ Less: Cash acquired ‘ o— (33) (3,069) |
| W and divested businesses: \ | Net cash paid for acquisitions | $ 370 | § 517 $ 1,413
| Receivables o (1,920) 185 (1,736 ‘ | .
| Inventories 1 (72) | (97) 857 8 SALE OF BUSINESSES | : | I‘
Nety ' Accounts payable ‘ (228) | 135 589 ¥ Fair value of: ‘ \ 1
i Other assets and liabilities .~ (835) | _-(c98) (51 Equity proceeds 5 — $1597 § @ — :
200! " Net cash provided by operating activities 1 565 [/ 330807 . Note receivable ‘ — 204 — ‘
‘ | Cash received } == 70 —
full | Cash flows from investing activities: i } — 1,871 —
‘ Capital expenditures, net (1,133) |  (1,185) (600)% Less: Basis in net assets sold | — PRy e
(Increase) decrease in short-term investments 636 | (636) 344 § Gain on sale of businesses L8 — | $1182 s -
20 B dn : 3 |
Y 1 Acquisition of businesses, net of cash acquired ‘ (370) | (517) (LA13)8 7he accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements,
Other investing activities, net | (364) |  (131) (798
indu i Net cash used in investing activities - (1,231) | (2,469) (2,467
‘ i
num - Cash flows from financing activities: i
Increase in short-term borrowings ‘ 258 | 453 ==
e Issuance (repayment) of long-term debt 575 —_ (788
ikl Common stock transactions, net (365) | (93) 23
Dividends to stockholders (170) | (136) (95
Neat Payments to retire Digital preferred stock == | (400) —3
Other financing activities — | — (18
3 | -
corp| Net cash provided by (used in) financing activities 298 | (176) (878
harl Effect of exchange rate changes on cash and cash equivalents 271 ‘ - (83) 140
|
Net decrease in cash and cash equivalents (97) | (1,425) (2,327
than Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the year 2,666 | 4,091 6,418
teled Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the year $2569 | $2,666 $ 4,091
! The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
Non$
Com|
onA ||
ships
W|th compaq computer corporation e R P @
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consolidated statement of stockholders’ equity

Common Stock ;

B Par Value z;ndr

| Number Capital in Retained
in millions of Shares  Excess of Par Earnings
Beginning balance, December 31,1997 ‘ 1,519 $2,096 S350
Comprehensive income:
Net loss (2,743)
Foreign currency translation
adjustment
Minimum pension liability |
adjustment ‘
Total comprehensive loss
Issuance pursuant to stock
option plans 36 407
Issuance pursuant to acquisitions 1 141 4,533
Stock option tax benefits and other | 2 234
Cash dividends (107)
Repurchase treasury stock, at cost SRR e BT
Ending balance, December 31, 1998 1,698 $7,270 $4,501

Comprehensive income: ‘
Net income ‘ 569
Changes in unrealized gains and
losses on investments, net of 3
reclassifications
Foreign currency translation
adjustment
Minimum pension liability
adjustment
Total comprehensive income
Issuance pursuant to stock

option plans ‘ 17 183
Issuance pursuant to acquisitions ‘ 32
Stock option tax benefits | 142
Gain on redemption of Digital
preferred stock 22

Cash dividends (144)
Repurchase of treasury stock, at cost |
Ending balance, December 31, 1999 1
Comprehensive income:
Net income ‘ 569
Changes in unrealized gains and
losses on investments, net of
reclassifications
Foreign currency translation
adjustment
Minimum pension liability
adjustment
Total comprehensive loss
Issuance pursuant to stock plans ‘ 27 308
Stock option tax benefits 104
Cash dividends
Repurchase of treasury stock, at cost

W R TS

(170)

Accumulated

Other

%

Comprehensive

(18)

20

(38)

(36)

2,978

(26)

54948  $2919

(2,904)

(12)

24

Ending balance, December 31, 2000 $ 5,347

$

i note

s to consolidated financial statements

Total (b ok AV : SUMMARY
sy st INBTERL BESCEITON B F02 T 000
£ ousaa DESCRIPTION OF BUSINESS
Founded in 1982, Compaq Computer Corporation
(2,743) (“Compaq”) is a leading global provider of enterprise
technology and solutions. Compaq designs, develops,
5 manufactures and markets hardware, software, solutions
and services, including industry-leading enterprise
7 (27(23 computing solutions, fault-tolerant business-critical
i solutions, communication products, and desktop and
407 portable personal computers that are sold in more than
4,533 200 countries.
234 Compaq completed the acquisition of Digital
(107) Equipment Corporation (“Digital”), Shopping.Com (“SDC”)
(384) (384) and Zip2 Corp. (“Zip2”) and purchased certain assets and
$ : '(3874) §1l§5i liabilities of InaCom Corp. (“Inacom”) in June 1998, February
1999, April 1999 and February 2000, respectively. These
569 acquisitions were accounted for as purchases. In August
1999, Compagq sold a majority interest in SDC, Zip2 and
the AltaVista Company, a business acquired in the
2.978 Digital acquisition (collectively “AltaVista”), to CMGl, Inc.
(“CMGI”). Accordingly, Compag'’s consolidated financial
(26) statements include the results of operations from the
3 respective dates of acquisition through divestiture or
3,5'2'; December 31, 2000, as applicable.
PRINCIPLES OF CONSOLIDATION
183
32 The consolidated financial statements include the accounts
142 of Compagq and its controlled subsidiaries. All signifi-
cant intercompany transactions and balances have been
22 eliminated.
(144)
(276) (276) USE OF ESTIMATES
$ (660) 514,834 B The preparation of financial statements in conformity
with accounting principles generally accepted in the
L United States requires management to make estimates
and judgments that affect the reported amounts of
(2,904) assets, liabilities, revenues and expenses, and related
disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities. Actual
(12) results could differ from those estimates.
24 CASH EQUIVALENTS AND SHORT-TERM INVESTMENTS
(2323) Cash equivalents include highly liquid, temporary cash
308 investments having original maturity dates of three months
104 or less. Short-term investments include certificates of
(170) deposit, commercial paper and other investments not
$(1—%g:; 77”751"27?(6)}7;%) qualifying as cash equivalents. For reporting purposes,

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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such cash equivalents and short-term investments are

stated at cost plus accrued interest which approximates
fair value.

INVENTORIES

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost or market, cost
being determined on a first-in, first-out basis.

LONG-LIVED ASSETS

Property, plant and equipment are stated at cost less
accumulated depreciation. Major renewals and improve-
ments are capitalized; minor replacements, maintenance
and repairs are charged to current operations. Depreciation
is computed by applying the straight-line method over the
estimated useful lives of the buildings (ten to thirty years)
and by applying the straight-line or accelerated methods
over the estimated useful lives of machinery and equipment
(two to ten years). Leasehold improvements are amortized
over the shorter of the useful life of the improvement or
the life of the related lease. Compagq performs reviews for
the impairment of long-lived assets whenever events or
changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying amount
of an asset may not be recoverable.

LONG-TERM INVESTMENTS

Compaq holds minority equity investments in companies
having operations or technology in areas within Compag'’s
strategic focus. Certain of the investments carry restric-
tions on immediate disposition. Investments in public
companies with restrictions of less than one year are
classified as available-for-sale and are adjusted to their
fair market value with unrealized gains and losses
recorded as a component of accumulated other compre-
hensive income. Upon disposition of these investments,
the specific identification method is used to determine the
cost basis in computing realized gains or losses. Declines
in value that are judged to be other than temporary are
reported in other income and expense.

INTANGIBLE ASSETS

Intangible assets primarily relate to the value of the
installed customer base, proven research and develop-
ment, and trademarks of companies acquired, as well as
capitalized software and goodwill. The cost of the installed
customer base, proven research and development, trade-
marks, capitalized software and goodwill is amortized
on a straight-line basis over the estimated lives of fifteen
years, five years, five years, up to three years and up to
ten years, respectively. Intangible assets are reviewed for
impairment whenever events or changes in circumstances
indicate that the carrying amount of an asset may not be
recoverable.

compaq computer corporation 49 1
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notes to consolidated financial statements

REVENUE RECOGNITION

Compagq recognizes revenue when persuasive evidence of
an arrangement exists, delivery has occurred, the sales
price is fixed or determinable and collectibility is probable.
Generally, these criteria are met at the time product is
shipped. Provision is made at the time the related revenue
is recognized for estimated product returns, price protec-
tion and other offerings which may occur under programs
Compagq has with its customers. Compagq provides for the
estimated cost of product warranties upon shipment.
When other significant obligations remain after products
are delivered, revenue is recognized only after such obli-
gations are fulfilled. Revenue from fixed price, long-term
contracts is generally recognized over the contract term
using the percentage of completion method, based on
the achievement of external milestones. Losses on fixed
price contracts are recognized during the period in which
the loss first becomes apparent. Revenue in excess of
billings on service contracts is recorded as unbilled receiv-
ables and is included in trade accounts receivable. Billings
in excess of revenue recognized on service contracts are
recorded as deferred income until revenue recognition
criteria are met. Revenue earned from services is recog-
nized ratably over the contractual period or as the services
are performed. Shipping and handling costs are included
in cost of goods sold.

FINANCING TRANSACTIONS

Compagq offers customer financing to assist customers
in their acquisition of Compaq’s products through its
leasing subsidiary, Compaq Financial Services Corporation
(“CFS”). At the time a financing transaction is consum-
mated, which qualifies as either a sales-type or direct
financing lease, Compagq records the total lease receivable
net of unearned income and the estimated residual value
of the equipment. The non-current portion of lease receiv-
ables and the residual value, net of unearned income, are
included in long-term other assets. Unearned income is
recognized as finance income using the interest method
over the term of the lease. Leases not qualifying as either
sales-type or direct financing leases are accounted for as
operating leases. The underlying equipment is depreci-
ated on a straight-line basis over the initial term of the
operating lease to its estimated residual value.

ADVERTISING COSTS

Advertising costs are charged to operations when
incurred. Advertising expenses for 2000, 1999 and 1998 were
$370 million, $385 million and $336 million, respectively.

compaq computer corporation
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FOREIGN CURRENCY

Compaq’s foreign subsidiaries predominately have th
U.S. dollar designated as their functional currenc
Financial statements of these foreign subsidiaries ar
remeasured to U.S. dollars for consolidation purpos
using current rates of exchange for monetary assets an
liabilities and historical rates of exchange for nonmon
tary assets and related elements of expense. Revenuy
and other expense elements are remeasured at rates th
approximate the rates in effect on the transactio
dates. Remeasurement gains and losses are included |
other income and expense. Certain foreign subsidiari
designate the local currency as their functional curren
and related cumulative translation adjustments a
included as a component of accumulated other compr
hensive income.

INCOME TAXES

Compagq accounts for income taxes under Statement
Financial Accounting Standards No. 109, Accounting fc
Income Taxes. The asset and liability approach is used
recognize deferred tax assets and liabilities for the expect:
future tax consequences of temporary differences betwe
the carrying amounts and the tax bases of assets an
liabilities. Compaq records a valuation allowance to redu
the deferred tax assets to the amount that is more like
than not to be realized.

EARNINGS PER COMMON SHARE

Basic earnings (loss) per common share is comput
using the weighted average number of common shar
outstanding during the period. Diluted earnings pi
common share is computed using the combination
dilutive common share equivalents and the weight
average number of common shares outstanding durin
the period. Incremental shares of 40 million and 42 milli
in 2000 and 1999, respectively, were used in the calcul
tion of diluted earnings per common share. Diluted lo
per common share for 1998 is based only on the weight
average number of common shares outstanding durin,
the period, as the inclusion of 60 million common sha
equivalents would have been antidilutive. Stock optio
to purchase 107 million, 66 million and 13 million shar!
of common stock in 2000, 1999 and 1998, respectivel
were outstanding but not included in the computation
diluted earnings (loss) per common share because t

| notes to consolidated financial statements

option exercise price was greater than the average
market price of the common shares. For the year ended
December 31,1999, net income used in the calculation of
earnings per common share was adjusted to include a
$22 million gain on redemption of Digital preferred stock.

STOCK-BASED COMPENSATION

Compaq measures compensation expense for its stock-
based employee compensation plans using the intrinsic
value method, and has provided in Note 8 the pro forma
disclosure of the effect on net income (loss) and earnings
(loss) per common share as if the fair value based method
had been applied in measuring compensation expense.

COMPREHENSIVE INCOME (LOSS)

Other comprehensive income (loss) refers to revenues,
expenses, gains and losses that under accounting prin-
ciples generally accepted in the United States are included
in comprehensive income (loss) but are excluded from
net income (loss) as these amounts are recorded directly
as an adjustment to stockholders’ equity, net of tax.
Compagq’s other comprehensive income (loss) is composed
of unrealized gains and losses on available-for-sale
securities, foreign currency translation adjustments and
adjustments made to recognize additional minimum
liabilities associated with Compaq’s defined benefit
pension plans. Amounts relating to realized investment
gains and losses and investment impairment charges are
reclassified from other comprehensive income as they are
included in net income.

SEGMENT DATA

Compagq reports segment data based on the manage-
ment approach which designates the internal reporting
that is used by management for making operating
decisions and assessing performance as the source of
Compag’s reportable operating segments. Compaq
also discloses information about products and services,
geographical areas and major customers.

RECENT PRONOUNCEMENTS

Effective January 1,2001, Compaq adopted Statement of
Financial Accounting Standards No. 133, Accounting for
Derivative Instruments and Hedging Activities, as amended
(“FAS 133”). This statement establishes a new model for
dccounting for derivatives and hedging activities. Under

FAS 133, all derivatives must be recognized as assets and
liabilities and measured at fair value. The impact of
the adoption will be based on factors such as specific
derivative and hedging activities, market conditions
and contractual arrangements at the date of adoption.
The effect of the adoption will not have a significant
impact on Compagq’s financial position or results of oper-
ations in 2001.

RECLASSIFICATIONS

Certain prior year amounts have been reclassified to
conform to the current year presentation.

NOTE 2 ACCOUNTING CHANGE

Effective January 1, 2000, Compagq adopted Staff Accounting
Bulletin No. 101, Revenue Recognition in Financial Statements,
as amended (“SAB 101”), issued by the Securities and
Exchange Commission in December 1999. Compaq’s adop-
tion of SAB 101 resulted in a change in method of accounting
for certain revenue product shipments. The cumulative
effect of this accounting change was $38 million ($26 mil-
lion, net of tax). The accounting change did not have a
material effect on revenue or quarterly earnings during
2000. Compaq has restated its results for the first three
quarters of the year ended December 31, 2000, as reflected
in the Selected Quarterly Financial Data on page 66.
Pro forma results for prior years are not disclosed due to
immateriality.

NOTE 3 | ACQUISITIONS AND DIVESTITURES

In February 2000, Compaq acquired certain configuration
and distribution assets of Inacom, a provider of informa-
tion technology services and products, for approximately
$370 million in cash and the assumption of certain related
liabilities. This acquisition was accounted for as a pur-
chase. The estimated purchase price was allocated to
the assets acquired and liabilities assumed, including
goodwill of $230 million which is being amortized on a
straight-line basis over a period of ten years. Pro forma
statements of operations reflecting this acquisition are
not shown as such disclosure is not material.
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notes to consolidated financial statements

in August 1999, Compagq sold an 81.5 percent equity
interest in AltaVista for approximately 38 million CMGI
common shares, CMG| preferred shares convertible into
3.6 million CMGI common shares and a $220 million
three-year note receivable. In October 1999, CMGI con-
verted the CMGI preferred shares held by Compaq
into 3.6 million CMGI common shares. The CMGI common
shares acquired by Compagq in this transaction carry
certain restrictions whereby Compaq may not sell more
than 50 percent (20.8 million) of such shares prior to
August 2001. Total consideration received from CMGI
was valued at $1.8 billion. After adjusting for the net assets
sold and for the expenses associated with the divestiture,
Compagq realized a gain of approximately $1.2 billion
($670 million, net of tax). Compagq accounts for its minor-
ity investments in CMGI and AltaVista under the cost
method. All CMGI share information reflects CMGI’s two-
for-one stock split, effective January 2000.

In April 1999, Compaq acquired Zip2 for an
aggregate purchase price of $341 million consisting of
$307 million in cash, the issuance of employee stock
options to purchase AltaVista stock with a fair value of
$28 million and other acquisition costs. In February 1999,
Compaq acquired SDC for an aggregate purchase price of
$257 million consisting of $219 million in cash, the issuance
of employee stock options to purchase Compaq stock
with a fair value of $32 million and other acquisition costs.
These transactions were accounted for as purchases.

In June 1998, Compaq consummated its acquisition
of Digital for an aggregate purchase price of $9.1 billion.
The purchase price consisted of approximately $4.5 billion
in cash, the issuance of approximately 141 million shares
of Compaq common stock valued at approximately
$4.3 billion and the issuance of approximately 25 million
options to purchase Compaq common stock valued at
approximately $249 million. This acquisition was accounted
for as a purchase. The unaudited consolidated pro forma
information for 1998 as if Compagq and Digital had been
combined as of the beginning of 1998 included revenue
and net income of $36.4 billion and $275 million, respec-
tively, and basic and diluted earnings per common share
of $0.16 each.

compaq computer corporation
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| NOTE4 | CERTAIN BALANCE SHEET COMPONENTS

Compaq’s trade accounts receivable are reported ne
of allowance for doubtful accounts of $211 million an
$222 million at December 31, 2000 and 1999, respectively,
Other current assets include deferred tax assets of $1.7 bil
lion and $1.5 billion at December 31, 2000 and 1999
respectively. The net investment in lease receivable
consisted of the following:

Decemser 31
{2k &

inmillions | 2000 | 1999
Minimum lease payment receivable $1,868 $1,160
Unguaranteed residual values ‘ 122 59
Initial direct costs 21 | 12
Allowance (27) | (12)
Unearned income (1) (118)
$1,767 | $1,101%

Contractual maturities of Compag’s lease receivabl
at December 31, 2000 were $866 million in 2001, $601 mil
lion in 2002, $328 million in 2003, $66 million in 2004 an:
$7 million in 2005. Compagq also leases its products to cu
tomers under operating leases. Minimum future rental
under operating leases at December 31, 2000 were $426 mi
lion in 2001, $244 million in 2002 and $48 million in 200

Inventories consisted of the following:

Decemeer 31
in millions } 0})”0 | }979759
Raw material T | $ 540 S 448
Work-in-progress 298 394

Finished goods 1323 | 1,166

| $2,161 | $2,008

Property, plant and equipment consisted of thi

following:

DecemBer 31
in millions s BTN
Land $ 342§ 342
Buildings and leasehold improvements 1,493 1,572

Machinery and equipment 3,786 3,095
Equipment leased to third parties | 1,166 741
Construction-in-process | 261 | 308
7,048 6,051

Less: Accumulated depreciation - (3,617) | (2,802
$3,431  $3,249

! Bot;es to consolidated financial statements

Depreciation expense totaled $1.1 billion, $839 mil-
lion and $606 million in 2000, 1999 and 1998, respectively.
Accumulated depreciation related to equipment leased
to third parties was $422 million and $224 million at

December 31, 2000 and 1999, respectively.
Other non-current assets consisted of the following:

Decemeer 31

2000

Bonss 00 e J B 19995 ‘
Investments |5 864§ 6617
Intangible assets 2,637 |- 2,351 |
Deferred income taxes 1,604 | 342
Other assets L2032 | 1442 J‘
7,137 | 10,752 3
Less: Accumulated amortization (823)  (573)]
$6,314 | $10,179 |

Amortization expense related to intangible assets
totaled $313 million, $563 million and $287 million in 2000,
1999 and 1998, respectively. The cost basis and fair value of
Compags available-for-sale securities at December 31, 2000
was $350 million and $461 million, respectively. Gross
unrealized gains and gross unrealized losses related to
these investments at December 31, 2000 were $132 million
(686 million, net of tax) and $21 million ($14 million, net of
tax), respectively. At December 31, 1999, the cost basis and
fair value of available-for-sale securities was $857 million and
$5.4 billion, respectively, and the cumulative unrealized
gain was $4.6 billion ($3.0 billion, net of tax). Compaq made
cash purchases of investments of approximately $480 mil-
lion and $89 million during 2000 and 1999, respectively.

Other current liabilities consisted of the following:

DecemeEr 31

| 2000 [ 1999 |

in millions

Salaries, wages and related items | $ 922 | § 644 |

Accrued restructuring costs { 343 | 1,002 |

Income taxes payable 769 992 |

Accrued warranties | 938 | 937 |

Other accrued liabilities 2584 2458 |
$5,516 $6,033

DOTE 5 | BORROWINGS

Compaq has a $2.2 billion revolving credit facility that
expires in September 2001 and a $3.0 billion revolving
credit facility that expires in October 2002. The facilities
bear interest at LIBOR plus 0.625 percent and LIBOR plus
0.325 percent, respectively. Fees associated with these
facilities are immaterial. Both of these facilities were
Unused at December 31, 2000 and 1999. Compagq also

operates two short-term commercial paper programs: a
$1.5 billion program in the name of Compaq Computer
Corporation and a $1.0 billion program in the name of
CFS. Both programs are supported by the $3.0 billion credit
facility. Outstanding commercial paper reduces available
borrowings under this credit facility. At December 31, 2000,
Compagq had $418 million and $218 million in commercial
paper outstanding under the Compaq and CFS programs,
respectively, with a weighted average interest rate of
7.5 percent. The carrying amounts of the borrowings
under the commercial paper program approximate their
fair value. Additionally, Compaq maintains various
uncommitted lines of credit, which totaled approximately
$275 million at December 31, 2000. There were no out-
standing borrowings against these lines at December 31,
2000 and 1999.

Compaq filed a $2.0 billion shelf registration state-
ment for debt securities with the Securities and
Exchange Commission during the second quarter of 2000.
In August 2000, Compaq placed under the registration
statement $300 million of unsecured 7.65 percent notes
that mature on August 1, 2005, and $275 million of unse-
cured 7.45 percent notes that mature on August 1, 2002
(collectively, the “Notes”), unless previously redeemed.
Interest will be paid on the Notes on February 1 and
August 1 of each year, beginning on February 1, 2001. The
fair value of the Notes approximates carrying value. The
financing is for general corporate purposes (including
investments in CFS and other subsidiaries), capital expendi-
tures and repayment of outstanding indebtedness (includ-
ing commercial paper issued for working capital purposes).
Compagq has the capacity to issue an additional $1.4 billion
of debt securities under the shelf registration statement.

| NOTE6 | OTHER INCOME AND EXPENSE
Other (income) expense consisted of the following:

YeEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31

in millions | 2000 ‘ ”1‘:3;9 1998
Investment (income) loss, net 3 $1,568 $r '7(6'7) S (9)
Gain on sale of businesses — (1,182) =
Interest and dividend income (276) | (196) (287) |
Interest expense 273 211 166
Currency losses, net 75 136 16 |
Other, net 24 22 45 |

| $1,664  $(1076) S (69) |

Net investment loss in 2000 included a $1.8 billion
(1.1 billion, net of tax) impairment charge for certain equity
investments judged to have experienced an other than
temporary decline in value, a $252 million ($164 million,
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notes to consolidated financial statements

net of tax) realized gain on the sale of available-for-sale
securities and a $77 million loss from investments accounted
for under the equity method. Net investment income in
1999 included a $126 million ($82 million, net of tax) real-
ized gain on the sale of available-for-sale securities and
a $52 million loss from investments accounted for under
the equity method. Proceeds associated with the sale of
available-for-sale securities were $264 million and $149 mil-
lion in 2000 and 1999, respectively.

| NOTE 7 | PROVISION FOR INCOME TAXES

The components of income (loss) before provision for
income taxes were as follows:

YeAar ENDED DECEMBER 31

in millions asar 2000 | 1999 11998
Domestic $200 $ 94 $(4,782)
Foreign 675 | 840 2120
Income (loss) before ‘ 1
income taxes | %875 | $934  $(2,662) ‘

L

The provisions for income taxes charged to opera-
tions were as follows:

YeArR ENDED DEcemBER 31

Inillions i e e sl S e 0020000 | 1199911771998 1 |
Current tax expense (benefit)
U.S. Federal $(91) SHel $ (92)
State and local 5 11 9) |
Foreign | 353 | 460 312 |
Total current 267 | 4720 210
Deferred tax expense (benefit) ‘
U.S. Federal (91) 47 (&29)
State and local (2) | 43 (11) |
Foreign 106 (197) 310
Total deferred 13 [ (207) (130)
Total provision $280 & $365 Si 81

The reasons for the differences between income tax
expense and amounts calculated using the U.S. statutory
rate of 35 percent were as follows:

YeAR ENDED DecemBER 31

in millions B Gl A 1 200071 49995 L 1998% ]
Tax expense (benefit) at U.S. ;
statutory rate $306 | 9327 $(932) |
Foreign tax effect, net ~— | (31) (40)
Non-deductible purchased |
in-process technology 1 — — 1,119 |
Release of valuation allowance | = | —_ (77) }
Disposition of businesses — } 77 — |
Recovery of operating ‘ ‘
subsidiary stock basis (61) — —
Other, net 35 [ (Blaianil i)
Total provision $280 | 365 ¢ 81
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Compaq’s 2000 effective tax rate was primarily affected
by the recovery of tax basis in the stock of Microcom, Inc,
a former operating subsidiary which was acquired in 1997,
In addition, Compagq decreased the level of activity of its
Singaporean manufacturing subsidiary which, when con
sidered with other foreign effects, reduced the beneficia
foreign tax effect as had occurred in previous years.

The Singapore tax holiday for manufacturing opera
tions will continue through August 2001 and could be
extended through August 2004 if cumulative investment
levels and other conditions are maintained. Compaq ceased
utilization of a portion of its Singaporean manufacturing
subsidiary’s production capacity during 2000. Consequent
the profitability of this facility has decreased significantl
resulting in a corresponding decrease in the impact of the
tax holiday on Compaq’s effective tax rate during 2000

Compaq’s 1999 effective tax rate was primarily affecteg
by benefits from its Singaporean manufacturing subsidiary’
tax holiday and by incremental taxes resulting fro
the disposition of AltaVista. In connection with the 1998
acquisition of Digital, Compaq recorded non-recurring,
non-tax-deductible charges for purchased in-process
technology of approximately $3.2 billion.

Compaq has determined that the undistributed
earnings of certain foreign subsidiaries will be perma
nently reinvested. As a result of these determinations, ne
incremental tax is reflected for the earnings of Compag®
Singaporean manufacturing subsidiary or for the ear
ings of certain other foreign subsidiaries. These earnings
would become subject to incremental foreign withholding,
Federal and state income tax if they were actually o
deemed to be remitted to the U.S. Compagq estimates af
additional tax provision of approximately $2.1 billion
would be required if the full amount of approximatel
$6.2 billion in accumulated earnings were actually of
deemed distributed to the U.S.

Compaq recorded a gross deferred tax asset 0
approximately $2.8 billion in conjunction with the acqui
sition of Digital in 1998. This gross deferred tax assel
was reduced by a valuation allowance of $562 millio
resulting in a net increase in the deferred tax asset @
approximately $2.2 billion in 1998. The valuation allowanc
consisted principally of pre-acquisition tax loss cari
forwards and credit carryforwards incurred by Digita
which management has determined are more likely thaf
not to expire unused. The valuation allowance was reduce
by $95 million during 2000 and $152 million during 199
as a result of tax loss and credit carryforward expiration

| rnci)tes toiconsolidated financial statements
i 3 i

During 1998, Compaq recorded $65 million of
other tax loss and credit carryforwards for which a full
valuation allowance was provided due to uncertainty
surrounding their realizability. In addition, the valuation
allowance was reduced by $77 million to reflect Tandem
Computers Incorporated (“Tandem”) credit carryforwards
which, as a result of the liquidation of the U.S. Tandem
parent company at the close of 1998, are now believed
more likely than not to be realized. This reduction in the
valuation allowance resulted in a tax benefit in the 1998
deferred income tax provision.

Deferred tax assets (liabilities) were as follows:

DecemBer 31

in millions B 2 00 O | 39 9 9, #3 ,‘
Loss carryforwards L% 379 ‘ $1,230 |
Credit carryforwards . 1109 960
Accrued liabilities ‘ 748 | 655 |
Tax versus financial reporting year-end 446 2%
Capitalized research and development costs | 349 449
Receivable allowances and related reserves | 278 380 |
Inventory adjustments | 347 | 341 |
Other | 514 | 273

Gross deferred tax assets | 4170 | 4,288 |
Equity investments (46) (1,604)
Intangible assets (333) i (382)
Other ) N )

Gross deferred tax liabilities _ (466) | (2,013) 3
Deferred tax asset valuation allowance - (43fllj (529)

Total deferred tax asset | $3,270 | $ 1,7746

Tax loss carryforwards will generally expire between
2001 and 2020. Credit carryforwards will generally expire
between 2001 and 2014. U.S. tax laws limit the annual
utilization of tax loss and credit carryforwards of
acquired entities. These limitations should not materially
impact the utilization of the tax carryforwards.

| NOTE8 | EMPLOYEE STOCK PLANS

Compaq maintains various stock plans for its employees.
Options to employees are generally granted at the fair
market value of the common stock at the date of grant
and generally vest over two to five years. Options granted
to employees under Compagq’s stock option plans must
be exercised no later than ten years from the date of
grant. The vesting period and option life for grants to
employees are at the discretion of the Board of Directors
(the “Board”).

Compagq also maintains plans under which it offers
stock options to non-employee directors. Pursuant to
the terms of the plans under which directors are eligible
to receive options, each non-employee director is entitled to
receive options to purchase common stock upon initial
appointment to the Board (initial grants) and upon sub-
sequent reelection to the Board (annual grants). Initial
grants are exercisable during the period beginning one
year after initial appointment to the Board and ending
ten years after the date of grant. Annual grants vest over
two years and are exercisable thereafter until the tenth
anniversary of the date of grant. Both initial grants and
annual grants have an exercise price equal to the fair
market value of Compagq’s common stock on the date of
grant. Additionally, directors may elect to receive stock
options in lieu of all or a portion of the annual retainer to
be earned. Such options are granted at 50 percent of the
price of Compaq’s common stock at the date of grant and
are exercisable during the period beginning one year after
the grant date and ending ten years after the grant date.
The expense resulting from options granted at 50 percent
of the price of Compag’s common stock at the grant date
is charged to operations over the vesting period.

Compaq had approximately 2 million shares of
restricted stock outstanding at December 31, 2000.
Compagq records unearned compensation equal to the
market value of the restricted shares on the date of grant
and charges the unearned compensation to expense over
the vesting period.

At December 31, 2000, there were 336 million shares
of common stock reserved for issuance under all of Compag's
stock option plans. For all plans, options of 107 million,
101 million and 88 million shares were exercisable at
December 31, 2000, 1999 and 1998 with a weighted aver-
age exercise price of $20.16, $16.13 and $11.76, respectively.
There were 31 million, 123 million and 217 million shares
available for grant under the plans at December 31, 2000,
1999 and 1998, respectively.
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notes to consolidated financial statements

The following table summarizes stock option activity for each of the three years ended December 31:

Shares Weighted Average

O, | inMitions PricePershare Price Per Share
OPTIONS OUTSTANDING, DecEmBer 31,1097 17 $13.63
Options granted in the acquisition of Digital 25 $ 5.94-%39.23 22.23
Options granted 13 $14.44-542.00 33.35
Options lapsed or canceled (16) 21.84
Options exercised (8 (36)00es 130=630:23 5 15111390
OPTIONS OUTSTANDING, DECEMBER 31,1998 3157 16.37
Options granted 118 $ 3.36-547.63 31.42
Options lapsed or canceled (24) 28.18
Options exercised ) 9e3 30253023 5 19661 T
OPTIONS OUTSTANDING, DECEMBER 31,1999 234 23.37 |
Options granted . 119 $15.04-%34.08 22.74
Options lapsed or canceled (30) 29.99
Options exercised | (23) $158-$3125 1040
OPTIONS OUTSTANDING, DECEMBER 31, 2000 300 $23.45 i ]

The following table summarizes significant ranges of outstanding and exercisable options at December 31, 2000:

Options Outstanding Options Exercisable

17 B ; Weighted Average ~ Weighted Average Weighted Average |

Ranges of ‘ Shares Remaining Exercise Shares Exercise ‘

Exercise Prices g | In Millions Life In Years ~ Price ; In Millions __ Price 2 \

under$ 5.00 15 18 $ 320 15 $320 |
5.01to 10.00 3 20 3.7 8.82 20 8.82
10.01to 15.00 8 43 12.40 8 12.36
15.01to 20.00 | Ll 9.0 17.67 | 13 16.22
20.01to 25.00 20 75 23.25 10 23.27
25.01to 30.00 o122 8.7 26.54 22 26.61
over $30.00 F 33 71 43.34 19 4234
300 7.7 $23.45 107 $20.16

The weighted average fair value per share of options
granted during 2000, 1999 and 1998 was $11.80, $13.22
and $12.95, respectively. The weighted average fair value
per share of options granted under the ESPP during 2000
was $8.62. The fair value for these options was estimatel d
using the Black-Scholes model with the following weighted
average assumptions: ‘

In April 1999, Compaq’s stockholders approved the
Compagq Computer Corporation Employee Stock Purchase
Plan (the “ESPP”) which became effective in April 2000.
Most employees are eligible to participate. Employees who
choose to participate are granted an option to purchase
common stock at 85 percent of market value on the first or
last day of the six month purchase period, whichever is
lower. The ESPP authorizes the issuance, and the purchase
by employees, of up to 25 million shares of common stock
through payroll deductions. No employee is allowed to buy

Stock Options ESPP

YeEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31

z Hed SR
‘ 2000 1999 1998 | 2000

more than $25,000 of common stock in any year, based Expected option ‘

on the market value of the common stock at the begin- life (in years) 6 5 5 |

ning of the purchase period. During 2000, employees Risk-free |

purchased approximately 2 million shares for approxi- e o i s .
{8 Volatility 497% | 39.8%  33.5% 55.9%

mately $61 million under the ESPP. At December 31, 2000, Dividend yield : 0.4% 0.3% 02% 0.4%

there were approximately 23 million shares available for
future purchases under the ESPP.
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The table that follows summarizes the pro forma
effect on net income (loss) in the year presented if the
fair values of stock-based compensation had been recog-
nized as compensation expense on a straight-line basis
over the vesting period of the grant. The following pro
forma effect on net income (loss) for the years presented
is not representative of the pro forma effect on net income
(loss) in future years because it does not take into consid-
eration pro forma compensation expense related to grants
made prior to 1995.

YEAR ENDED DECEMEBER 31

inmillons, except pershare amounts | 2000 | 1999 1998 |
Income (loss) before [ e e e
income taxes: |
As reported | $875 5934 $(2,662) \‘
Pro forma | 293 623 (2,832) |
Net income (loss): |
As reported 569 | 569 (2,743) |
Pro forma ‘ 191 | 367 (2,854) |
Diluted earnings (loss) per share: | | ‘
As reported 0.33 0.34 (1.71) |
Pro forma 0.11 0.23 (1.77) \

| NOTE 9 | STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY

On December 29, 2000, the Board approved a cash dividend
of $0.025 per share of common stock, or approximately
$43 million, to stockholders of record as of December 31,
2000 to be paid in 2001. Total dividends declared in 2000,
1999 and 1998 were $170 million ($0.10 per share), $144 mil-
lion (50.085 per share) and $107 million (50.065 per share),
respectively.

During 1998, a systematic common stock repurchase
Program was authorized by the Board and implemented
by Compaq. Compagq repurchased approximately 10 mil-

4;. lion shares during 2000, for a cost of approximately
$303 million under this program. The program was imple-
: mented to reduce the dilutive impact of common
1 shares issued under Compag'’s equity incentive plans. On
- December 1, 2000, the Board authorized a new program
for the repurchase of up to $1 billion of Compaq common
:'Shares. The systematic repurchase program initiated in

1998 has been suspended while this new program is i
effect. During 2000, total shares repurchase(gi to clls ;"
under the new plan were 22 million, for a cost of appr, ; 'e
mately $370 million. Compaq accounts for trea o
using the cost method.

In April 1999, Compagq redeemed the four million
outstanding shares of the Digital Series A 87/s percent
Cumulative Preferred Stock, par value $1.00 per share
The redemption price was $400 million, plus accrued and.
unpaid dividends of $9 million. Compag realized a gain of
$22 million on the redemption that was recorded directly
to retained earnings.

sury stock

‘,'J_,O,T,Elgi PENSION AND OTHER BENEFIT PROGRAMS

Compag sponsors a number of defined benefit and other
postretirement employee benefit plans (“OPEB Plans”)
that were acquired in the Digital acquisition. Benefits
under the defined benefit pension plans are generally
based on pay and service. In the U.S,, the defined benefit
plan is a cash balance plan, under which the benefit is
usually paid as a lump sum.

Compagq recorded an additional minimum liability as
of December 31, 2000 and 1999 totaling $33 million and
$78 million, respectively, for plans where the accumulated
benefit obligation exceeded the fair market value of assets.

The projected benefit obligation, accumulated bene-
fit obligation and fair value of plan assets for which the
accumulated benefit obligations exceed plan assets
approximated $401 million, $324 million and $154 mil-
lion, respectively, for the year ended December 31, 2000,
and $353 million, $332 million and $161 million for the

year ended December 31, 1999. The measurement dates
of the plans were October 31, 2000 and 1999.
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Information regarding Compaq’s defined benefit and OPEB Plans was as follows:

in millions, except assumptions
Change in benefit obligation
Benefit obligation at beginning of year
Service cost
Interest cost
Actuarial (gain) loss
Curtailment (gain) loss
Benefits paid
Currency loss
Other
Projected benefit obligation at end of year
Change in plan assets
Fair value of plan assets at beginning of year
Actual return on plan assets
Benefits paid
Currency loss
Other
Fair value of plan assets at end of year
Funded status
Unrecognized net actuarial (gain) loss
Unrecognized prior service cost
Prepaid (accrued) benefit cost
Contributions after measurement date
Prepaid (accrued) benefit cost

Amounts included in the Consolidated
Balance Sheet are composed of:
Prepaid benefit cost
Accrued benefit liability
Other assets
Accumulated other comprehensive income
Net amount recognized

Weighted average assumptions as of October 31

Discount rate
Expected return on plan assets
Rate of compensation increase
Healthcare cost trend rate, current year
Healthcare cost trend rate, ultimate year
Trend rate decreases to the ultimate rate

in the year

Components of net periodic benefit cost
Service cost
Interest cost
Expected return on plan assets
Settlement/curtailment gain
Other
Net periodic pension cost

(1) The OPEB Plans are consolidated to include both U.S. and foreign results. Foreign results are immaterial for separate disclosure.

Kl
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Year ENDED DEcemBER 31, 2000

} ~ Defined Benefit Pension Plans OPEB Plans |
us. Foreign (1) ‘
$2,085  $1,728 $ 344
40 66 6
147 94 25
(127) 144 (11)
| — (7 —
1 (204) (70) (30)
— (172) (1)
- e s
1,941 1,767 338
2,371 1,827 —_
174 233 —_
(204) (70) (30)
— (161) -—_
) .3 5 - 30
2344 1834 -
403 67 (338)
(179) 82 (22)
. — 50 _ &
224 199 (357)
. e S|
_$ 224 5 207 $357)
$ 230 S 344 s —
(6) (170) (357)
st 29 —
S 224 5207  $B357)
8.00% 5.75% 8.00%
9.00% 7.35% N/A
4.50% 3.60% N/A
N/A N/A 5.50%
N/A N/A 5.00%
N/A N/A 2001
$ 40 $ 66 $ 6
147 94 25
(199) (125) —
(17) 3) =
= 9 1
509 s @ 52

Defined Benefit Pension Plans

us. Foreign
$2,203 51,831
41 65
140 96
(99) (37)
23 (55)
(213)  (120)
e (101)
A AR NV
2085 1728
2,198 1,813
381 209
(213)  (120)
5, (114)
Ll 39
2371 1,827
286 99
(94) 124
s 457
192 268
s
951920 150273
G PR 1 74
(8) (182)
= 44
al 34
51990 0S5 273
7.50%  5.75%
9.00%  7.50%
450%  3.30%
N/A N/A
N/A N/A
N/A N/A
STVl 8065
140 96
(191) (138)
© 4
e e T S
$ (19) § 22

YeAr ENDED Decemeer 31, 1999

OPEB Plans

1)

$335

7.50%
N/A
N/A
5.50%
5.00%

2001

BINOTE 11| res s

notes to consolidated financial statements

Assumed healthcare cost trend rates could have an
effect on the amounts reported for the healthcare plans.
A one-percentage point increase in rates would result in
an increase of $3 million in the total service and interest
costs components and a $34 million increase in the post-
retirement benefit obligation. Conversely, a one-percentage
point decrease in rates would result in a decrease of $3 mil-
lion in total service and interest costs and a $29 million
decrease in the postretirement benefit obligation.

Compaq has defined contribution plans under which
Compaq makes matching contributions based on employee
contributions. These plans are intended to qualify as
deferred compensation plans under Section 401(k) of the
Internal Revenue Code of 1986. Contributions are invested
at the direction of the employee in one or more funds,
including a fund that consists of common stock of Compagq.
Amounts charged to expense were $138 million, $121 mil-
lion and $98 million in 2000, 1999 and 1998, respectively.

Compag has an incentive compensation plan for the
majority of its employees. Payments under the plan are
based on a uniform percentage of employees’ base pay as
determined by a matrix using financial performance
as defined by the plan and customer satisfaction results.
Payments are made semiannually. Amounts charged to
expense were $106 million, $26 million and $68 million in
2000, 1999 and 1998, respectively.

UCTURING AND RELATED ACTIVITIES

During 2000, Compagq substantially completed all of
the actions contemplated under the 1998 and 1999

- festructuring plans. In December 2000, Compagq reversed

Employee separations related to the 1998 and 1999
: ri:lucturmg plans were 1,100 and 4,900, respectively,
8 2000. Total employee separations related to the

| Beginning

exc.e'ss reserves of $86 million for employee separati

facility closure costs and other costs related topth :'l;ns’
plan. Accrued costs under both plans at Decem:e 39 3
2000 include amounts for actions that have alread I; 5
taken, but for which expenditures have not yet been):'naedeen
In September 1999, Compag’s management approve&

a restructuring plan to realign Compagq’s organization
reduce infrastructure and overhead, and eliminate excess,
and duplicative facilities. Restructuring and related
charges of $868 million (5600 million, net of tax) were
expensed. These charges were composed of $787 million
of accrued restructuring costs, $58 million of related asset
impairment charges and a $23 million pension curtail-
ment loss to recognize a change in Compagq’s projected
pension benefit obligation in connection with employee
separations. Costs for employee separations related to
approximately 7,000 employees worldwide affecting the
majority of business functions, job classes and regions,
predominantly occurring in North America and Europe.
Employee separation benefits include severance, medical

and other benefits.

In June 1998, Compaq recorded a restructuring
charge of approximately $1.7 billion to integrate the oper-
ations of Compagq and Digital, consolidate duplicative
facilities, improve service delivery and reduce overhead.
Approximately $1.5 billion was related to the acquisition
of Digital and recorded as a component of purchase
accounting and $286 million related to Compagq and was
charged to operations. During 1998, Compaq also recorded
a $107 million charge related to asset impairments.

An analysis of accrued costs and amounts charged
against the provision follows:

? ]l,,,,-”,-or,,?” : . December 31, ; 7Expenditu’re; Deceml;er 31, ‘
i . A S5 2 R 7‘\ ~ Accrual & 7E>§pgr]filtu7res” @ 7199”977 ~and Adjustments 2000 |
- Employee se i | |
4 parations ‘
P 49
5FaCIII’tyclosure costs | : 9: s Y e e
-~ Contract cancellation and other exit costs | 200 (167) gg . .
: Loaes e i . oy 5
.. Lo 787 . SR 388 se s153
-Employee se i | ' .
4 parations |
:hd”ty . i $1,131 S (962) $ 169 $(106) $ 63
. ‘ 414 (184) 230 (124) 106
?ﬁ' B k. ‘ 99 (65) 34 (18) 16
[ . 100 s (83) a7 B (12) 5
L SLIS  S01208) . §450 &  ss0)  g190
. bt S om0 1 WA T ey $(659) 343

1998 and 1999 restructuring plans were 23,400 as of
December 31, 2000.
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| NOTE12 | SEGMENT DATA

During 2000, Compaq realigned the operations of its
Enterprise Solutions and Services segment, which result.ed
in the formation of two reportable segments: Enterprise
Computing and Compaq Global Services. Compagq’s
other two reportable segments, Commercial Personal
Computing and Consumer, were unaffected by the
realignment. Enterprise Computing designs, develops,
manufactures and markets advanced computing and
telecommunication products, including business-critical
servers, industry-standard servers and storage products.
Compagq Global Services delivers worldwide infrastruc-
ture and solution design implementation, management,
and support services through Professional and Customer
Services. Commercial Personal Computing delivers
standards-based computing emphasizing Internet access
through workstations, desktops, portables, monitors,
Internet access devices and life-cycle management prod-
ucts. The Consumer segment targets home users with
Internet-ready desktops and portables, printers and re!ated
products, as well as Internet access and e-services. Business
activities that do not qualify for separate segment report-
ing are aggregated in Other. Financial data for prior pen.ods
has been restated to conform to the current presentation.
The accounting policies of the segments are the
same as those used in the preparation of Compaqg’s
consolidated financial statements. Compaq evaluates the
performance of its operating segments based on segmfent
operating income, which includes sales and marketing
expenses, research and development costs and other
overhead charges directly attributable to the operating
segment. Certain expenses which are managed outsude‘of
the operating segments are excluded. These consist
primarily of corporate and unallocated shared expens.es,
other income and expense items, and other non-recurring
charges such as purchased in-process technology and
restructuring and related activities. Corporate and unal-
located shared expenses consist primarily of indirect
information management expenses, certain costs related
to business integration and other general and adminis-
trative expenses that are separately managed. Gains and
losses associated with sale of businesses and investments
are excluded from segment operating income. Compaq
does not include inter-segment transfers for manage-
ment reporting purposes. Asset information by o?eratmg
segment is not reported since Compaq does not identify
assets by segment.

60 | compaq computer corporation

2]

Summary financial data by operating segment was
as follows:
YEAR ENDED D&CEMSER 31

2000

[ ' 99 1998 |
in T/I/ionsi SeISPE S R 7197 ¥ 199:¢ |
ET\ITERPRISE COMPUTING | 1

10,498 |
Revenue $14,316  $12974 § O948 |
Operating income ‘ 2,140 i 1,201
CompaQ GLOBAL SERVICES |
Revenue | 6993 | 7,162 3,990
[ 776
Operating income 944 1,148
COMMERCIAL PERSONAL COMPUTING
Revenue 13,136 12,185 11,846 |
Operating income (loss) 289 (448) (46) |
CONSUMER ‘
7,586 5,994 4932 |
Revenue i |
Operating income ‘ 170 262 |
OTHER | ‘
Revenue ‘ 352 | 210 (97) ‘
Operating income (loss) [ 27 : (281) (115)
CONSOLIDATED SEGMENT TOTALS
Revenue $42,383  $38,525 $31,169

Operating income $ 3570 $ 1,882 $ 1,746

A reconciliation of Compaq’s consolidated segment
operating income to consolidated income (loss) before
income taxes follows:

YeEAR ENDED DECEmMBER 31

in millions 1 2 g003niinag9 1998 7}
Consolidated segment ‘
operating income $3,570 | $1,882 $1,746 w
Corporate and unallocated |
| 88) |
shared expenses | (1,117) | (1,156) (888) ;
Restructuring and related ‘
activities | 86 (868) (393)
Purchased in-process technology | — — (3,192) |
Other income (expense), net (17,67767)7: 1,076 69 |
Income (loss) before ‘ 1
income taxes $ 875 | S 934  $(2,662) |

Geographic revenue and long-lived assets related to
operations as of and for the years ended December 31
were as follows:

in millions vt 72000 {999 R aoR.
Revenue: | |
United States $18,966 = $17,351 $13,981 i
Europe, Middle East | ‘
and Africa 14,178 14,420 11,929
Other 9239 | 6754 5259

Long-lived assets:
United States $2229 [$ 2332 $ 2,166 ‘
Other 1,202 917 736

|
|
642,383 $38,525 $31,169‘

$ 3431 | $ 3249 $ 2,902 |

notes to consolidated financial statements

NOTE 13 | COMMITMENTS CONTINGENCIES
s FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS AND FACTORS
THAT MAY AFFECT FUTURE OPERATIONS

DEeRIVATIVE FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS AND
FAIR VALUE OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

Compagq primarily utilizes forward contracts and
purchased foreign currency options to reduce its expo-
sure to potentially adverse changes in foreign currency
exchange rates and simple interest rate swaps to reduce
€xposure to interest rate volatility. Compaq does not
hold or issue financial instruments for trading purposes
nor does it hold or issue leveraged derivative financial
instruments.

Compag’s program to reduce currency exposure

associated with the net monetary assets of Compag’s
international subsidiaries includes agreements to
exchange various foreign currencies for U.S. dollars.
At December 31, 2000 and 1999, such forward contracts
to sell foreign currencies, net of forward contracts to
purchase foreign currencies aggregated $4.2 billion
and $2.6 billion, respectively. Generally, gains and losses
associated with currency rate changes on these forward
contracts are recorded currently to income and are reflected
in accounts receivable or other current liabilities in
Compag’s consolidated balance sheet, while the interest
element is recognized over the life of each contract. The
amount recorded in the consolidated balance sheet approx-
imates the fair value of such contracts at December 31,
2000 and 1999. The maturity dates of the forward
contracts which were outstanding at December 31, 2000
ranged from three days to nine months, except for CFs
which had forward contracts with maturity dates up to
three years.

Compagq frequently utilizes forward contracts to
protect Compagq from the effects of currency fluctuations
on anticipated but not firmly committed sales which are
expected to occur within a three-month period. These
forward contracts generally do not extend beyond the

.

end of any quarter or year. Any gains or losses and the
interest element on these forward contracts are recog-
nized as a component of sales during each quarter. In
prior years, Compaq hedged a portion of its anticipated
but not firmly committed sales of its international mar-
keting subsidiaries using purchased foreign currency
options. Realized and unrealized gains and the net premi-
ums on these options are deferred and recognized as a
component of revenue in the same period that the related

sales occur. Option contracts aggregating $660 million

were outstanding at December 31, 1999, related to hedges

of sales for the first half of the year.The unrealized gains
deferred on these contracts were not material.

Compagq does periodically enter into interest rate
swap transactions for the purpose of hedging interest
rate exposure on existing or anticipated liabilities. All
interest rate swaps entered into by Compaq are for the
sole purpose of hedging existing or anticipated interest
rate sensitive positions, and not for speculation. At
December 31, 1999, Compaq had entered into interest
rate swaps with a notional value of $250 million with
maturity dates of up to nine months. Amounts to be paid
or received under interest rate swap agreements are
accrued as interest rates change and are recognized over
the life of the swap transactions as an adjustment to
interest expense.

In the event of a failure to honor one of these forward
Orswap contracts by one of the banks with which Compaq
has contracted, management believes any loss, which
could be material, would be limited to the exchange rate
differential from the time the contract was made until
the time it was compensated. In the case of a default by
a counterparty to an interest rate swap transaction, man-
agement believes any loss would be limited to the interest
rate differential between market rates and the rates
contractually set in the swap contract. To the extent
Compagq has option contracts outstanding, the amount

of any loss resulting from a breach of contract would be
limited to the amount of premiums paid for the options
and the unrealized gain, if any, related to such contracts.
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Compagq enters into various other types of financial
instruments in the normal course of business. Fair
values for certain financial instruments are based on
quoted market prices. For other financial instruments,
fair values are based on the appropriate pricing models
using current market information. The amounts ulti-
mately realized upon settlement of these financial
instruments will depend on actual market conditions
during the remaining life of the instruments. Carrying
values of cash and cash equivalents, short-term invest-
ments, accounts receivable, accounts payable and other
current liabilities reflected in the December 31, 2000 and
1999 consolidated balance sheet approximate fair value
at these dates.

CONCENTRATION OF CREDIT RISK

Compag’s cash, cash equivalents, short-term investments
and accounts receivable are subject to potential credit risk.
Compaq’s cash management and investment policies
restrict investments to low risk, highly liquid securities and
Compagq performs ongoing evaluations of the relative credit
standing of the financial institutions with which it deals.
Compagq distributes products primarily through
third-party resellers and as a result, maintains individu-
ally significant accounts receivable balances from various
major resellers. If the financial condition and operations
of these resellers deteriorate, Compaq’s operating results
could be adversely affected. One such reseller, Ingram
Micro, Inc., accounted for approximately 14 percent of
consolidated revenue in 2000 and 11 percent of accounts
receivable as of December 31, 2000, predominately in the
Commercial Personal Computing segment. In 1999,
Ingram Micro accounted for approximately 11 percent of
consolidated revenue and 8 percent of accounts receiv-
able at December 31, 1999. During these periods, no
other customer of Compaq accounted for 10 percent or
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more of consolidated revenue. In 2000, Compaq’s two
largest resellers represented approximately 21 percent of
consolidated revenue and 15 percent of accounts receivable
at December 31, 2000. In 1999, Compaq’s four largest
resellers represented approximately 22 percent of consol-
idated revenue and 12 percent of accounts receivable at
December 31, 1999. Compaq generally has experienced
longer accounts receivable cycles in its emerging markets,
in particular Asia-Pacific and Latin America, when
compared to its U.S. and European markets. In the event
that accounts receivable cycles in these developing
markets lengthen further or one or more of Compag’s
larger resellers in these regions fails, Compaq’s operating
results could be adversely affected.

CONTINGENCIES

Certain of Compagq’s resellers finance a portion of their
inventories through third-party finance companies. Under
the terms of the financing arrangements, Compaq may
be required, in limited circumstances, to repurchase certain
products from the finance companies. Additionally,
Compagq has on occasion guaranteed a portion of certain
resellers’ outstanding balances with third-party finance
companies and financial institutions. Guarantees under
these and other arrangements were not significant at
December 31, 2000 or 1999.

InJanuary 2001, Compaq exercised an option to sell
an investment in a limited liability corporation accounted
for under the equity method. Once the sale of the invest-
ment closes and proceeds are received, Compaq expects

to record a gain.

notes to consolidated fina

ncial statements
FACTORS THAT MAY AFFECT FUTURE OPERATIONS

Compaq participates in a highly volatile industry that is
characterized by intense industry-wide competition for
market share. Industry participants confront aggressive
pricing practices, continually changing customer demand
patterns and rapid technological developments. Compaq’s
operating results could be adversely affected should
Compaq be unable to successfully anticipate customer
demand accurately, manage its product transitions,
inventory levels and manufacturing processes efficiently,
distribute its products quickly in response to customer
demand, differentiate its products from those of its
competitors or compete successfully in the markets for
its new products.

Significant numbers of components are purchased
from single sources due to technology, availability, price,
quality or other considerations. Key components and
processes currently obtained from single sources include
certain of Compag’s displays, microprocessors, applica-
tion specific integrated circuits and other custom chips,
and certain processes relating to construction of the plas-
tic housing for Compag’s computers. In addition, new
products introduced by Compaq often initially utilize
custom components obtained from only one source
until Compagq has evaluated whether there is a need for
additional suppliers. In the event that a supply of a key
single-sourced material process or component were
delayed or curtailed, Compag’s ability to ship the related
product in desired quantities and in a timely manner
could be adversely affected. Compaq attempts to miti-
gate these risks by working closely with key suppliers
on product plans, strategic inventories and coordinated
product introductions.

LITIGATION

Compagq is subject to legal proceedings and claims that
arise in the ordinary course of business. Compagq does not
believe that the outcome of any of those matters will
have a material adverse effect on Compag’s consolidated
financial position, operating results or cash flows.
Compagq and certain of its current and former offi-
cers and directors are named in two consolidated class
action lawsuits pending in the United States District
Court for the Southern District of Texas, Houston Division.
One lawsuit was filed in 1998 and the other in 1999, The
1998 litigation consolidates five class action lawsuits,
brought by persons who purchased Compaq common
stock from July 10, 1997 through March 6, 1998. It asserts
claims under Section 10(b) of the Exchange Act and
Rule 10b-5 promulgated thereunder and Section 20(a) of
the Exchange Act. Allegations in the 1998 lawsuit include
the claim that the defendants withheld information and
made misleading statements about channel inventory
and factoring of receivables in order to inflate the market
price of Compag’s common stock and further alleges that
certain of the individual defendants sold Compaq
common stock at the inflated prices. The 1999 litigation
also consolidates a number of class action lawsuits. The
litigation is brought on behalf of purchasers of Compag
common stock between January 27,1999 and April 9, 1999.
It asserts claims for alleged violations of Section 10(b) of
the Exchange Act and Rule 10b-5 promulgated there-
under; Section 20(a) of the Exchange Act; and Sections 11
and 15 of the Securities Act. Allegations in the 1999
litigation include the claim that certain defendants and
Compaq issued a series of materially false and mislead-
ing statements concerning Compag’s prospects in 1999 in
order to inflate the market price of Compaq’s common
stock and further alleges that certain of the individual
defendants sold Compaq common stock at the inflated
prices. Lead counsels for the plaintiffs have been appointed
in both the 1998 and 1999 litigation. The plaintiffs seek
monetary damages, interest, costs and expenses in both
the 1998 and 1999 litigation. In the 1998 litigation,

compaq computer corporation | 63 '
L




notes to consolidated financial statements |
the court entered an order granting class certification on
July 18, 2000. Compaq has appealed class certification
and is awaiting a decision. Discovery has been stayed by
order of the appellate court pending their decision on the
class certification appeal. On December 12, 2000, the
judge in the 1999 litigation dismissed the consolidated
amended complaint after finding that it failed to comply
with pleading requirements under the law. The plaintiffs
filed a second amended complaint on January 31, 2001,
which Compaq will move to dismiss. Compaq is vigorously
defending both lawsuits.

Several purported class action lawsuits were filed
against Digital during 1994 alleging violations of the
Federal Securities laws arising from alleged misrepre-
sentations and omissions in connection with Digital’s
issuance and sale of Series A 87/: percent Cumulative
Preferred Stock and Digital’s financial results for the quar-
ter ended April 2, 1994. During 1995, the lawsuits were
consolidated into three cases, which were pending
before the United States District Court for the District of
Massachusetts. On August 8, 1995, the Massachusetts
federal court granted the defendants’ motion to dismiss
all three cases in their entirety. On May 7, 1996, the
United States Court of Appeals for the First Circuit affirmed
in part and reversed in part the dismissal of two of the
cases, and remanded for further proceedings. The parties
are proceeding with discovery.

Compagq is vigorously defending consumer class
action lawsuits alleging various defects in computers sold
by Compag. These lawsuits are pending in Texas, North
Carolina, Illinois, California, Colorado and Washington.
A class has been certified in the North Carolina case. All
of these cases are in the discovery stage. Three of these
class actions (Thurmond v. Compagq, LaPray v. Compag,
and Sprung v. Compagq) are part of a series of similar law-
suits filed against other major computer manufacturers,
involving claims that the computer industry sold com-
puters with allegedly defective floppy disk controllers.
Thurmond is pending in federal district court in Beaumont,
Texas; LaPray in Texas state court in Beaumont; Sprung
in Colorado federal district court. No class has been certi-
fied in any of these cases although a hearing on class
certification has been scheduled in the Thurmond case
for March 19, 2001. Compaq is also providing informa-
tion to the federal government and state attorneys
general in California and Illinois in response to inquiries
regarding floppy disk controllers in computers sold to
government entities.
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Non-current other assets as of December 31, 2000
included approximately $97 million (522 million, net of
reserve) owed to Compaq in connection with the sale of
products. Compaq believes such amounts were misdirected
by its customers to Inacom, which was acting as an agent
for Compagq in connection with such sales. Compaq believes
that such funds were improperly applied to reduce Inacom’s
indebtedness to its lenders. Inacom filed for bankruptcy on
June 16, 2000 in the District of Delaware Bankruptcy Court.
Compagq is seeking to realize the full value of these receiv-
ables in an adversary proceeding filed October 20, 2000
against Inacom, Deutsche Bank, A.G. and other Inacom
lenders. In the same proceeding, Inacom has sued Compag
for approximately $41 million that Compagq is holding as a
setoff against the $97 million. Compaq has recorded a
reserve of $75 million related to this asset.

LEASE COMMITMENTS

Compagq leases certain manufacturing and office facilities
and equipment under noncancelable operating leases
with terms from one to thirty years. Rent expense for
2000, 1999 and 1998 was $347 million, $283 million and
$205 million, respectively.

Compagqg’s minimum rental commitments under
noncancelable operating leases at December 31, 2000
were approximately $235 million in 2001, $184 million in
2002, $136 million in 2003, $98 million in 2004, $69 mil-
lion in 2005 and $376 million thereafter.

report of independent auditors

THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS AND STOCKHOLDERS

OF COMPAQ COMPUTER CORPORATION

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheet of Compaq Computer Corporation as of December 31,
2000, and the related consolidated statement of income, stockholders’ equity, and cash flows for the year ended
December 31, 2000. These financial statements are the responsibility of the Company’s management. Our
responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements based on our audit.

We conducted our audit in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States. Those
standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial
statements are free of material misstatement. An audit includes examining, on a test basis, evidence supporting the
amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. An audit also includes assessing the accounting principles used
and significant estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall financial statement presentation.
We believe that our audit provides a reasonable basis for our opinion.

In our opinion, the financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects, the consolidated
financial position of Compaq Computer Corporation at December 31, 2000, and the consolidated results of its operations
and its cash flows for the year ended December 31, 2000, in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted
in the United States.

As discussed in Note 2 to the consolidated financial statements, effective January 1, 2000, the Company changed

its method of accounting for certain product shipments.
St ¢ MLLP

Houston, Texas
January 23,2001

| report of independent accountants

TO THE STOCKHOLDERS AND BOARD OF DIRECTORS
OF COMPAQ COMPUTER CORPORATION

In our opinion, the consolidated balance sheet as of December 31, 1999 and the related consolidated statements of
income, of cash flows and of stockholders’ equity for each of the two years in the period ended December 31, 1999 present
fairly, in all material respects, the financial position, results of operations and cash flows of Compaq Computer Corporation
and its subsidiaries at December 31, 1999 and for each of the two years in the period ended December 31, 1999, in
conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America. These financial statements are
the responsibility of the Company’s management; our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements
based on our audits. We conducted our audits of these statements in accordance with auditing standards generally
accepted in the United States of America, which require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable
assurance about whether the financial statements are free of material misstatement. An audit includes examining, on a
test basis, evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements, assessing the accounting
principles used and significant estimates made by management, and evaluating the overall financial statement
presentation. We believe that our audits provide a reasonable basis for our opinion. We have not audited the consolidated
financial statements of Compaq Computer Corporation for any period subsequent to December 31, 1999.

el

Houston, Texas
January 25, 2000
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The table below sets forth selected unaudited financial data for each quarter of the last two years.

| 1st Quarter)  2nd Quarter®  3rd Quarter™  4th Quarter ‘

in millions, except per share amounts

2000 ‘

Revenue | $9,505 $10,135 $11,217 $11,526

Gross margin | 2,184 2,388 2,683 2,711

|

Income (loss) before cumulative effect of accounting change @) ; 322 388 557 (672) |
Basic earnings (loss) per common share ) | $019 $ 023 $ 032 $ (0.39) ‘
Diluted earnings (loss) per common share ) $ 0.19 $ 0.22 $ 031 $ (0.39)

Net income (loss) ‘ 296 388 557 (672)
Basic earnings (loss) per common share ) . %017 $ 0.23 $ 032 $ (0.39)
Diluted earnings (loss) per common share ©) $ 017 $ 0.22 $ 031 $ (0.39)

1999

Revenue 59,419 $ 9,420 $ 9,208 $10478 |

Gross margin 2,327 1,936 2,136 2,328 |

Net income (loss)® 281 (184) 140 332 ‘

Earnings (loss) per common share 3) ‘
Basic $ 017 $ (0.10) $ 0.08 $ 0.20
Diluted | $016  $ (010 $ 008  § 019

() Effective January 1, 2000, Compaq adopted Staff Accounting Bulletin No. 101, Revenue Recognition in Financial Statements, as amended. Compagq
has restated its results for the first three quarters of the year ended December 31, 2000.

@Includes a $1.7 billion charge for impairment of investments in the fourth quarter of 2000.
(3)Earnings (loss) per common share are computed independently for each of the quarters presented and therefore may not sum to the total for the year.

@Includes a $1.2 billion gain on the sale of a business and an $868 million charge for restructuring and related charges to realign Compagq’s
organization, reduce infrastructure and overhead, and eliminate excess and duplicative facilities occurring in the third quarter of 1999.
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other items

MARKET FOR COMMON STOCK

Compaq’s common stock is listed on the New York
Stock Exchange and trades under the symbol CPQ. As of
January 31, 2001, Compaq had approximately 91,000
stockholders of record. The reported high and low clos-
ing stock prices, as reported on the NYSE Composite
Transaction Tape, were as follows:

2000 1999
A YR J ngh "Loyv 1 H[gﬁ WI.Vow
1st Quarter | $33.00 $24.69 | $49.25 $30.13 |
2nd Quarter 30.25 2450 3156 2119 |
3rd Quarter 3463 2500 | 2800 2225
4th Quarter | 3142 14.70 28.75 1869 |

DIVIDENDS, DIVIDEND REINVESTMENT
AND DIRECT STOCK PURCHASE PLAN

Compagq paid quarterly dividends of $0.025 per share
during 2000 and in the fourth quarter 1999 and $0.02 per
share for the first three quarters of 1999. Compagq
anticipates that the cash dividend will continue to be
paid on a quarterly basis. Compaq has established a
dividend reinvestment plan through which stockhold-
ers may reinvest their dividends in Compaq common
stock. Compagq also has a direct stock purchase plan
through which Compagq stock may be purchased directly
from the company. Information about both plans is avail-
able at www.compagq.com/corporate/ir/si/irsi.html.

RECENT ISSUANCES OF UNREGISTERED SECURITIES

None.

CHANGES IN AND DISAGREEMENTS WITH ACCOUNTANTS
ON ACCOUNTING AND FINANCIAL DISCLOSURES

None.

o
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MicHAeL D. CAPELLAS

Chairman and
Chief Executive Officer

PETER BLACKMORE

Executive Vice President,
Worldwide Sales and Services

MICHAEL J. WINKLER
Executive Vice President,
Global Business Units

Howarp D. ELiAs

Senior Vice President

and General Manager,
Business Critical Server Group

f
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| directors

MicHAEL D. CAPELLAS
Chairman and
Chief Executive Officer

LawRrence T. Bagsio, Jr.(23)
Vice Chairman and President,
Verizon Communications, Inc

Chairman of the Human Resources

Committee

JupiTH L. CRAVEN®)

Former President of the United Way

of the Texas Gulf Coast

ROBERT TED ENLOE, 111(2.2)
Managing General Partner,
Balquita Partners, Ltd

Chairman of the Audit Committee
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DoucLas B. Fox
Senior Vice President
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YVONNE R. JACKSON
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GEORGE H. HEILMEIER(Y)
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gy Officer

THomAS C. SIEKMAN
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THOMAS J. PERKINS (1)
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KENNETH Roman (1)
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glossary of terms |

8-Way ProlLiant servers: Compzaq's
industry-standard server employing
the power of eight processors.

Aero handheld PC: Compaq’s super-
lightweight handheld PC.

AlphaServer systems: Compaq’s
powerful RISC-based servers, used
for such high-performance work as
finance and telecommunications.

Application Service Provider:
Company that delivers software
programs via a network to other
companies or end-users.

B2B: Business to business.

Compaq Tru64 UNIX operating
system: Compaq’s 64-bit operating
system for UNIX processors. UNIX is
a flexible operating system for high-
performance systems.

Deskpro: Compaq’s industry-leading
commercial PC line.

Digital Subscriber Line: High-speed
Internet access line, generally 30 to
50 times faster than telephone
modem lines.

e-marketplace: An internet-based

system for buying, selling and trading.

ENSA: Compaq’s Enterprise Network
Storage Architecture.

Independent Software Vendor:
Company that develops specialized
application software.

Internet Service Provider: Company
that provides access to the Internet
for companies and individual users.

iPAQ BlackBerry Wireless E-mail
Solution: Compag’s always-on wire-
less e-mail products. iPAQ is Compaq’s
sub-brand for innovative Internet
products.

iPAQ Connection Point: Compag'’s
high-speed wireless Internet access
product for the home.

iPAQ Desktop PC: Compaq's powerful,
yet easy-to-use and maintain, computer
for Internet-based computing.

iPAQ Home Internet Appliance:
Compaq’s easy-to-use Internet access
computer for the home.

iPAQ Personal Audio Player:
Compag’s lightweight personal digital
device for playing music downloaded
from the Internet.

iPAQ Pocket PC: A full-function hand-
held PC with expansion cards for
multiple uses.

i-services: Any of the several Internet-
based services Compagq offers with its
consumer and commercial products.

Middleware: Software programs that
integrate disparate computer systems
and applications. Standards-based

interfaces are examples of middleware.

NonStop Himalaya systems:
Compag’s powerful, high-end systems
for maximum reliability and power.
Many of the world’s stock exchanges
rely on NonStop Himalaya systems.

Open SAN: The Open SAN enables
multiple vendors systems to be
supported on the same Storage Area
Network; this includes storage systems,
servers, applications, tape libraries and
operating systems.

OpenVMS: An operating system
developed by Digital Equipment
Corporation —now used on 450,000
computer systems worldwide, includ-
ing Compaq’s AlphaServer systems.

Petabyte: Approximately one thou-
sand terabytes. (1,024 terabytes). A
terabyte is 1,024 gigabytes.

Point of Presence: Access point to a
network, such as the Internet.

Presario PCs and Notebooks:
Compaq’s line of desktop computers
and notebooks for home users.

Proliant servers: Compaq's world
leading industry-standard servers.

SANworks: Compag's enterprise stor-
age management software solutions.

SANworks Data Replication
Manager: SANworks DRM is data
replication storage software for disas-
ter tolerance, disaster recovery and
data movement.

Solution Architect: Compag Service
Professional who helps customers design
and implement networked solutions.

StorageWorks solutions: Compaq’s
industry leading, heterogeneous
enterprise storage products known
for their modularity and scalability.

Systems Integrator: A company,
typically a Compag business partner,
that combines engineering and soft-
ware skills with products from several
sources to develop a customer solution.

TaskSmart Appliance Servers:
Compaq’s new single-purpose servers,
tuned and optimized for one specific
task, that offer performance out of the
box and are easy to deploy and manage.

Terabyte: Approximately one thousand
gigabytes, or one million megabytes
of data.

Zero Latency Enterprise: A revolution-
ary Compag-developed framework that
marries high-powered systems with
applications and databases to provide
up-to-the second information on a
huge scale for the retail, telecommuni-
cations, finance and other industries.
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stockholder information

CompaQ ComPUTER CORPORATION

20555 State Highway 249
Houston, Texas 77070-2698
281-370-0670

WEB ADDRESS

Compag can be found on the Internet at
www.compag.com.

FINANCIAL REPORTS

Financial reports, including Form 10-K, Form 10-Q and
Annual Reports, can be accessed and ordered online at
www.compag.com/corporate/ir/fd/irfd.html.

You may also obtain financial documents by writing:
Compaq Investor Relations, MS110312

P.O. Box 692000

Houston, Texas 77269-2000

or call 800-433-2391.

EARNINGS INFORMATION

Press releases can be accessed online at
www.compag.com/newsroom/. For a recorded message
of current earnings, call 281-518-EARN or 281-518-3276.

PRODUCTS, SUPPORT AND SOLUTIONS

For information on Compagq products or to purchase
Compagq products online, please visit our Web site
at www.compag.com/showroom/ or call us at

800 AT COMPAQ.

For information on Compagq support services, please visit
our Web site at www.compag.com/support/ or call our
technical support services group at 800 OK COMPAQ.

To build your e-business and sell online, visit our
All-in-One eBusiness Web site at
www.compag.com/smb/onlineservices/ebusiness.html.

For e-commerce, security and intranet portal solutions,
visit our Web site at www.compag.com/services/internet/.

For other solutions, including enterprise and industry solu-
tions, visit our Web site at www.compag.com/solutions/.
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ANNUAL MEETING

The Annual Meeting of stockholders will be held April 26,
2001, at 10:00 a.m. in the J.W. Marriott located at 5150
Westheimer, Houston, Texas 77056.

COMMON STOCK AND DIVIDENDS

CPQ Compag stock trades on the New York Stock
NYSE Exchange under the symbol CPQ. Cash dividends
have been paid since 1998. The current rate is $0.025

per share per quarter.
TRANSFER AGENT

You may contact our Transfer Agent to assist you

with matters of purchasing stock through Compagq’s
Shareholder Investor Plan, reinvestment of your dividends,
transfer of ownership, reporting lost certificates, change
of address, register to receive your Compaq Annual
Report and proxy mailing notice through the Internet,
duplicate mailings or other matters concerning your
stockholder account:

Fleet National Bank

c/o EquiServe

P.O. Box 43014

Providence, RI 02940-3014

888-218-4373

Interactive voice response system (24 hours a day;
representatives available from 9 a.m.to 5 p.m. Eastern
time, Monday through Friday)

If outside the continental United States and Canada:
781-575-3170

TDD for the deaf, hard of hearing or speech impaired:
800-952-9245

Transfer agent Web address: www.equiserve.com

Compag, the Compaq logo, NonStop, ProlLiant, AlphaServer,
Himalaya, Deskpro, Prosignia, Armada, Presario, Aero, and
StorageWorks Registered in U.S. Patent and Trademark Office.

iPAQ and Alpha are trademarks of Compaq Information Technologies
Group, LP. Microsoft, Windows and Windows NT are registered
trademarks of Microsoft Corp. Intel is a registered trademark of

Intel Corporation. UNIX is a registered trademark of The Open
Group. Other product names mentioned herein may be trademarks
or registered trademarks of their respective companies.

This Compaq 2000 Annual Report is available online at www.compaq.com/corporate/2000ar
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